
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394458 Date: 30th August 2016 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Children and Young People Policy Development and 
Scrutiny Panel

Councillors: Lisa Brett, Matt Cochrane, Karen Warrington, Peter Turner, Sally Davis, 
Alison Millar and Liz Hardman

Co-opted Voting Members: David Williams and Andrew Tarrant

Co-opted Non-Voting Members: Chris Batten and Jake Bishop-Ponte

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services: Councillor Michael Evans

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public

Dear Member

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: Tuesday, 13th 
September, 2016 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Children and Young People Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Panel, to be held on Tuesday, 13th September, 2016 at 10.00 am in the 
Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath.

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Mark Durnford
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/


NOTES:

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Mark Durnford who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394458 or by calling in at the Guildhall, Bath  
(during normal office hours).

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday) 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above.

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as 
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

4. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting.

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast


6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Tuesday, 13th 
September, 2016

at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath

A G E N D A

1.  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

2.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6.

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 

6.  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING 

At the time of publication no notifications had been received.

7.  MINUTES - 12TH JULY 2016 (Pages 9 - 24)



8.  CABINET MEMBER UPDATE 

The Cabinet Member will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members 
may ask questions on the update provided.

9.  YOUTH WORK DEVELOPMENT 

The Panel will receive a presentation on this item.

10.  FUTURE OPTIONS FOR THE LOCAL EDUCATION SYSTEM (Pages 25 - 52)

This report asks the Panel to consider the future options for the local Education 
system, in light of changing national policy and legislation and the evolving landscape.

11.  INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER'S ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 53 - 66)

This is the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) and covers 
the period April 2015 to March 2016.

12.  LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN'S BOARD ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 67 - 224)

The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the work 
of the Local Safeguarding Children Board during 2015-16 and the priorities for 2016-17 
work programme along with further areas to be actioned during 2017 - 18.

13.  FUTURE PROVISION OF ADOPTION SERVICES (Pages 225 - 230)

This paper seeks to update the Children and Young People Panel on the progress in 
developing a Regional Adoption Agency in accordance with government requirements.

14.  UNACCOMPANIED ASYLUM SEEKING CHILDREN (Pages 231 - 234)

This paper seeks to update the Scrutiny Panel on the Council’s response to the 
government’s request that all Local Authorities participate in the new national dispersal 
system for un-accompanied asylum seeking children.

15.  PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING 

The Panel will receive a verbal update on this item from the People and Communities 
Strategic Director.

16.  PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 235 - 238)

This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. Any suggestions for further 
items or amendments to the current programme will be logged and scheduled in 



consultation with the Panel’s Chair and supporting officers.

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on 
01225 394458.



9
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

Present:- Councillors Matt Cochrane (Vice-Chair), Tim Ball (in place of Lisa Brett), 
Peter Turner, Sally Davis, Alison Millar and Liz Hardman

Co-opted Voting Members: David Williams 

Co-opted Non-Voting Members: Chris Batten and Jake Bishop-Ponte

Also in attendance: Mike Bowden (Director, Children & Young People, Strategy and 
Commissioning), Mary Kearney-Knowles (Senior Commissioning Manager for Specialist 
Services), Kate Murphy (Drug & PSHE Consultant), Margaret Simmons-Bird (Head of 
Education Improvement), Denice Burton (Assistant Director for Health Improvement), 
Sarah McCluskey (Strategic Commissioning Officer) and Paul Scott (Deputy Director of 
Public Health)   

14   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

15   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure.

16   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

Councillors Lisa Brett and Karen Warrington had sent their apologies to the Panel. 
Councillor Tim Ball was present as substitute for Councillor Brett for the duration of 
the meeting.

In the absence of Councillor Brett, the Vice-Chair, Councillor Matt Cochrane took the 
role of Chairman.

17   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none.

18   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman wished to congratulate Ashley Ayre on his appointment to Chief 
Executive of the Council and to thank him for all his hard work in his role as the 
People & Communities Strategic Director.

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



10
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

19   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING 

Susan Charles, WWISE Network made a statement to the Panel on the subject of 
Warm Water Swimming Pools. A copy of the statement can be found on the Panel’s 
Minute Book, a summary is set out below.

She asked were members of the Panel aware that the plans for the remodelling of 
the Bath & also Keynsham Leisure Centres do not address the need for a warm 
water pool suitable for disabled children and young people living with long term 
conditions so they can go swimming for leisure & recreation as well as to maintain 
their health & fitness like their able bodied peers?

She said that some members of the current Panel may remember we came before 
you 2 years ago when a new contract for the management of the B&NES leisure 
facilities was being negotiated as this provided a window of opportunity to ensure 
such a facility was included in the contract. She added that there was enormous 
support for the concept of a warm water pool from this Panel, as well as a number of 
other committees we talked to at the time.

She said that a statement from the Council was non-committal although it did say 
that “the Council & the CCG will be working closely to ensure that the new leisure 
contract provides the best possible service for local people and supports them to live 
healthy lifestyles”.

She stated that in February 2014, 13 members of the Network participated in a 
Focus Group as part of the preparation of the Fit for Life Strategy. She added that in 
the last 2 years we have met with the consultants & officers who negotiated the 
contract & also had a very positive discussion with the Local Area Manager for GLL 
after they were awarded the contract. She said that he was very supportive of it 
being included in the remodelling plans.

She said it was therefore with dismay that we found at the end of  March that the 
plans for the Bath Leisure Centre do not include such a facility – a second warm 
water teaching pool is planned but at 60 - 90cm maximum depth, this is not suitable 
for older children & young people who need a depth similar to adults.

She said that they feel the Council is failing disabled children & young people living 
with long term conditions by not ensuring their needs are being taken into account in 
the design of the remodelled Leisure Centre and we ask the Panel to make 
representation that the design as it is proposed is given further consideration by both 
the Council & GLL.

Councillor Liz Hardman asked if they were aware of a warm water pool in Midsomer 
Norton.

Pamela Galloway, WWISE Network replied that they were and that it is situated in a 
day centre that is not open to the public. She added that in her opinion it required 
some degree of refurbishment.

Page 8



11
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

Councillor Sally Davis asked where the nearest pool that they could use was.

Pamela Galloway replied that there was one in Chippenham and one to the south of 
Frome.

Councillor Alison Millar asked if the public were allowed to use the hydrotherapy pool 
at the university.

Pamela Galloway replied that they could, but its minimum depth was 1.4m and that it 
is not available to the public at weekends.

Councillor Peter Turner asked if a warm water pool was in the specification of 
requirements agreed.

Pamela Galloway replied that she did not know if it was or not.

Councillor Peter Turner asked if the Mineral Hospital could be used.

Pamela Galloway replied that their facility and that of the RUH is in use by patients 
throughout the week and there is a long waiting list for both.

The Chairman asked the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Councillor 
Michael Evans to discuss the matter with his colleague Councillor Martin Veal, 
Cabinet Member for Community Services.

Councillor Liz Hardman proposed that the Panel send their support to the comments 
made by the WWISE Network.

Susan Charles made reference to two bullet points from the Youth Connect Pledge 
in support of her comments.

 Respect you as an individual, ensure you are treated equally and provided 
you with the support you need.

 Provide a range of opportunities so you can take part in things you want to do 
including participation in a wide range of positive activities, in safe spaces 
where you can have fun and meet friends.

The Panel RESOLVED to support to the comments made by the WWISE Network in 
relation to further discussions regarding a warm water swimming pool within the 
leisure centres of Bath and Keynsham.

20   MINUTES - 17TH MAY 2016 

The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meeting as a true record and they 
were duly signed by the Chairman.

Page 9



12
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

21   PRIMARY PARLIAMENT FEEDBACK 

The Strategic Commissioning Officer gave a presentation to the Panel relating to this 
item, a summary is set out below and attached to the minutes as an appendix. A 
copy will also be available on the Panel’s Minute Book.

Event

• The event was organised by B&NES staff, and external facilitators in 
collaboration with St Keyna Primary School’s e-team.

• There were 98 children in attendance from 29 different Primary Schools, 
including two special schools.

• Key Note Speakers were Jasmin Miller, the Deputy Member of the Youth 
Parliament, Welton Primary School e-cadet team and St Keyna Primary 
School who showed their short film which took us down ‘E-Quality Street’.

Workshops

KS1 Workshop: How can your school help celebrate what makes you proud to be 
you? -  led by Alice McColl and Becky Proctor

• The KS1 pupils worked really hard in the morning on their theme ‘Proud to be 
Me’

KS2 Workshop A: ‘How can the school help you look after your whole self’ - led by 
Judy Allies and Kate Murphy

• Through role play and a rap tune this group gave suggestions of ways we can 
support each other.

• What adults in school can do to help
• What children can do to help each other
• What children can do to help themselves

KS2 Workshop B: Free 2 B Me - led by Adrienne Hughes and Megan Morris 

• This workshop was buzzing with ideas.
• 1. Right to be included
• 2. Right not to be bullied
• 3. How it feels to be noticed and not noticed. 
• 4. Bee Safe
• 5. Right to be treated equally

KS2 Workshop C: Inside/Out - led by Tania Orgill - Playwood Forest School

• This group explored the differences between indoor and outdoor 
environments and what impact each has on their learning and feelings of 
wellbeing. 

• They showed collages they had made in an indoor setting using given 
resources and collages they had made outdoors using natural found objects, 
plants, flowers and grasses. 

Page 10



13
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

• The group gave insightful comments about how different they felt when given 
choices about what they were asked to do.

During the workshops there was lots of discussion and exploration of the 
importance of Mental health and Wellbeing.

Next Steps

• Report to be circulated to Schools Forum and will be circulated to all 
headteachers with accompanying information on how to set up e-teams within 
schools. 

• Primary Parliament June 2017

Councillor Sally Davis commented that this year’s event was a great success, but 
holding the event at Somerdale Conference Centre did incur a significant cost.  She 
suggested to the Panel that extra funding toward next year’s Parliaments should be 
made available.

The Chairman thanked the Strategic Commissioning Officer for her presentation on 
behalf of the Panel. 

22   YOUNG PEOPLE PARLIAMENT FEEDBACK 

Jake Bishop-Ponte, Member of Youth Parliament for B&NES introduced this item. He 
explained that the event took place at Broadlands Academy on Thursday February 
11th 2016 and was attended by over 80 young people from 11 different secondary 
schools, one special school and from a range of settings including Project 28, the 
CAMHS Young People’s Participation Group, the Youth Forum, Off the Record and 
SPACE (LGBT Group). He added that the prospective candidates for the B&NES 
Member of Youth Parliament were also in attendance.

He said that there were 20 accompanying staff and workshop facilitators and 15 
guests, including the Chair of the Council, Cllr Ian Gilchrist. He added that staff and 
students of Broadlands and the Local Authority should be praised for the way the 
event was held in such a very welcoming environment.

Workshops

There were 4 workshops, co-facilitated by Broadlands students and adults from the 
Local Authority, Public Health, Off the Record and CAMHS.

Social media and its impact on mental health

What to do if you are a victim of online abuse/harassment?

 Depending on the situation, not responding might be an appropriate course of 
action

 Speak to someone – friend or adult (teacher, parent or police) depending on 
the circumstances

What actions we can take as an individual / group / school to improve things?

Page 11



14
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

 
 Raise awareness of what tools and courses of actions are available to 

everyone
 Set up a Cyber Mentoring scheme as they have done in Norton Hill

Sexual Health & Social Media 

One group also discussed the impact that sex can have on mental health and that 
the following should be covered in PSHE. Anxieties around:-

 Sexually transmitted infections 
 Peer pressure / anxiety about having sex , (feeling their friends have done it 

and they don’t want to feel left out)
 Issues of diversity (ensuring that LGBT issues are covered in Sex and 

Relationships Education) 

Keeping mentally healthy and reducing stigma

This group decided on the following recommendations:

 All schools (staff and students) to sign up to a pledge which covers 
confidentiality (nothing will be shared unless someone is at risk of significant 
harm)

 Slurs of any type are not acceptable - students and staff will challenge this 
when they occur - there will be consequences for not following this. 

 Diversity will be actively celebrated and each young person’s individual needs 
catered for. 

Ways to increase self esteem

This group wanted schools to promote kindness and compassion both to fellow 
students and towards themselves as they believe this leads to better mental health 
and improved self-esteem.  They would like these issues to be included within PSHE 
but would also like students to be involved in deciding how their school can promote 
kindness and compassion. They discussed and identified a range of ways to 
promote kindness towards themselves and others, such as:-

 Random acts of kindness 
 Smiling at people
 Having a happiness book for people to write things to make them happy 
 Doing activities which make you / your friends happy

Where to get help and support on mental health issues

 All schools to have PSHE Lessons to address what to do if you are worried 
about a range of issues 

 Access to a safe, peaceful space to go if they feel stressed and anxious. This 
place could be staffed with a counsellor or someone that has the time to listen 
to what they are feeling. Or it could be run by young people themselves. It 
should be able to signpost to leaflets posters or websites for further support 

Page 12



15
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

and be a comfortable space to relax in. This could inform the Secondary 
resilience hubs being piloted in our schools. The transformation plan talks 
about having such hubs in all BANES secondary schools and the college. 

 Schools to provide ideas on self-help. Have posters and/or lessons with lots of 
ideas to support you if you are feeling down. 

 Assemblies from people who have mental health problems and or work in 
services like CAMHS 

Taking action points back to schools / settings 

He said that delegates were reminded to take the list of action points back to their 
schools and settings and arrange a meeting with the School Leadership Teams to 
discuss the issues that had been raised at the Parliament. He added that a follow-up 
meeting of young people representatives will be held in the near future.

Questions to the Expert Panel of adults

He explained that the final session of the day was a question and answer session 
and delegates to the Parliament had decided on questions to ask the adult panel 
during their workshops. The panel consisted of Kate Murphy and Judy Allies (School 
Improvement), Clare Laker (Public Health) , Gill Welsh (CAMHS) , Lisa Benham (Off 
The Record) and Mike Bowden (Deputy Director , Children and Young People 
Strategy). 

Councillor Liz Hardman asked if any feedback had been received from schools yet 
regarding the proposals.

Jake Bishop-Ponte replied that from September he would be visiting schools to 
discuss how they have been implemented. He added that we should be really proud 
as B&NES is leading the way on this type of work with young people.

The Chairman, on behalf of the Panel thanked Jake and all involved for making the 
event such a success.

23   CHILDREN'S MENTAL HEALTH 

Becky Proctor, CAMHS Participation Group addressed the Panel. She explained that 
she had been involved in the group for eight years and had worked on website 
development and resources for schools.

She informed the Panel that she had worked on topics such as reducing stigma, 
supporting friends, self-care and in and out of school support. She added that 
scenario packs and comics have been produced in relation to these topics. She said 
that all of the resources have been really well received.

Councillor Peter Turner asked if she had seen an increase in the need of such 
resources since her involvement in the group.

Becky replied that she felt that there were huge pressures young people these days 
and that they were more aware of the issue as a whole.

Page 13



16
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

The PSHE & Drug Education Co-ordinator added that the SHEU survey showed that 
the main causes of stress were exams and social media (body image).

Councillor Liz Hardman commented that the resources that have been produced are 
fantastic.

The PSHE & Drug Education Co-ordinator said that they were a brilliant piece of 
work and used throughout schools. She added that they were also available online.

Councillor Tim Ball commented that there is a lack of support and literature for ADD 
(Attention Deficit Disorder) and ADHD (Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder) and 
children with mental health issues were not always comfortable with expressing their 
ideas. He added that the diagnosis of ASD (Autism Spectrum Disorder) can take up 
to twelve months

Becky Proctor replied that when making the resources a wide range of people were 
consulted. She added that work was currently being done on different aspects of 
mental health.

Jake Bishop-Ponte added that the resources are also seen as a way of identifying 
children who might need help.

The Senior Commissioning Manager for Specialist Services added that there are 2 
services that generally consider diagnoses - Community Paediatricians and the 
CAMHS service. The concerns raised around ADHD literature were acknowledged. 
She also recommended visiting the Young Minds website 
(http://www.youngminds.org.uk/) for further information. 
 
The Senior Commissioning Manager for Specialist Services introduced the report to 
the Panel. She explained that in August 2015 NHS England announced additional 
funding and guidance to implement the Future in Mind report’s recommendations to 
improve CAMHS services. She said that to “draw down” these funds, each CCG was 
required to submit an agreed CAMHS Transformation Plan by October 2015.   

She stated that from April 2015 a number of developments to support the 
transformation plan began, including:

Pilot - Extended CAMHS support: for > 18 y/o’s who were receiving CAMHS 
interventions when they turned 18 and, although they are particularly vulnerable; do 
not meet the referral criteria for adult mental health services.  This cohort will include, 
but is not restricted to, Care Leavers and will provide intensive emotional support.

Pilot - School Based Counselling:  Independent counsellors have been 
commissioned to provide individual ‘drop in’ advice sessions and formal counselling 
sessions at seven secondary schools from September.  

Pilot - Mindfulness Pilot: 32 members of staff from 2 secondary schools have 
undertaken an 8 week Mindfulness course. 2 staff from each school will now be 
trained to deliver Mindfulness in Schools sessions/resources directly to young 
people.

Page 14

C:UsersdurnfomAppDataLocalMicrosoftWindowsTemporary Internet FilesContent.OutlookI05CA2SS160712 (2).doc


17
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

Eating Disorder Specialist service: Agreeing new service model with provider and 
neighbouring CCGs

She said that additional funding has been provided by NHS England for 2016/2017 
and the priorities for the new spend have been identified in this paper. This 
increased investment has been welcomed. 

Re-procurement of CAMHS after 31 March 2017

She informed the Panel that the current CAMHS contract runs to March 2017 and 
the service is provided by Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust.  She said the 
current  contract is led by Wiltshire CCG, and both CCGs benefit from the 
commissioning of specialist services across a greater population, (e.g. Eating 
Disorder and Learning Difficulties Services) as well as ‘out-of-hours’ cover. 

She explained that the intention is to jointly recommission both primary (PCAMHS) 
and specialist CAMHS for a 5 (+2) year period across Wiltshire and B&NES. 

She said that this involves aligning CAMHS and PCAMHS budgets from across 
Wiltshire CCG, Wiltshire Council and B&NES CCG and funding the new service 
under one contract, with Wiltshire CCG being the Lead Commissioner.  She added 
that Swindon CCG is also actively considering becoming a joint commissioner in this 
process and there are efficiencies in having a service that works across a wider 
geographical footprint and this joint commissioning model is in line with the local 
Bath, Swindon and Wiltshire Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).

She stated a range of stakeholders will be involved in the development of a new 
service delivery model for CAMHS (covering Wiltshire, Swindon and B&NES). She 
said this would include children, young people and their families and that 
professionals who work with children will also be involved from across health, 
education, social care and the voluntary and community sector.

Councillor Liz Hardman said that the option for self-referral for young people aged 16 
and 17 was welcome. She asked what the timescales were generally between 
referral and assessment.

The Senior Commissioning Manager for Specialist Services replied that during 
2015/16 the percentage of referrals assessed within 4 weeks was 95% for referrals 
to the Outreach service 54% for more routine CAMHS referrals and 73% for 
PCAMHS.  Urgent cases are usually seen within 24 hours.She added that there is an 
ambition for 90% of accepted routine referrals to be assessed within 4 weeks.  

The Panel RESOLVED to:

 Note the progress of the 15/16 CAMHS Transformation Plan 
 Support the priorities being progressed within the CAMHS Transformation 

Plan for 2016/17
 Note that targeted and specialist Children and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS), currently provided by Oxford Health NHS Foundation 

Page 15



18
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

Trust (OHFT) are being re-commissioned jointly with Wiltshire and possibly 
Swindon CCGs/LAs in 2017.

 Note the invitation to young people to engage with the re-procurement

24   CHILDHOOD OBESITY 

The Assistant Director for Health Improvement introduced this item to the Panel. She 
stated that significant action is required to prevent obesity at a population level to 
avoid creating “obesity promoting” environments as well as improving healthy eating 
and physical activity in individuals. 

She informed them that obesity has been rising rapidly in children in England over 
the past 20 years with the proportion of children classified as obese nearly doubling 
for children aged 4- 5 years and increasing more than threefold for 10 -11 year olds.

She explained that the Shaping Up! Healthy Weight Strategy for B&NES describes 
our partnership approach to promote healthy weight and tackle the rise in obesity. 
She said that the strategy provides an overview of the current issues relating to 
healthy weight and focusses on what will achieve sustainable change. She added 
that eating well and being physically active go hand in hand so this strategy should 
be read together with the B&NES Fit for Life physical activity strategy and the Local 
Food strategy.

Councillor Liz Hardman asked what the feedback has been to the strategy.

The Assistant Director for Health Improvement replied that there was an annual 
review which could be circulated to the Panel. She highlighted some recent 
achievements.

 UNICEF accredited Breastfeeding Service
 Sustainable Food – Bronze Award
 Director of Public Health Award (Physical / Food / Mental Health)

She added that the ‘Move a Mile’ initiative was to be introduced in schools to 
encourage further physical activity.

Councillor Alison Millar commented that process seems quite bureaucratic and 
asked does it give officers enough time to deliver the strategy.

The Assistant Director for Health Improvement replied it is a complicated issue that 
encompasses many partners. She added that with the three strategies in place it 
should be easier to implement their plans.

Councillor Tim Ball asked about the effects on children should they become aware of 
this matter through being assessed via the National Child measurement programme. 
He called for care to be taken on this matter and for school staff to be trained 
appropriately. 

The Assistant Director for Health Improvement replied that there is an opportunity for 
parents to engage with school nurses following their receipt of a results letter. She 

Page 16



19
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

said it is at the discretion of the parents as to whether they discuss it with their 
children. 

Councillor Ball replied that in some households the children may be able to read 
better than their parents and asked for this approach to be individually assessed.

Chris Batten asked if the reduction of the Key Stage 1 grant for school meals would 
have an effect on this issue.

The Assistant Director for Health Improvement replied that she was not aware of this 
and would have to research the matter.

The Panel RESOLVED to:

 Note the Shaping Up!  Healthy Weight Strategy and its relevance to Children 
and Young People’s health.

 Note that while B&NES compares reasonably well for children’s obesity rates 
in comparison with similar areas we still have significant numbers of children 
whose health will be adversely affected as a result of their weight.

 Endorse the importance of addressing obesity at a population level though 
creating health promoting environments and maintaining adequate health 
improvement services, including universal services, targeted support and 
specialist services through this period of intense pressure on local 
government finances.

25   CHILDREN'S HEALTH (GENERAL) 

The Deputy Director of Public Health introduced this item to the Panel. He informed 
them that no indicator in relation to children's health and wellbeing for B&NES was 
significantly worse than the average for England and the majority were better than 
average.

He highlighted some of the positive trends from the recent SHEU survey for 
Secondary pupils.

 More eating fruit and vegetables
 More pupils reporting they are LGB or questioning
 Fewer drinking alcohol & smoking
 More doing physical activity after school
 Higher aspiration (to go to University)

He also spoke of some areas of development.

 Having lunch
 Viewing upsetting images on-line
 Enjoyment of lessons
 Thinking school doesn’t take bullying seriously (22%)
 Self-harm (girls)

Page 17



20
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

Councillor Liz Hardman asked what the financial implications are of maintaining 
adequate services such as health visiting and school nursing now that the financial 
responsibility for these services rests with the Council and are any cuts planned.

The Assistant Director of Health Improvement replied that a small reduction in 
numbers, 500 families, had led to a funding decrease in 2016/17. She added that 
through the Your Care, Your Way project they were looking to commission a 0 -19 
Public Health nursing service. She said that the majority of the health visiting service 
were mandatory functions and that there was currently no intention to reduce the 
service.

The Panel RESOLVED to:

 Note the contents of these profiles and the presentation on child health 
related behaviours survey.

 Note that while children and young people in B&NES are generally healthy in 
comparison to their peers across the county, they nevertheless face many 
challenges to both their physical and mental health particularly in relation to 
adopting and maintaining healthy lifestyles and behaviours and in dealing with 
the stresses that they face at school and at home.

 Endorse the importance of maintaining adequate services, including universal 
services such as health visiting and school nursing, through this period of 
intense pressure on local government finances.

26   CARE ACT - IMPLICATIONS FOR CHILDREN 

Councillor Liz Hardman asked how can we improve our information systems for 
more reliable data on who our young carers are, so that we can carry out their 
assessments.

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning replied 
that information such as this should be picked up through an Education, Health & 
Care Plan.

Councillor Tim Ball commented that this was a complex matter and said that the 
support and counselling that B&NES gives in this respect is very good.

Councillor Liz Hardman said that for people over the age of 18 the Act introduces 
means testing and charging for services, which carers and young people need to be 
aware of. She asked if the charging policy had an impact on take up of services.

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning replied 
that he believed that a system such as this had always been in place.

The Panel RESOLVED to note the content of the report.

Page 18



21
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

27   CABINET MEMBER UPDATE 

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Councillor Michael Evans addressed 
the Panel. He wished to add to comments made earlier in the meeting his 
appreciation of all the work that Ashley Ayre has done within his role as the People & 
Communities Strategic Director.

His update included the following subjects. 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

The government is dispersing these children across the country to relieve Local 
Authorities in the South East, particularly Kent. B&NES will be required to accept 
another 20 in addition to the 3 we already have. These will be Looked After Children 
who will be fostered or in supported lodgings. 

Adoption West

This co-operation with regional local authorities is going ahead and is a success 
story, offering better provision at potentially lower cost.

Regional Devolution

If implemented, this will see the regional authority take on responsibility for 16-19 
provision, with the opportunity to ensure that the needs of local employers and young 
people are fulfilled.

Children’s Centres/ Children’s Services 

I would like to give the Panel early warning that the restructured service which has 
completed its first year is suffering significant cost pressures. ‘Traded Activities’ such 
as ‘Play Buds’ and baby massage have not brought in as much income as was 
hoped and neither has the policy of renting rooms in Children’s Centres. A plan is 
being developed to prevent or limit a predicted short fall in income of between £200 
and £300k in 2016/17. The Panel will receive a full report in due course.

Bath Community Academy

The former Culverhay school has been found ‘Inadequate’ by Ofsted. Pupils were 
found to have underperformed significantly over time. It is a matter of huge regret 
that any of our children’s life chances are reduced from what they might have been 
by less than good school provision.

Home to School Transport

The arrangements for SEND students to get to school have been identified as an 
area for potential savings without reducing the level of service, and a travel advisor 
post is to be created to lead in improving the arrangements, probably on a two-year 
contract.

Page 19



22
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

SAT Results

Very recently published, these results are the first under the new arrangements, so 
not comparable with previous performance.  They show cause for concern, however, 
at both national and local level, and reflection will be needed on their implications.

Mentoring Plus AGM

An organisation which I admire and hope to see continuing its work and hopefully 
expanding into a role across the West of England if it wins a commission from the 
government’s Careers and Enterprise Company.

South West England Ofsted Conference

We received an inspiring presentation by Mike Gorman, head of our virtual school, 
and Mark Everett head of Writhlington School on attachment awareness in schools.

End of year assembly at Bath Studio School

This gave me and the Leader of the Council the chance to appreciate the students’ 
impressive individual progress and achievements.

Move a Mile

The Move a Mile initiative for primary schools by the department of Public Health 
was held at Odd Down Sports Centre. Physical fitness test as a tool to be offered by 
schools to help with gauging their effectiveness in promoting the fitness of their 
pupils is being developed by the Public Health department of the Council.

Councillor Tim Ball commented that two of his children attend Bath Community 
Academy and that he felt that the Ofsted report biased and based on Government 
guidelines. He added that it gave no recognition of their SEND work.

Councillor Liz Hardman asked for a little further information regarding his comments 
relating to Children’s Centres.

Councillor Evans replied that an analysis was ongoing and that the intention is to 
maintain targeted services to the most vulnerable.

Councillor Liz Hardman said that she felt that the problems relating to Bath 
Community Academy would have been picked up if it were not an academy and 
asked why these were not picked up by the Trust.

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning replied 
that Cabot came in when the school was in a challenging situation. He added that 
the Council has challenged their data and worked with them on occasions.

Councillor Michael Evans added that Oldfield, Trinity and Bath Community Academy 
were not always receptive to approaches made by the Council.

The Chairman thanked him for his update on behalf of the Panel.

Page 20



23
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

28   PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING 

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning gave a 
briefing to the Panel on behalf of the People & Communities Strategic Director.

He said that the Panel would receive a report to their September meeting regarding 
Multi Academy Trusts. He added that officers have been receiving external support 
relating to guidance and governance models and the analysis work previously 
outlined by the Panel.

The Head of Education Improvement was present and gave the Panel some early 
data relating to SATs under the new assessment arrangements. She said that 54% 
of KS2 pupils had achieved the expected standard which was above the national 
standard of 53%. At KS1 proportions achieving the expected standard are likely to 
be broadly the same as the national data once this is available.

She said that 69% of Early Years pupils achieved their expected standard compared 
to 69% nationally and that 80% had achieved the expected standard in Phonics 
compared to 81% nationally. 

Councillor Liz Hardman asked how much progress has been made regarding the 
setting up of a Multi Academy Trust by B&NES.

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning replied 
that a proposed model was being worked on.

Councillor Hardman asked if all primary schools were aware of this.

The Deputy Director for Children & Young People, Strategy & Commissioning replied 
that they were.

The Chairman thanked him for his briefing on behalf of the Panel.

29   PANEL WORKPLAN 

The Panel approved the workplan as printed.

The meeting ended at 12.30 pm

Chair(person)

Date Confirmed and Signed

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

Children & Young People Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE: 

13 September 2016

TITLE: Future Options for the Local Education System

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Appendix 1 – Academy Options Appraisal (EBM/Stone King Phase 1 Report)

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 To consider the future options for the local Education system, in light of changing 
national policy and legislation and the evolving landscape.

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Panel is recommended to reflect on the report and identify its preferred 
option (if any) for the Local Authority facilitating the development of local Multi-
Academy Trusts (MATs) (Options 1-3);

2.2 The Panel is recommended to discuss and consider their preferred long term 
strategy for school improvement and whether it would wish to see further 
exploration of a Teckal joint venture company (Option 4) as a route to deliver 
school improvement and/or other services to schools.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 Council officers are already working with schools to support them in considering 
their future options so the selection of a preferred model (Options 1-3) does not 
have a direct resource implication.

3.2 The future of school improvement and other services to schools will be impacted 
by the policy proposals in the White Paper: Educational Excellence Everywhere, 
to the extent that these are embedded in future legislation. Further exploration 
and development of a business case for the option of a Teckal joint venture 
company may require some additional resource in terms of both capacity and 
professional advice as necessary.

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



Printed on recycled paper

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 The White Paper has significant implications for both the Council and its schools 
and it is prudent to be looking ahead and providing a steer to how the Council 
approaches its work with schools to shape the future local educational system.

5 THE REPORT

5.1 Officers have worked with headteachers and governors to clarify what further 
external advice would be helpful and as a result commissioned expert guidance 
on governance models, particularly aimed at groups of primary schools seeking 
to understand potential alternatives to joining an established MAT.

5.2 The PDS panel requested an options appraisal with a Strengths Weaknesses 
Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis.

5.3 A group of primary schools (largely but not exclusively in Bath) has been 
developing its own proposals for the development of a primary MAT and the 
same external consultants have worked with the ‘architects group’ designing 
those proposals, to provide some guidance and ensure that the emerging model 
is one which could be expanded or replicated for other local primary schools.

5.4 EBM (Education Business Management) working with Stone King, who both 
have extensive relevant experience, were commissioned to produce a report to 
meet the three aims described above. The report is attached in full at Appendix 
1. Colleagues from EBM and Stone King will attend the panel to present their 
findings and answer questions.

6 RATIONALE

6.1 The Panel has an opportunity to consider the report and make recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member who will determine the way in which this work is taken 
forward with schools.

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 Relevant options are set out and evaluated within the report (Appendix 1).

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 All local headteachers and chairs of governors have been consulted.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance.

Contact person Mike Bowden 01225-395610, Margaret Simmons-Bird

Background 
papers

Previous PDS papers on the Education White Paper and future 
landscape.

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative format

Page 24



 
 

 

 

 
       

 
 

Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 
 
 
Academy Options Appraisal 
 
 
Phase 1 report 

 

 

 

August 2016 
  

Page 25



2  

 
Table of Contents 
 
1. Executive Summary ..............................................................................................................3 
2. Our Understanding of Your Requirements .........................................................................5 
3. DfE Policy Position and the Local Context .........................................................................6 
4. What is an Academy? ...........................................................................................................8 
5. Bath and North East Somerset Options Appraisal ........................................................... 10 
6 Conclusions ........................................................................................................................ 18 
7 Recommendations .............................................................................................................. 19 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Bath Architects Group 
Appendix 2 – MAT Structure Diagrams 
 
 
  

Page 26



3  

1. Executive Summary 
Education Business Management (EBM) and Stone King are delighted to have been 
appointed by Bath and North East Somerset Council (B&NES) to undertake an options 
appraisal in respect of the future direction of its schools 
1.1 Scope 
EBM and Stone King were asked to consider the range of options open to the Council to 
continue its collaborative approach to school improvement and to work with the Bath 
Architects Group to develop a MAT structure capable of delivering their vision and values.  
(See Section 2) 
1.2 National and Local Context 
The report sets out why this the right time for the Council to consider this in the light of the 
Education and Adoption Act 2016 and the Educational Excellence Everywhere White Paper, 
and considers how they might shape the future of Education both nationally and locally in 
Section 3. 
1.3 Defining Terms - Academies and MATs 
Section 4 provides a definition and a description of an Academy and a Mulit-Academy Trust 
(MAT) used throughout the report. 
Academies are publicly and centrally funded, free from local authority control.  An Academy 
Trust is defined as a charitable company which is established to operate Academies as 
independent state schools.  
 
A MAT is a Trust set up to operate more than one Academy. 
 
1.4 The Options  
The range of options identified are: 
(1) Do nothing 
(2) Facilitate the establishment of  Traditional MATs 
(3) Facilitate the establishment of Co-operative MATs 
(4) Establish a Teckal Company  
(5) Or a combination of the above 
Section 5 of the report explains each option in detail and along-side this uses a SWOT 
(strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats) Analysis to evaluate each of the above 
models. 
A MAT is described in detail in terms of its Members, MAT Board, Local Governing Bodies 
and Committees. (See Section 5.2.) This is the Government’ preferred solution and remain 
a central plank of future policy summarised in Section 3. 
The complexities of Co-operative MAT are presented in Section 5.3 
How the Council may make use of a ‘Teckal’ Company, joint venture or social enterprise 
company to continue to offer school improvements to schools and Academies is explained 
in Section 5.4 and how this overcome procurement legislation.   

Page 27



4  

Reference is made to other local authorities in England known to have established such a 
company such as Hertfordshire, and a joint venture by London Borough of Richmond and 
the Royal Borough of Kington. 
These options formed part of a presentation to the Strategic Direction Group of Headteachers 
and Governors on 12th July 2016. 
1.5 Bath Architects Group 
The Bath Architects Group presented its vision and values for a primary led MAT to a group 
of B&NES Schools and Academies on 5th July 2016. 
EBM and Stone King have worked with the Group to develop a MAT Governance Structure 
capable of delivering this which is set out in Appendix 1 and Figures 3 and 4 of Appendix 
2 and referenced throughout this report as appropriate. 
1.6 Conclusion 
The report concludes that the Council has a range of formal options open to it to develop a 
strategy to continue its successful collaboration with B&NES schools by combining a raft of 
the above options into a coherent approach to school improvement. (See Section 6.) 
1.7 Recommendations 
EBM and Sone King were not asked to recommend a preferred model.  
Based on our experience of working with the Council and the Bath Architects Group, we 
recommend in Section 7 that; 
A. B&NES Council Members and B&NES Headteachers and Governors reflect on the 

content of this report and identify their preferred option. 
 
B. Council Members give consideration to their preferred long term strategy for school 

improvement and whether this is best delivered through a Teckal Company (along with 
other potential Council services) which could be used to help shape the role the Council 
could play in a collaborative primary, values-led MAT with B&NES schools. 

 
C. The Bath Architects Group establishes a Project Steering Group in September 2016 to; 
 

(i) involve any new schools interested in the MAT concept following the 5th July 
presentation;  

(ii) undertake a feasibility study to establish the financial viability of the proposed MAT 
and its phased early years growth to evidence the sustainability of the solution; 

(iii) communicate the results to all B&NES schools; 
(iv) set a deadline for schools to pass Governing Body resolutions to participate in the 

early phases of the MAT; 
(v) devise project plans to establish the MAT and for its phased expansion; 
(vi) submit ‘Expressions of Interest’ to the RSC to start the phased set up of a Bath 

MAT. 
  

Page 28



5  

2. Our Understanding of Your Requirements 
The scope of the work is two-fold: 
(i) to explore the range of collaborations and associated governance structures options for 

B&NES and all Bath schools, prescribe the governance arrangements and set out the 
strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats associated with each model; and 

 
(ii) to develop a primary led Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) governance structure in 

consultation with the Bath MAT Architects Group, that could be adopted by others 
schools and includes the local authority as a potential partner  in school improvement.  

  

Page 29



6  

3. DfE Policy Position and the Local Context 
The origins of the Academy programme date back to 2002 when external sponsors were 
asked to develop proposals to ‘improve pupil performance and break the cycle of low 
expectations’ for failing inner city schools. The Coalition Government changed this focus, 
allowing good and outstanding schools to convert to academies, removing the requirement 
for an external sponsor, thus leading the way for school-led academy trusts. This re-focus 
saw the number of academies in England rise to 4,515 by the General Election of 7th May 
2015. This number is steadily rising. 
The current, Conservative Government, has continued with its academisation agenda, with 
the government formally announcing its plan for full academisation for all schools by 2022 in 
the “Educational Excellence Everywhere” White Paper published earlier this year.  This was 
subject to much public backlash, resulting in the government’s ‘U-turn’ on the forced 
academisation of good and outstanding schools.  In reality, full academisation, and the Multi 
Academy Trust agenda remain central to Government’s education policy. 
The local context is important. The academy map shows that the south of England is heavily 
academised, although academisation has been below the national average in B&NES. This 
can be attributed to two main reasons: 
(i) The current primary school structure is very successful with over 90% judged as good 

or outstanding; standards across EYFS, KS1 and KS2 are in line or above the national 
averages and there are no maintained schools in an Ofsted category. Relationships 
between schools and the local authority are very strong and there is a culture of 
partnership working to secure effective school improvement; and  
 

(ii) The primary schools are predominantly one form of entry or smaller and of a rural nature 
and this has meant that the early financial advantages of conversion less important.  

The recently enacted Education and Adoption Act 2016 (“the Act”) sets out measures that 
the Government can take to force the conversion of maintained schools which are considered to be ‘coasting’ or causing concern determined by reference to national floor standards. The 
Act places a duty on local authorities to facilitate the conversion of all failing and coasting 
schools in need of a sponsored academy solution and local authorities will be under a duty to facilitate the process of all maintained schools becoming academies.  
 
It is important to note that, under this powerful piece of legislation, the DfE can directly 
intervene and force the conversion of ‘coasting’ and failing schools (this includes schools 
judged by Ofsted as Requiring Improvement) by-passing the role of the local authority. The 
likely effect of this Act will be to increase the number of academy conversions.  
The Educational Excellence Everywhere White Paper proposes the removal of local 
authority’s duty to run schools, and responsibility for school improvement services, which will 
be replaced by a school led system.  Given the significant changes introduced by the Act, 
and the Educational Excellence White Paper proposals, it is an important time for local 
authorities to consider how they wish to support their schools in the future. In addition it is 
apparent that the school funding arrangements will make it increasingly difficult for small, 
rural schools to work in isolation. It is an important time for B&NES to work in partnership 
with its schools to develop a strong school collaborative system that maintains and builds on 
an established and successful school system in B&NES.  
It is important to note, potentially as a result of the government’s academisation agenda that 
many of the existing maintained schools within B&NES are presently considering 

Page 30



7  

academisation, either through setting up MATs or joining existing MATs (both school and 
sponsor led).  
Locally, the Bath Architects Group, a partnership of local primary schools, has been working 
together for a number of years, and is now keen to formalise their partnership working with 
the support of B&NES, as a potential partner to set up a primary led MAT. Further details of 
their proposals are set out at Appendix 1 and in diagrammatic form in Figures 3 and 4. 
In addition Chew Valley Secondary school (a maintained school) has recently established a 
new charitable trust with local partner primary schools. The trust, known as Chew Valley 
Cluster Educational Trust (CVCET) is a charitable incorporated organisation, which is a 
relatively new legal form, which offers the benefits of limited liability but without administrative 
company law burdens.  CVCET has been set up as umbrella body to provide services and 
support to its partner schools. The Trust’s official launch takes place on 13th September 2016.  
  

Page 31



8  

4. What is an Academy? 
It may be helpful to define the terms in use throughout this report. 
An Academy Trust: 

 is a charitable company which is established to operate Academies as independent state 
schools.  Academies are publicly and centrally funded, free from local authority control 

 signs Master and Supplemental Funding Agreements with the Secretary of State for the 
operation of any number of Academies 

 has “Members” who are akin to the shareholders of a normal company (albeit that there is 
no entitlement to a dividend) 

 is accountable to Secretary of State through the DfE and the Education Funding Agency 
 must abide by Company and Charity Law 

 

 
 
The strategic direction of the Trust is determined by the Trustees, who are also responsible 
for the management of the Trust as a whole.  The Members appoint certain of the Trustees 
and may remove any of the Trustees – they are not responsible or accountable for the 
operations of the Trust.   
  

£10 limited liability 

Page 32



9  

 
A Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) is an Academy Trust with a Master and a series of 
Supplemental Funding Agreements enabling it to operate more than one Academy. 
 

 
  

Figure 2 - MAT Structure 

Page 33



10  

5. Bath and North East Somerset Options Appraisal 
This section sets out all of the options open to B&NES to continue to work in a collaborative 
partnership with both schools and academies in the area. 
The SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats) analysis set out below seeks 
to provide an evaluation of the three models of school collaboration outlined in the document 
for consideration.  
The range of options identified are: 
(1) Do nothing 
(2) Facilitate the establishment of  Traditional MATs 
(3) Facilitate the establishment of Co-operative MATs 
(4) Establish a Teckal Company 
(5) Or a combination of the above 
Each of these is now considered in turn. 
5.1 Option 1: Do Nothing 
The ‘Do nothing’ option is the continuation of the existing system, without any further 
involvement of B&NES in shaping the future direction of the school system.  It would require 
B&NES to continue to operate the existing school improvement services (whilst it remains 
affordable to do so). 
Without a clear strategic direction from the local authority and any intention for B&NES to set 
up a Social Enterprise or Teckal company to deliver School Improvement Services to MATs, 
B&NES schools would be left to their own devices to form or join their own MATs with partner 
schools, without a Local Authority Teckal Company or vision for a collaborative school 
improvement system.   
Strengths  
(i) The Primary schools are successful in their own right and there is no reason why this 

should not continue to be the case. 
(ii) The LA is not required to develop a collaborative schools strategy in terms of set up 

costs, consequently this option has no financial cost to B&NES 
(iii) Increase choice for parents with some schools opting to establish their own MATs, and 

other joining existing MATs 
 
Weaknesses 
(i) B&NES School system could fragment without cohesive approach with the potential for 

less successful schools to become isolated 
(ii) Viability of small isolated rural schools 
(iii) Reduces potential for partnership working across local schools 
(iv) No strategic approach/co-ordination within B&NES  
(v) Difficult for B&NES to manage school support services in long term 
(vi) Potential staff redundancies 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



11  

Opportunities 
(i) B&NES Schools may choose to collaborate and establish MATs without Council input 
and Teckal Company 
(ii) Establishment of more Charitable Trust clusters similar to the Chew Valley Cluster 
Educational Trust 
 
Threats 
(i) Need to manage long term decline in B&NES services to schools.  
(ii) External MATs may target expansion of their network within B&NES 
(iii) Schools that meet the new ‘coasting schools’ criteria and schools judged as Requiring 

Improvement by Ofsted will be at risk of forced conversion to become Sponsored 
Academies as a result of powers in Education and Adoption Act (2016) 

 
5.2 Traditional Multi Academy Trust 
The Traditional MAT is the DfE’s preferred governance model, and the government has 
announced that it would like all academies to be part of a MAT by 2022.  
Figure 3 in Appendix 2 sets out the Governance Structure of a Traditional MAT. 
The key features of the Traditional MAT are as follows:  
 Members 

Members are akin to shareholders. Although Members have an important part to play in 
the operations of an academy trust, namely through appointing trustees and having the 
ability to change the constitution, they do not get involved in the day to day running of 
the academy trust, which is the remit of the Board.  Members can comprise both 
individuals and organisations. This could involve a mix of local individuals and 
organisations with an interest in education within the local authority.  
 
The DfE’s policy has changed over the years and, although the Articles of Association 
require an academy trust to have a minimum of 3 Members, the DfE strongly prefers five 
Members, and for the majority of the Members to be independent of the Board. This 
policy change came about as a result of the ‘Trojan Horse’ incident in Birmingham. The 
Articles also do not permit employees acting as Members. 
 
Academy trusts which operate church schools must also factor in Diocesan 
representation within the governance structure.  Given the mix of voluntary aided and 
voluntary controlled schools within the proposed MAT, the Diocese may (subject to 
negotiation) require up to 51% representation at Member level.   
 
It is possible for B&NES to be represented at Member level in the Bath MAT, however, 
their influence must be less than 20% at all times due to Local Government Act 
associated and regulated company concerns. It is also important to note that, if B&NES 
were to become a Member of the MAT, the Academies Financial Handbook would 
require that any services that B&NES provides to the MAT must be charged ‘at cost’.   

 
 MAT Board 

The Board is responsible for the day to day management of the MAT. It must act within 
the broad powers set out in the Articles of Association.  

 

Page 35



12  

In terms of size, the general recommendation is that a Board should have between 7 
and 11 trustees to enable effective and productive decision-making, and the DfE, in its 
recent MAT approvals, has been insisting on a skills-based Board of this number. 
  
Historically, MATs were set up with a representative structure (for example, the board 
would be drawn from, say, Chairs of schools within the MAT).  However, DfE policy has 
evolved, and the DfE, in approving the governance of new MATs, now requires a skills-
set to ensure that the Board is equipped with sufficient skills to enable it to function 
effectively.   
 
Academy trusts which operate church schools must also factor in Diocesan 
representation within the governance structure.  Given the possible mix of voluntary 
aided and voluntary controlled schools within the MAT, as with membership the Diocese 
may (subject to negotiation) require up to 51% representation at Board level. 

 
 Local Governing Bodies (LGBs) 

A LGB is a committee of the MAT Board. The role of an LGB within a multi-academy 
trust is a valuable one in providing local governance, as well as offering assistance to 
the Trustees in the fulfilment of their duties. Broadly, the role is to provide focused 
governance for an academy at a local level, monitoring the academy's key performance 
indicators, and acting as a critical friend to the Principal, providing challenge where 
appropriate. The LGB also plays a part in representing the views of the academy's 
stakeholders.  
 
The Board set the terms of reference for the LGBs, which are subject to regular review. 
The Board decides the extent of delegation of powers to the LGB of each of the schools 
within the MAT. In some cases, the stronger schools receive a greater level of 
delegation, although some MATs set up their LGBs to be purely advisory.  
 
It is important that the functions of the LGB are clearly defined and set out in clear Terms 
of Reference and Schemes of Delegation, to ensure that the local governors, senior 
leadership and the Board have a clear understanding of their respective roles.  In all 
cases, the Headteacher of each School is accountable to the MAT Board. 
 
Academy trusts which operate church schools must also factor in Diocesan 
representation within the governance structure.  For a voluntary aided school, the 
Diocese would expect to have 51% representation while for voluntary controlled schools, 
that would amount to 20/25% (depending on the position at the point of conversion).   
 
It is possible to have an LGB covering more than one school, and such “cluster” bodies 
are being considered increasingly, particularly in areas where there are difficulties in 
recruiting governors with the requisite skills.  We can advise further on this if helpful. 

 
 Other Committees 

The MAT may set up other committees and delegate prescribed responsibilities and 
functions to them.  The Academies Financial Handbook 2016 mandates that a MAT 
Board must establish a committee to ‘provide assurance over the suitability of and 
compliance with its financial systems and operational controls.’  Academy Trusts with 
an income above £50m must discharge this responsibility by establishing a separate 
Audit Committee, while smaller MATs may include this within the terms of reference of 
another Committee such as Finance. 

Page 36



13  

 
In addition to the mandatory committees referred to above, MATs may set up other 
Committees of the Board of Directors as they see fit to oversee the work of the Trust – 
common examples include finance and standards. 

 
 Forum Hubs 

Forum Hubs are useful for medium to large MATs, and can be set up by the MAT Board 
to address particular needs of a MAT at any given time.  They can be functional and 
structured around Headteachers and Chairs (as depicted in Figure 3 in Appendix 1) or 
theme based i.e. governance, Key Stage 1 or Phonics etc.  They are accountable to the 
MAT Board and it is advisable that they should operate under an approved Terms of 
Reference.     
 
It is through these Forum Hubs that the MAT can ‘live and breathe’ its vision and values 
of being a school led Primary MAT, working together to improve teaching and learning, 
developing strategic partnerships to make a positive difference for the children that the 
schools are set up to serve.  
 
Figure 4 illustrates how the same Governance structure can be adapted to apply to a 
larger mature MAT of 20-30 schools by organising participating schools into Cluster 
Hubs, with a Cluster Hub Lead responsible to the MAT Board.  
Continuing the similarities with ‘Forum Hubs’, a school can move between geographic 
or theme-based ‘Cluster Hubs’ as its needs change, or the MAT grows.   
We are witnessing some of the larger MATs considering a regional MAT structure 

 
 Accounting Officer 

Each MAT must have an accounting officer who would be accountable to Parliament in 
the event of any issues or irregularities with regard to the operation of the MAT.  This 
person typically acts as the Chief Executive Officer of the MAT.  Careful consideration 
will need to be given to the identity and extent of the role of the accounting officer: 
Options include simply asking an existing Headteacher to become the accounting officer 
or making an external appointment. 

 
The above description of a MAT applies equally to a Traditional MAT and to the Bath 
Architects Group.   
The MAT Board of the Bath Architects Group is free to determine the nature of the 
Forum/Cluster Hubs to deliver vision and values of the Trust, and to develop and disseminate 
best practice. 
Strengths  
(i) An established model, with  a well-defined process, clear milestones, responsibilities, 

accountabilities and outcomes that can be effectively managed 
(ii) DfE’s preferred governance model 
(iii) A schools-led, values-driven MAT in which schools can continue to collaborate with the 

LA 
(iv) Likely to be popular and known to stakeholders 
(v) LA can be involved in the MAT as a key partner 
 

Page 37



14  

Weaknesses 
(i) The LA cannot hold more than 20% of the votes at Member or at Trustee level. It is also 

worth noting that if the LA were to become a Member or appoint Trustees to the MAT, 
then it would be a ‘related party’ for the purposes of the Academies Financial Handbook 
meaning that any services provided from the LA to the MAT would have to be provided 
‘at cost’ unless the Education Funding Agency agreed to dispense with this restriction 

(ii) It is anticipated that the DfE and the RSC may issue further information about support 
to small rural schools.  The timing of this is unknown, so any an expression of interest 
to establish a MAT made in the near future would not be able to take account of any 
further responses from the DfE or the RSC about the particular issues faced by small 
rural schools and any proposed measure. 

(iii) Schools with an Ofsted judgment of Requiring Improvement may feel pressured to join 
an existing MAT to avoid the risk of forced conversion through the sponsored academy 
route 

 
Opportunities 
(i) The Traditional MAT model can be replicated by other schools in B&NES who wish to 

set up their own MAT 
(ii) The Bath Architect Group’s MAT can be expanded into the Cluster MAT (see Figure 4) 

should more schools wish to join in future 
(iii) Potential economies of scale as a result of joint commissioning of support, and sharing 

best practice across a number of schools 
 
Threats 
(i) A small MAT is unlikely to be financially viable in the short or long term 
(ii) Change of government policy 
 

5.3 Co-operative MAT 
Co-operative MATs are established by schools that want to access the additional freedoms 
and funding that are available in the academy model, but also build in important aspects, 
such as a voice for key stakeholder groups. 
Schools that choose to adopt the Co-operative Model for conversion to academy status: 
(a) agree to adopt the internationally agreed Co-operative Values as a basis for their work; 
(b) guarantee to provide a voice for the key stakeholders in their school and local 

community (eg parents, staff, learners and members of the local community); and 
(c) can work with the wide range of other Co-operative Schools through membership of the 

Schools Co-operative Society. 
The constitution for a Co-operative MAT provides for the establishment of a Forum. The role 
of the Forum is to: 
(a) appoint Members (by simple majority); 
(b) make recommendations to the Trustees in relation to the appointment of any co-opted 

Trustees; and 
(c) make recommendations to the Trustees in relation to the role of the academies in the 

community. 

Page 38



15  

The constitution provides for the creation of a number of constituencies (such as Alumni 
Constituency, the Learners Constituency, the Local Community Constituency, the Parent and 
Carers Constituency and the Staff Constituency) with the participants of each constituency 
electing one or more of their number to be a Forum Partner. No Constituency’s elected 
partner shall comprise more than [20] [25]%1 of the total number of Partners.   
The Forum can also designate that one or more other organisations (including local or parish 
councils, the local authority or any other organisations capable of having a positive impact 
on the work of the MAT) to be “Partner Organisations”, and any such Partner Organisation 
shall be entitled to appoint a Partner to the Forum (which can be restricted in number).  
It is important to note that this is not the DfE’s preferred governance model, nor is the Diocese 
particularly keen on the co-operative structure. 
Please refer to Figure 6 for an illustrative diagram of the Co-operative MAT governance 
structure. 
A large Co-operative MAT can also develop Forum and Cluster Hubs discussed above and 
illustrated in Appendix 2. 
Strengths 
(i) A school led, values-driven MAT in which schools continue to collaborate with B&NES 

is likely to be popular with parents, staff and local stakeholders 
(ii) Membership structure designed to enable key stakeholders to be directly involved in 

running of the MAT 
(iii) This solution builds on and is a natural extension of the collaborative work to date 

between the schools in Bath and B&NES itself 
(iv) LA could become a key partner 
Weaknesses 
(i) Complicated Articles and Governance arrangements – may make the MAT complex 

and bureaucratic  
(ii) Decision-making may be slower, due to amount of stakeholders (see Figure 6) 
(iii) The LA cannot hold more than 20% of the votes at Member or at Trustee level. It is also 

worth noting that if the LA were to become a Member or appoint Trustees to the MAT, 
then it would be a ‘related party’ for the purposes of the Academies Financial Handbook 
2016 meaning that any services provided to the MAT by B&NES would have to be 
provided ‘at cost’ unless the Education Funding Agency agreed to dispense with this 
restriction 

(iv) Not DfE’s preferred model  
(v) Recruitment of high quality, fully engaged, stakeholders may be difficult due to the 

complex structure, and the amount of stakeholders the model requires 
(vi) Unrealistic engagement of stakeholders and partners? Will partners and stakeholders 

continue to be involved/interested one year in? 
(vii) Co-operative values enshrined in the constitution, which may be too prescriptive 
(viii) Diocese not amenable to this model 
 
 

                                                             
1 Dependent on the number of Constituencies (20% for five Constituencies and 25% for four 
Constituencies). 

Page 39



16  

Opportunities 
(i) Establishes a model that other B&NES schools could adopt 
(ii) If organised properly, provides a model for effective stakeholder engagement, and 
localism 
Threats 
(i) A small MAT is not financially viable in the short or long term (ii) Complexity of structure could undermine effectiveness of governance decisions 
(iii) Change of government policy 
 
5.4 Teckal Company 
There is scope for schools within B&NES, irrespective of the fact that they are in different 
MATs, to work together with the Council by setting up a joint venture company, known as a 
‘Teckal Company’. Please refer to Figure 5 for the illustrative diagram. 
It is probably fair to say that support services provided for schools by local authorities are 
coming under greater financial pressure as more schools become academies. There is 
therefore a good opportunity for local authorities to consider shared services in this area.  
The model envisages academy trusts and B&NES becoming shareholders in a joint venture 
company. It is important that the company is set up properly and in compliance with the 
Teckal exemption in the Public Contract Regulations 2016. Essentially, where the company 
is set up in compliance with the Teckal procurement requirements, it will allow academy trusts 
to purchase services, at profit rates, from the service company without the academy trust 
having formally to procure those contracts. The company is effectively treated as an ‘in-
house’ company for the purposes of public procurement.  
If the Teckal Company makes a profit, part of that profit could go to B&NES, and part could 
be reinvested for the benefit of any schools which are shareholders of the Teckal Company.  
As such, the Teckal Company could be viewed as a social enterprise which is reinvesting 
any surpluses towards the benefits of the community which it serves. 
In setting up frameworks, it is possible for the Teckal Company to agree commissions with 
suppliers, which would be payments made by the suppliers to the Teckal Company for each 
purchase made by a school under the Framework (the Crescent Purchasing Consortium 
operates a similar model).  
The Teckal Company could also employ back office support staff, and have a school 
improvement offering. 
Procurement is an area which most schools find problematic, and cumbersome. This model 
would enable the the MAT to procure School Improvement services from the Teckal 
Company, thus enabling B&NES to continue to play a collaborative role supporting the MAT 
and other schools within B&NES. B&NES would therefore be well placed to do this, given its 
expertise in this area. 
This solution is compatible with the Bath Architects MAT Structure in Figure 3, the Cluster 
MAT structure in Figure 4 and the Co-operative MAT structure in Figure 6.  
It is also possible for maintained schools and academies to play a part in the Teckal 
Company, but if maintained schools are to be involved, then it is important to ensure that the 
Teckal Company is set up in compliance with School Company Regulations 2002 (as 
amended). 

Page 40



17  

Examples of Teckal Companies involving schools are Hertfordshire County Council’s ‘Herts 
for Learning’ www.hertsforlearning.co.uk or the joint initiative between the London Borough 
of Richmond and the Royal Borough of Kensington known as ‘Achieving for Children’ 
www.achievementforchildren.org.uk 
Strengths 
(i) An area where B&NES can provide ‘added value’ as schools find procurement of 

services cumbersome, and complex 
(ii) Services can be provided by the Teckal Company to member schools at a profit 
(iii) Possible for Further Education Colleges, Sixth Form Colleges, and Universities to 

become members  
(iv) Ability for Teckal Company to provide some services (20%) to non-member schools 

(although opportunity to set up trading vehicle to provide additional services to schools 
that are not members of the company) 

(v) Success stories: eg. Herts for Learning 
(vi) This solution builds on, and is a natural extension of the collaborative work to date 

between the schools in Bath and B&NES itself 
(vii) Income opportunity for B&NES to reduce costs, generate income and has potential to 

further improve efficiency by introducing new commercial structure. 
(viii) Alternative and dynamic school delivery model to protect and develop existing school 

services 
(ix) Opportunity to provide services outside of geographical area. 
(x) A way of adding social value; increasing economic activity; improving management 

skills and capacity. 
(xi) A way of safeguarding jobs whilst diversifying work and contracts 
 
Weaknesses 
(i) Set up costs involved (planning and risk analysis necessary) 
(ii) Involves potential TUPE transfer of staff to Teckal Company –  LGPS pension 

considerations and possible bonds and guarantees 
(iii) Teckal Companies regulated by Public Contract Regulations 2016, which are complex 

(although LA will have expertise in this area) 
(iv) Potential resistance from unions who may see the vehicle as privatisation (early 

engagement with unions and other stakeholders can mitigate risk)  
 
Opportunities 
(i) Opportunity to provide services within and outside of geographical area 
(ii) If organised properly, provides a model for effective stakeholder engagement and 

localism 
(iii) Income stream for B&NES and continued collaboration with schools 
(iv) Allows for further potential further collaboration  with sixth form colleges, further 

education colleges and universities 
 
Threats 
(i) Sufficient investment to make it happen 
(ii) Engaging schools may be difficult, but early engagement in set up and potential profit 

share to schools may be attractive buy in. 

Page 41



18  

6 Conclusions 
This Report seeks to provide a number of collaborative models with governance 
arrangements and an evaluative summary of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats associated with each model.  
The Council has a number of options to continue to work collaboratively with B&NES Schools.   
The Council could continue with its current approach to support school improvement, or it 
could choose to formalise this by either becoming a Member of a Traditional or Co-operative 
MAT, or by establishing a Teckal’ Company to deliver school improvements. 
It is worth emphasising that these options are not mutually exclusive and the Council can 
combine Traditional and Co-operative MATs with or without a ‘Teckal’ Company as part of a 
strategic approach to school improvement for the future of B&NES. 
 
  

Page 42



19  

7 Recommendations 
EBM and Sone King were not asked to recommend a preferred model.  
However, having worked with representatives of B&NES Council and the Bath Architects 
Group over the summer in the course of the two presentations to Schools in July, EBM and 
Stone King recommend that: 
A. B&NES Council Members and B&NES Headteachers and Governors reflect on the 

content of this report and identify their preferred option. 
 

B. Council Members give consideration to their preferred long term strategy for school 
improvement and whether this is best delivered through a Teckal Company (along with 
other potential Council services) which could be used to help shape the role the Council 
could play in a collaborative primary, values-led MAT with B&NES schools. 
 

C. The Bath Architects Group establishes a Project Steering Group in September 2016 to; 
 
(i) involve any new schools interested in the MAT concept following the 5th July 

presentation;  
(ii) undertake a feasibility study to establish the financial viability of the proposed 

MAT and its phased early years growth to evidence the sustainability of the 
solution; 

(iii) communicate the results to all B&NES schools; 
(iv) set a deadline for schools to pass Governing Body resolutions to participate in the 

early phases of the MAT; 
(v) devise project plans to establish the MAT and for its phased expansion; 
(vi) submit ‘Expressions of Interest’ to the RSC to start the phased set up of a Bath 

MAT. 
 

  

Page 43



20  

APPENDIX 1 
BATH ARCHITECTS GROUP MAT 

Introduction 
EBM and Stone King have been working with the Bath Architects Group of schools to provide 
advice on establishing a primary led MAT around a set of principles, vision and ethos agreed 
over a long period of collaborative working.  
The Bath MAT Architects Group is a small group of Infant and Junior Schools in B&NES that 
have been working together in closer partnership over a number of years. The Group is keen 
to explore working together through a MAT.  
Features of the Bath Architects Group MAT 
Some of the key considerations of the Group which formed part of the presentation to Schools 
on 5th July 2016 are that the MAT should: 
a) be primary-led, with a clear ethos and vision 
b) provide opportunities for professional development of the MAT’s teaching staff 
c) allow for greater collaboration between heads, chairs and teachers  
d) involve local community stakeholders, such as local businesses and key 

educationalists (such as building links with Colleges and the University) 
e) increase efficiency through purchasing, and back office support (economies of scale) 

 
MAT Structure 
Following discussions the governance proposal set out at Figures 3 and Figure 4 was 
developed, which could be adopted for any other groups of schools in B&NES.  
This is a Traditional Multi-Academy Trust discussed in full in Section 5.2 which uses Forum 
and/or Cluster Hubs to deliver the Groups vision and values. 
Implementation 
In the above presentation to Schools EBM out the conversion process for Schools wishing 
to convert to an Academy and form a MAT which is expected to take between 4-6 months. 
Reservation have been made about the financial viability of the small rural schools that will 
form the MAT to be able to afford to create a post of Executive Principal.  Therefore before 
Governors are able to make an informed judgement about whether this is model they wish 
to be a part of a feasibility study to further develop the MAT proposal must evidence this by 
drafting a MAT budget with this post included. 
Even after establishing the viability of the MAT it is likely that not all schools in B&NES will 
be ready, willing or able to make a commitment to joining the Bath Architect’s Group MAT at 
the same time. Therefore it is worth giving consideration to a Phase 3 to either expand or 
replicate the Bath Architects Group MAT Structure to offer a Academy solution to those 
schools who wish to consider the merits of this solution over a longer period. . 
It is important to note that the Regional Schools Commissioner will have views on the size of 
any new MAT, which will need to be considered.  This will depend on the strength of the 
schools within the MAT, the speed of growth, capacity of the MAT to support other schools, 
the type of incoming school (weak/strong), the MAT’s business plans, financial forecast and 
projections. 

Page 44



21  

 
APPENDIX 2 

MAT Structure Diagrams Figures 3 - 6 
 

Page 45



 
 

 

 

 
      

  

Figure 3 – Bath Architects Group MAT Structure 

P
age 46



23  

  
 

 Figure 4 - Expanded Bath Architects Group MAT Cluster Structure 

P
age 47



24  

 

P
age 48



25  

 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Annex 1 

Independent Reviewing Officers

Annual Report 2015-2016

Author: Jackie Deas
Deputy Safeguarding Lead : Children and 
Quality Assurance

Page 51

Agenda Item 11



2

Index    
                

1. Introduction                                                                 3                                                                                                          

2. Structure and Reporting Arrangements                   3                        

3.         Profile of the Children and Young People                3
                              in Care                                                            

4. IRO Activity and the Difference Made to                   6
                              Children and Young People in Care                                                                                

5.         Areas of IRO Scrutiny and Monitoring                    9 

                                                              
6.         Quality Assurance and Feedback to                       11

                              Children’s Social Care                                 

7.        Review of priorities for 2015-16                                13

8.        Priorities for 2016-17                                                 14

                 

Page 52



3

1. Introduction
   
1.1 This is the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) and 

covers the period April 2015 to March 2016. 

1.2 During this reporting period, the team has achieved a full complement of staff 
following a seven month period of vacancies which were partially filled by agency 
staff. There has been a new case management recording system introduced, this 
has meant a change to practice and workflow recording. It is also taking some 
time to develop the data reports which consequently leaves this report limited in its 
presentation of performance information.  

2. Structure and Reporting Arrangements

2.1 The IROs are managed within the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service 
and are line managed by the Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality 
Assurance. There are three full time equivalent posts within the Service and one 
full time Administrator. This service sits within the Children and Young People 
Strategy and Commissioning Division in Children’s Services.

2.2 The IRO Handbook suggests that an estimated caseload of 50-70 Children in 
Care is a reasonable level for a full time equivalent IRO; this represents good 
practice in order to enable the delivery of a quality service. The IROs caseload is 
consistently within those guidelines. 

2.3 The Children in Care and Moving on Team are managed by the Service Manager: 
Care Outcomes, who works within the Children’s Specialist and Targeted 
Services. However some Children in Care have Social Workers in other Teams 
and allocation depends on the stage of care proceedings, whether they have 
additional needs and are in receipt of short breaks provision. 

2.4 Placements for Children in Care are provided by either the internal Family 
Placement Team or by Placements Commissioning who procure placements with 
Independent Fostering Agencies and residential providers across England and 
Wales. 

2.5 Under the guidance of the IRO Handbook, the Service is required to submit an 
annual report to the Corporate Parenting Board and there is a local arrangement 
for it to also be submitted to the LSCB. A mid-year report is also provided to the 
People and Communities Leadership Team.

3. Profile of the Children and Young People in Care

3.1 Number of Children in Care Reviewed by the IROS
Diagram 1 below shows the number of Children reviewed by the IROs including 
children on short break respite who are also reviewed by the IROs. There was a 
steady increase in numbers of Children in Care in the first six months of the year. 
The population in care was at its highest in September and it has reduced since, 
with a peak again in February. The increase has been in part due to a number of 
children proceeding to care orders through the court process. 

Page 53



4

3.2 Diagram 1: Children in Care Reviewed by the Independent Review Service

Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
135

140

145

150

155

160

CiC reviewed by the IRS (inc short break / respite) Children in care

Children reviewed by the IRS : 01/04/15 - 31/03/16

3.3 A total of 66 children and young people have left care during 2015-16. Of these 10 
of the 66 young people turned 18 and 17 returned home; 10 were adopted and 
four were granted Special Guardianship Order. 

3.4 Ethnicity of Children in Care 

3.5 The ethnicity of Children in Care is set out in Diagram 2. The number of Children 
in Care from BME backgrounds has decreased from the previous year. There is 
however no significant change since last year’s report with the majority of Children 
in Care being White British. During this period, the Local Authority cared for two 
unaccompanied asylum seekers; one of the unaccompanied asylum seeker has 
now reached 18. In addition two children in the category Asian were placed in care 
following the police being alerted under Modern Slavery processes.

3.6 Diagram 2: Ethnicity of Children in Care as at 31.03.16

3.7 Given the number of BME Children in Care it is important to note that the majority 
of carers who children are placed with are white. Cultural and heritage issues 

Page 54



5

related to a child’s ethnic background are crucial to ensuring that all the protective 
factors are supported to enable young people in care to achieve better outcomes. 
The IROs continue to highlight the unmet ethnicity needs of young people.  

3.8 Placements outside B&NES 
      The Annual Sufficiency Report 2015 outlined that, as a Local Authority, we have 

previously counted children who were placed more than 20 miles away from 
B&NES borders as being ‘away from their home’ area.  From April 2015, the use 
of the term away from home area has been amended to ‘children who are placed 
beyond our immediate adjacent local authorities’ – Wiltshire, South 
Gloucestershire, Bristol, North Somerset and Somerset. 

3.9 The majority of children and young people in B&NES are placed in the authorities 
adjacent to the home area in Foster Placements provided by Local Authority 
Foster Carers or Independent Fostering Agencies.

3.10 Out of a total of 149 Children in Care at the end of the reporting period, 15 were 
placed outside of the adjacent authorities. The breakdown of location is as 
follows: 
 Four children in residential schools
 Two children in residential care homes
 Two children in parent and baby units
 Four children in foster homes ( eight placements over the year) 
 One young person in a semi-independent placement
 Two children placed with kinship carers under Regulation 24 Placement with 

Family and Friends under the Children Act 1989

3.11 Children who are placed further from home do require a higher level of vigilance 
than those children who are closer and who are more able to have regular 
contacts with their familial and friendship networks. The IROs audited 20 children 
who are placed outside B&NES.

3.12 For the purposes of the audit, the IROs chose 20 children placed outside the 
actual geographical border of B&NES. The audit highlighted some good practice 
and the main findings that will help service improvement were as follows:
 That whilst the majority of Children in Care had an assessment a significant 

number of assessments had not been updated within a two year period; this is 
now being addressed and Children Social Care are committed to ensuring 
these are in place

 A significant number of children’s views were taken into account in planning 
and review stages 

 All children whose files were audited had appropriate contact with family and 
friends

 85% of cases had been monitored by IROs during reviews which demonstrate 
best practice 

 The audit highlighted that some children were not being visited at required 
frequencies

 The audit highlighted a gap in the recording of PEPs which was immediately  
remedied in those cases

Page 55



6

 95% of children had Care Plans
 95% of children had Health Plans

3.13 Whilst the number of children and young people placed outside of the adjacent 
authorities is low, a child who is placed in the farthest reach of Somerset or 
Wiltshire is still a considerable distance from their original home address and 
professional network. The definition of this boundary is pragmatic but does not 
necessarily indicate a child’s proximity to ‘home’ services. 

4. IRO Activity and the Difference Made to Children and Young People in Care

4.1   During this period, the IROs have undertaken a total of 398 reviews. The team 
held a vacancy for seven months which was covered by agency staff and 
coincided with a significant spike in Child Protection Plans which necessitated re-
deploying IRO capacity to cover Child Protection Conferences. This has had an 
impact on both the IROs capacity and the consistency of service delivery. The 
team has welcomed two new substantive members to the service in October 
2015 with the third new substantive part time post holder starting in April 2016. 

4.2  As the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service has re-established itself after 
holding vacancies for most of 2015 and has developed two roles to enable 
flexibility to cover both the IRO and Child Protection Chair role, there is work to 
be done over the next six months to weigh cases and consider the impact of 
travel and other caseload factors upon the team’s workload. The Deputy 
Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality Assurance will also undertake a 
scoping exercise with “like” authorities to establish whether the team’s level of 
reviewing and visits is consistent with similar sized authorities. 

4.3   As a team, the IROs are committed to ensuring their own practice is as good as it 
can be. In the course of the following twelve months, a system for establishing 
more robust methods of monitoring the team’s own performance will be 
developed using practice standards.  This presents a good opportunity to ensure 
processes are effective. 

4.4 The implementation of the new case management recording system has had a 
significant impact on the team, for example, IROs have not been able to record 
their reviews until the social work report is signed off and this has not been a 
seamless process. The IROs have made a significant contribution to progressing 
the use of the case management recording system and have raised issues 
accordingly and had a constructive dialogue with the Project Team. As the 
system becomes more embedded and we continue to offer feedback to the 
Project Team, these issues should ease. 

4.5   Timeliness of Reviews 
        The IROs have reported challenges related to organising reviews this year. 

Arranging reviews is a shared responsibility between IROs and Children’s Social 
Care and has been difficult partly because of changes of staff in both Teams. 
Reviews have needed to be re-organised which has impacted on timeliness, as 
has the implementation of the case recording system. The previous case 
management system automatically notified the IRO Administrator of children 

Page 56



7

entering care and this helped everyone ensure timeliness. The new system does 
not have this facility and this has impacted on the consistency of timeliness of 
notifications to the IROs. This has also been identified in the Children in Care 
Quality Assurance Sub Group who audited a sample of new children in to care 
during 2015-16. A system for recording new children in care needs to be 
established which supports timeliness. 

 
4.6  Performance against the local indicator (previously NI66) for timeliness of reviews 

for all Children in Care had remained consistently very good at the end of Q2 of 
2015 and was reported in the six month IRO report at 95.5%. The reasons for 
reviews not taking place in a timely manner were because of lack of availability 
of the IRO in one instance, social work sickness and a change of placement. 

4.7  The timeliness of reviews was not reported on in the Quarter Three Performance 
reporting due to the difficulties in establishing the data during the case recording 
system transition period. The Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality 
Assurance was able to establish that six reviews had been out of timescales. We 
await the end of year performance information on this.

 
4.8  The IRO Administrator supports the team in ensuring all relevant parties receive 

notes from reviews within twenty working days. During 2015-16, 84.6% of notes 
of reviews were sent out within 20 working days. 

4.9 Participation and Feedback from Children and Young People, Parents and Carers 

4.10 The IROs undertook an audit in February 2015 into how children and young 
people, parents and carers rated the Service and this informed the Team’s work 
plan. 
 The IROs worked with the Family Placement Team to introduce a feedback 

form for foster carers to contribute to Children in Care reviews and for the 
IROs to contribute to Foster Carers reviews. 

 Following on from Voice training, training set up by B&NES and offered to 
other local authorities to promote children’s participation in the summer of 
2015, a new ‘Lucky Dip’ sack was designed for use with younger children to 
help them ‘chair’ & participate in their review. The IRO who initiated this said:  
‘I have used these in a number of reviews for little children.  This was in 
response to the Participation training we had where the idea of a ‘Lucky 
Dip’/Picture card sack was suggested. The children love it.’

 Children and Young People are offered the opportunity to contribute to their 
review by completing a consultation form and to providing feedback 
afterwards. In 2015-16, 18 feedback forms were returned by children and 
young people and 96 by adults. Participants are asked to rate the service they 
receive from an IRO out of ten, ten being the highest score. The average for 
2015-16 was 8.41 down from an average score in 2014-15 of 9.35. This will 
need to be looked into in more detail and understood fully.

 These are some comments young people have made:
 Give more consideration towards my views / opinions
 I would only like to stay for a little bit of my review because I get easily 

bored and distracted and I think it’s better for the adults to have a chat 
instead of having to ask me questions as I get quite shy

Page 57



8

 Thank you for listening
 IRO rating: 100!!

 The Mobile App for phones and tablets, MOMO (Mind of My Own), was 
introduced in February 2016 and the IROs will help as many young people as 
possible to decide if this is their preferred method of feedback. Currently the 
uptake has been below ten children and this will be monitored over the course 
of the year.

 The IROs continue to ensure that children and young people understand the 
Local Authority’s Complaints Procedure and are supported to make a complaint 
by their IRO or Advocate. A total of five complaints and two representations 
were made by young people in 2015-16. None of these complaints were made 
about the IROs although members of the Team were interviewed as part of the 
Complaints process. 

4.11 At the six monthly report stage in November 2015, 78% of children and young 
people had participated in their own review. The data for participation for the 
year end is not available. The Advocacy Service provided by Off the Record 
reports that 221 Children in Care were contacted during 2015-16 and 46 were 
supported at their review by an advocate. 

4.12 The IROs met with Off the Record to address how they were working together 
and had some useful actions to take forward. They discussed how best to 
prepare young people for reviews; how to avoid duplication for children and 
young people and supporting the production of child friendly Care Plans. One of 
the IROs represents the Team on the ‘In Care Council’ Steering Group.

4.13 Health Assessments

4.14 Based on information provided by the Designated Nurse for Looked after 
Children, timeliness of completion of Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) within 28 
days of the child entering care (or 20 working days) has improved to 78% during 
the last quarter from January to March 2016. In quarter four 89% of the IHAs 
were completed within 28 days of notification from Children’s Social Care to the 
LAC Health Team that the child had entered a care placement. For quarter four, 
nine Initial Health Assessments were completed by paediatricians for B&NES 
children. Unfortunately there was late notification from Children’s Social Care for 
two out of the nine children. This had a negative impact on the timeliness of 
completion of the Initial Health Assessments as there were no available 
paediatricians’ clinics within the three weeks left of the recommended timescale.

4.15 The Designated Doctor and Designated Nurse for Children in Care meet 
regularly with the IROs about health assessments and health plans and are 
particularly concerned about young people who refuse health assessments and 
how these can be facilitated to help young people address their health issues 
and meet their health needs. The level of open communication between health 
and social care demonstrates an example of good practice. Since discussion 
with the IROs, the LAC Nurse has communicated regularly with the Social 
Workers of two young people who had declined health assessments. Both these 
young people have now agreed to see the LAC Nurse to address specific health 
needs for example, immunisation, though not consenting to a full health 

Page 58



9

assessment. These are two examples of recent co-working focussed on the 
Child in Care with the aim of improving specific health outcomes for the young 
people.

5. Areas of IRO Scrutiny and Monitoring 

5.1 The IRO Handbook outlines the role of the IRO in providing scrutiny and 
monitoring – Quality Assurance - to the Local Authority. This section focusses on 
issues that have emerged from the regular monitoring functions. 

5.2 Social Work reports on time
The six month IRO Report which was completed in October 2015, highlighted that 
52% of social work reports had not been signed off by Managers. This was raised 
at the IRO/Social Care Liaison Meeting in November 2015 and Children Social 
Care are addressing this, a progress update will be provided in October 2016 

5.3 Assessments, Care Plans and Pathway Plans 
The IROs have been providing feedback on this key issue to Service Managers in 
Children’s Social Care through the informal and formal issues resolution process, 
to the Divisional Director for Children and Young People’s Specialist and Targeted 
Services and in the IRO/Children’s Social Care Liaison Group. Progress on 
assessments is monitored in the Service Level Agreement with Children’s Social 
Care.  

5.4 Within the Children in Care and Moving on Team, 91.2% of Children in Care now 
have an up to date assessment. This is defined as an assessment which has been 
completed within the last two years and can include a Single Assessment, a 
Child’s Permanence Report, a Pathway Plan Needs Assessment, an Education 
Health Plan or a Sibling Together or Apart Assessment. The Service Manager for 
Children in Care Outcomes has advised that the remaining assessments will be 
updated imminently. 

5.5 Whilst there is significant improvement in this area of practice, the IROs continue 
to report that they have chaired reviews without up to date assessment. A dip 
sample was taken from reviews chaired in January to March 2016 and a total of 
29 were without an up to date assessment at that point. Many of these will be 
included in the 91.2% above. The IROs would also comment that the quality of 
assessments is not consistent and this issue has been shared in feedback at the 
IRO/Social Care Liaison meeting and with the Principal Social Worker. It would be 
useful to refresh the Assessment Policy on Tri-X (the Procedures Manual for 
Children’s Service staff) for assessments and to include risk assessments in this. 

5.6 All children under 16 have Care Plans. It is the IRO view that the quality of these is 
variable and very few children have said they have seen their Plan before their 
review. IRO’s have asked Children’s Social Care to provide Child Friendly Care 
Plans to all children and effort is being made to ensure this happens. The IROs 
will continue to monitor this. 

5.7 With the introduction of Liquid Logic (the new client record management system) 
there appears to be a gap in the recording process for Care Plans and Pathway 

Page 59



10

Plans for 16+ Children in Care. There is a potential concern that the Local 
Authority is therefore not fully meeting the Care Planning Regulations 2010 in all 
cases however the IROs and Children Social Care are aware of this. 

5.8 Permanence Planning
 
5.9 At a child’s first review, Permanence options will be discussed with a clear 

expectation that a Permanence Plan will be completed by the next review held at 
three months. The legal duty is that there is an achievable plan of permanence 
available by the 4th month of the care episode. 

5.10 Since the Annual Report 2014-15, Children’s Social Care has established a 
permanency tracker which monitors the permanence planning for Children in 
Care. This is a useful and welcome development. 

5.11 The IROs view is represented at the Permanence Panel by the Social Worker for 
the child whose duty it will be to consult with the IRO and represent their views at 
the Panel. The IRO is advised by email of any decision or outcomes and the 
Panel does not produce a Plan in written form. It is then often incumbent on the 
IRO to document and detail the plan in the Review and to use language that the 
parents and child will understand. If it were set out in a written form, this would 
be clearer for all parties and parents would be more informed and involved. This 
system would benefit from being more robust and a Policy would support this. 

5.12 Working with Children who are subject to Court Proceedings

5.13 The IROs have led work to establish a Protocol between Children’s Social Care, 
Legal and Democratic Services and IROs to make sure there is a clear policy for 
IROs to endorse Court Care Plans. This Protocol was agreed and disseminated 
in February 2016. 

5.14 The Protocol will be reviewed at six months and the IROs look forward to seeing 
progress on this key piece of work. 

5.15 The Head of Safeguarding and the Deputy Safeguarding Lead met with the Head 
of Legal and Democratic Services to discuss the need for IROs to have access 
to independent legal advice in the summer of 2015. As a result of this meeting 
there is confidence that this will be available if requested and a formal process 
will be written.  

5.16 Placements for 16-17 Year olds. 
        Whilst the Local Authority is meeting its Sufficiency Duty in terms of sufficient 

numbers of placements for this age range, some placements for 16-17 year olds 
put into question whether the accommodation meets their needs. The IROs have 
raised examples of 16-17 year olds in unregulated placements which need closer 
monitoring. The LSCB Children in Care Quality Assurance Sub Group will audit a 
sample of these cases at the IROs request in July 2016. 

5.17 Services for traumatised and abused children

Page 60



11

The IROs continue to observe that there are limited services for our most 
traumatised and abused children in terms of therapeutic services. This has been 
raised in a number of previous Annual Reports and is a countrywide issue for 
Children in Care. The IROs are aware that the universal Strengths and 
Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) system is in place for our Children in Care in 
B&NES and are keen to look in more depth at the impact of the SDQ on 
informing individual services for children and young people. 

6. Quality Assurance and Feedback to Children’s Social Care 

6.1 As stated previously the IRO Handbook outlines the role of the IRO in providing 
scrutiny and monitoring – Quality Assurance - to the Local Authority. Aside from 
the daily tasks and expectations outlined in the IRO Handbook, which includes 
feedback from reviews and monitoring cases in-between, the IROs have the 
following mechanisms for providing the quality assurance function. They are
 Monthly feedback provided to the Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and 

Quality Assurance for the Service Level Agreement Report  
 Attendance at the Children in Care Quality Assurance Sub Group of the LSCB
 Input to the IRO/Social Care Liaison Meeting (a quarterly meeting) 
 Audit activity 

6.2 The IROs have strengthened their role in quality assurance and have done this by:
 Highlighting information from audits undertaken in the year, made 

recommendations for changes and monitored the progress on these
 Raising concerns and challenges; these  have been presented to Social 

workers and their Managers and the impact of these is being monitored
 Continuing auditing via the LSCB  multi-agency Children in Care Quality 

Assurance Sub Group

6.3 Audits: Since the last Annual Report, the IROs have conducted an audit which is 
referenced in paragraph 3.11 of this Report. This was a substantial piece of work 
which reviewed 20 cases of children placed out of county. A full list of 
recommendations was outlined in the Report and several have already been 
actioned since the audit was undertaken in December 2015. 

6.4 Feedback to Children’s Social Care

6.5 The IROs feed back to Social Workers and Team Managers regularly as part of 
their monitoring function as outlined in the IRO Handbook. Their footprint is 
extensive and often in the course of daily monitoring, informal and formal 
challenges are also raised. By the end of Quarter 2, the IROs had made 20 direct 
challenges, formal and informal. Since the new case recording system has been 
implemented, the team have been unable to log the data on challenges and a 
request has been made to ensure this can be amended so that this information 
can be used effectively. 

6.6 There is still work to do within the team and with colleagues in Children’s Social 
Care on how we progress and quality assure challenge consistently. The Team 

Page 61



12

need to be assured that they will receive responses to challenges and that they 
are able to evidence the impact for Children in Care.

6.7 The IROs continued to provide monthly feedback to the Divisional Director for 
Children and Young People’s Specialist and Targeted Services which is a collation 
of themes and specific issues which have occurred during that month. In January 
2016, the decision was made to submit this information as a report which will go 
directly to the Service Level Agreement with Children’s Social Care and assist in 
monitoring the service to Children in Care more widely. The first six month Report 
will be submitted in July 2016.

6.8 During the course of the year, feedback has been provided to the Deputy 
Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality Assurance and the Divisional Director for 
Children’s Specialist and Targeted Services on the following categories. The table 
below provides highlights provided from the substantive members of staff within 
the Team during the year. 

Feedback Number 
of times 
raised

1) Cases where assessment is not up to date.  Care / Pathway Plan is 
missing.  Child / parents / carers do not have copies of Care Plan

45

2) Plans that do not show progress and where agreed actions from 
reviews have not been followed through

16

3) CIC cases where practice and/or decision making causes concern 17
4) Concern about the speed at which the Permanency Plan is being 
progressed?

10

5) Cases which demonstrate good practice and drive forward the Care 
Plan

34

6) Cases where equality and diversity are not sufficiently addressed in 
the Care Plan

10

6.9 Since the 2014-15 Annual Report the IROs conducted one thematic audit and the 
have contributed to the multi-agency audits for the Children in Care Quality 
Assurance Sub Group (CICQASG). The CICQASG is chaired by the Deputy 
Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality Assurance and it became a formal 
LSCB Sub Group in September 2015. Progress with additional thematic audits 
has not been possible due to capacity this year and the team will endeavour to 
undertake auditing activity in August 2016. 

6.10 As a result of their Quality Assurance functions, the IROs have made a difference 
in the following ways: 

 They have continued to highlight issues about assessments for children and 
young people being updated and monitored

 They have raised concerns about the quality of assessments and risk 
assessments

 They have led the development production of  a protocol for children in court 
proceedings to ensure their plan is endorsed by an IRO  

Page 62



13

 They have appropriately raised issues for children out of the immediate area
 They have raised issues continually on a case-by-case basis to ensure the 

local authority is meeting the needs of the child

7. Review of  Priorities for 2015-16

1. The Team will continue to contribute to the Self-Assessment group and ensure 
that their work is contributing to preparations for an Inspection.  The Team have 
been unable to maintain membership of this group and will review their 
participation with the Director and Head of Safeguarding. 

2. The IROs will continue to develop and consolidate its quality assurance 
functions and deliver a consistent service in line with the IRO Handbook, the 
NAIRO Toolkit, and the Resolution Protocol with Children’s Social Care and will 
be committed to developing a culture that drives forward all plans for children 
and young people in care. This is ongoing and is a fundamental principle to the 
work and culture of the Team.

3. The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Team will work with the Head of 
Legal Services to consolidate a permanent arrangement for IROs to receive 
Independent Legal Advice as outlined in the IRO Handbook. A meeting has 
been held with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services and this is being 
progressed.

4. The IROs will increase the quality of participation of children and young people 
in their Reviews, including enabling young people and children to chair their 
own reviews. This work is developing following the delivery of training by 
VOICE. The IROs have encouraged young people to chair their own reviews 
and have started to collect data on this which will be reported in the six monthly 
report in September 2016. IROs played a key part in identifying the MOMO app 
and promoting it as a good initiative for B&NES.

5. The IROs will increase the ways in which young people are enabled to feel 
confident to make complaints. This is an ongoing action that the Team are 
committed to. 

6. The IROs will build and maintain a commitment to ensuring the individual needs 
of children and young people are met in the reviewing process, using the 
learning from training planned for May 2015. Training took place. 

7. With Children’s Social Care the IROs will monitor progress on updating 
assessments for Children in Care. This is reflected in the body of the report. 
The IROs have provided feedback on the quality of assessment to the Principal 
Social Worker.  

8. The IROs will continue to monitor Care Plans and Pathway Plans and report 
the progress to the Leadership Team and the LSCB. This is reflected in the 
body of the report

9. The IROs will continue to seek clarity for children on Section 20 on short breaks 
who may require health and education plans. This action will need to progress 
in line with SEND implementation and the use of Education, Health and care 
Plans

Page 63



14

8. Priorities for 2016-17

1. The IROs will develop a consistency of practice in relation to the processes 
they follow, recording of reviews and how the voice of the child and adult is 
reflected in review minutes.

2. The IROs will contribute to the Quality Assurance Framework which is being 
developed by the Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance.  

3. The IROs have established a required set of reports from the case recording 
system which will enable the service to establish a performance management 
framework and will continue to work with colleagues to ensure these reporting 
mechanisms are available on the system.

4. The IROs will continue to monitor the progress of assessments in children and 
young people’s reviews and will reference agreed target dates. 

5. The IROs will review the Resolution Protocol with Children’s Social Care and 
clarify the process for feedback on issues raised at all levels. 

6. The IROs will meet the Advocacy Service on a regular basis.
7. The IROs will review progress with SDQs for Children in Care and feed any 

relevant information to the CICQASG or Children’s Specialist Commissioners. 
8. The IROs will contribute to the additional Policies which have been suggested 

in this report on Assessment (including risk assessment) and Permanence. 
9. The Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality Assurance will work with 

other IRO Managers to establish a comparable system for weighting cases and 
the numbers of reviews being undertaken per area. This will help demonstrate 
in more detail the quantity of work the IROs undertake. 

10. The IROs will ensure that minutes are sent out to children and young people in 
a timely manner. 

11. There is a significant proportion of BME children and young people in care and 
the reasons for this need to be looked at with Early Help colleagues and the 
Children’s Social Care Duty Team. The IROs will champion this group of 
children and young people. 

12. The IROs and Court Protocol will be reviewed. 
13. The IROs will review the Care Planning Regulations 2015 and, in partnership 

with Children’s Social Care, consider any changes to practice. 
14. The IROs will work alongside the In Care Council and Shout Out to ensure the 

Voice of the Child is central to the reviewing process and the service is 
responsive to what they are telling us. The IROS will use feedback from 
children and young people to refine the service. 

Page 64



Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE:

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE: 

13th September 2016

TITLE: Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 and 
Business Plan 2015-18

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Attachment 1: LSCB Annual Report 2015-16 
Attachment 2: LSCB Annual Report 2015-16 Executive Summary
Attachment 3: Business Plan 2015-18

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the 
work of the Local Safeguarding Children Board during 2015-16 and the priorities 
for 2016-17 work programme along with further areas to be actioned during 2017 
- 18. 

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Proposal 1: Note the Annual Report, Executive Summary and Business Plan.

2.2 Proposal 2: Raise any queries or concerns on safeguarding activity.

2.3 Proposal 3: Recommend areas you would like the LSCB to give consideration to.

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

3.1 The LSCB is funded through multi-agency partners; the budget is set out in 
Appendix 3 of the report. Whilst the 2015-16 multi-agency budget is in credit the 
Board needs to be aware that this is non-recurring credit and that it will be 
significantly reduced in 2016-17 due to funding a Serious Case Review and 
reduced contributions by some partners. 

3.2 The LSCB Chair in his Foreword and in the Executive Summary has 
acknowledged this by stating: ‘Public finances continue to be pressured across 
every agency associated with the LSCB. I am mindful of the substantial pressure 
to reduce contributions both financial and in terms of people, to the LSCB by 

Page 65

Agenda Item 12



Printed on recycled paper

member agencies. I wish to record my appreciation of those agencies that have 
resisted the temptation to withdraw resources.’ (p4 and p8)

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

4.1 The LSCB is a Statutory Body. The LSCB has made it a requirement of its  
Terms of Reference (reviewed in June 2015) to share the LSCB Annual Report 
and work programme with the Scrutiny Panel as it values the input that will be 
provided and would like to share its work with the widest audience.  

4.2 The Panel is advised to also note that the Government has published its 
response to the recommendations of a national review of the work of LSCBs and 
the arrangements for Serious Case Reviews, conducted by Alan Wood, a former 
Director of Children’s Services. Their response is likely to prompt significant 
changes in the way that LSCBs function and how SCRs are conducted. These 
changes will be subject to future legislation and new statutory guidance. (page 3 
Annual Report).

5 THE REPORT

5.1 The Panel are asked to consider the information provided in the LSCB Annual 
Report 2015-16; the Executive Summary and the Business Plan.

5.2 The report follows a similar format to last year and benefits from a separate 
Executive Summary which is being reproduced in a child friendly version; the 
Executive Summary highlights the key areas the LSCB want to promote. 

5.3 The Report looks at the following areas:

 the current context for B&NES and how safe children and young people are

 an update on changes to national and local policy frameworks – the most 
significant of which for 2015-16 include a focus on Female Genital 
Mutilation, Modern Slavery and radicalisation (Prevent duty guidance). 
There has also been a new Joint Targeted Area Inspection Framework 
introduced by Ofsted which the LSCB has considered and undertaken a 
preparation workshop on July 2016.

 the Boards governance arrangements and relationships with other Boards 
and Committees 

 the work of the sub-groups and the achievements during the year

 the support and case activity that has taken place during the year and 
compares this with national data where available

 delivery of the 2015-16 work programme and priorities for 2016 – 18

 partner reports on individual agencies safeguarding practice

 Finally the joint working and streamlining of LSCB and Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board work – this has been a focus during the year.

Page 66



Printed on recycled paper

6 RATIONALE

6.1 To raise awareness of the work of the LSCB and to provide assurance that the LSCB 
have appropriate mechanisms in place to safeguarding children and young people in 
B&NES and those B&NES children and young people who are placed out of area. 

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None

8 CONSULTATION

8.1 The LSCB has consulted all partners on the content of the Annual Report 2015 – 
16 and Business Plan 2015-18 at its meeting in June 2016. The partners have 
included their activity in Appendix 5 of the Report. The LSCB is sharing this 
report with the Health and Wellbeing Board as well.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT

9.1 The LSCB has developed its own Risk Register in 2016-18 which is available to 
share with the Early Years, Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel if 
requested.

Contact person Lesley Hutchinson 

Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance

Lesley_hutchinson@bathnes.gov.uk

Dami Howard

LSCB and LSAB Business Support Manager

Dami_Howard@bathnes.gov.uk

Background 
papers

Please see the LSCB web pages for any national and local 
policies and procedures
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-
families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 67

mailto:Lesley_hutchinson@bathnes.gov.uk
mailto:Dami_Howard@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 2015 – 2016 

and 

Business Plan 2015 - 2018 

Page 69



2 

 

 

Page 70



3 

 

 

 
 

 
 
I am delighted to welcome you to this Annual Report of the work of 
the Bath and North East Somerset Local Safeguarding Children 
Board. The 12 months from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016 has 
been an exciting time in the development of our work and the way 
that all of the member agencies collaborate. This is reflected in the 
following pages. 

 
News stories about child abuse and the way in which an individual or 
an organisation has failed a child or a vulnerable adult are rarely 
absent from the national media. Whilst these often prompt useful 
debates about what should be changed, they rarely if ever highlight 
the extent to which abuse occurs in every locality. Regrettably at local 
levels, a belief persists that abuse is rare and that when it occurs, 
strangers commit it. These are myths. Many adults and children die 
and many more suffer irreversible harm at the hands of their own 
family or those whom society believes are best placed to care for 
them. This said, we continue to coordinate work to tackle the risks to 
children presented by the predatory activities of paedophiles, of child 
sexual exploitation, bullying, poor emotional health and radicalisation. 
Most importantly, we strive to listen to children and young people as 
we develop our thinking. 

 
In addressing the risks of neglect, abuse and poor outcomes for children, I would point out the continued 
priority of the Board’s efforts in support of early help and prevention.  The data indicates that the support 
needs of many children and families are met early enough to reduce the likelihood of child protection 
arrangements.  Furthermore, there is strong evidence that children’s lives have improved because of this 
early and focused work. 
 
Critical to the effective functioning of the LSCB is the work of our Sub Groups. Delivery of the LSCB 
Priorities and its Business Plan relies upon their effectiveness in translating aspiration into action. The 
products of their work are reported later in this document and it should be evident that these result from 
considerable hard work and dedication on the part of all involved. Through their efforts, the LSCB 
continues to receive assurance across a broad range of issues, policies advice and guidance is 
continuously updated and practice improvements made. 
 
I am especially delighted with the response to our recent assessment of the effectiveness of safeguarding 
in schools. Every school in Bath and North East Somerset responded and thus far, our analysis of the 
data provided indicates that they all take safeguarding very seriously and that appropriate arrangements 
are in place. Later this year, members of the LSCB will be triangulating the data by visiting a sample 
selection of schools. 
 
Last year I was appointed as the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board. Together with 
members of both Boards I have been exploring opportunities for closer collaboration and recently we have 
launched a pilot of a joint training sub group serving both. I hope to report the outcome of this new 
initiative next year. In the meantime we will continue to explore effective ways to join up the work across 
both Boards. 
 
Chairs of LSCBs across the Bristol and Avon Authority areas meet regularly to discuss common themes. 
We have been exploring the means to work on shared concerns across LSCB boundaries. More locally, 
B&NES LSCB has been discussing the prospect of closer collaboration on the theme of Sexual 
Exploitation with colleagues in North Somerset LSCB. I hope to report the outcome of this in our next 
Annual Report. In this regard, I am mindful that the Government has published its response to the 
recommendations of a national review of the work of LSCBs and the arrangements for Serious Case 
Reviews, conducted by Alan Wood, a former Director of Children’s Services. Their response is likely to 
prompt significant changes in the way that LSCBs function and how SCRs are conducted. These changes 
will be subject to future legislation and new statutory guidance. 
 

Chair’s Foreword 

Page 71



4 

 

 

Public finances continue to be pressured across every agency associated with the LSCB. I am mindful of 
the substantial pressure to reduce contributions both financial and in terms of people, to the LSCB by 
member agencies. I wish to record my appreciation of those agencies that have resisted the temptation to 
withdraw resources. It is essential, now more than ever that the LSCB continues to monitor and coordinate 
safeguarding and protection for the most vulnerable in our communities. 
 

 
 
Reg Pengelly 
Independent Chair 
Bath & North East Somerset LSCB 
 

Page 72



5 

 

 

 
 

 

 

The LSCB has agreed an Executive Summary of the 2015-16 Annual Report which has been 

published as a separate document covering the following areas: 

 

 The role of the LSCB 

 The Sub-Groups of the LSCB 

 LSCB Stakeholder Day 

 Outcomes 

 Engagement with Children & Young People 

 

The Executive summary is available on the LSCB website 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-

safeguarding-children-board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 

Page 73

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board


6 

 

 

  

 

Contents Page 

Chair’s Foreword ................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary  ………………………………………………………………………………. 5 

Section 1: Local Context for B&NES 2015 – 16 …………………………………………… 8 

Section 2: Summary Statement: How Safe Are Children and Young People 

in B&NES ………………………………………………………………………….. 8 

Section 3: Updates on the Legislative and Statutory Framework during 2015 - 16 …. … 10   

Section 4: Non-statutory Guidance and Reports Which Influence and  Inform 

Safeguarding Arrangements …………………………………………………… 12 

Section 5: Significant Local Events and Response …………………………………….... 16 

Section 6: The Interface with Other Boards and Committees …………………………... 16 

Section 7: Governance and Accountability ……………………………………………….. 18 

Section 8: LSCB Sub Group Achievements and Priorities ……………………………… 20 

Section 9: Other Relevant Work and Achievements …………………………………….. 29 

Section 10: Local Arrangements …………………………………………………………….. 44 

Section 11: Summary of Activity in Relation to the Support and Interventions 

Provided for Children and Young People …………………………………….. 46 

Section 12: External Assessments ………………………………………………………….. 58 

Section 13: Priorities for 2016 - 17 and Beyond …………………………………………… 59 

Section 14: Essential Information …………………………………………………………… 60 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: LSCB Terms of Reference …………………………………………………….. 61 

Appendix 2: LSCB Members and Attendance 2015 - 16 …………………………………. 62 

Appendix 3: Budget 2015 - 16 ……………………………………………………………….. 69 

Appendix 4: Training Information ……………………………………………………………. 70 

Appendix 5: Partner Reports ………………………………………………………………… 95 

Appendix 6: B&NES LSAB / LSCB JOINT WORKING 2015- 2016 …………………….. 121 

Appendix 7: LSCB Business Plan outturn 2015 -16 ……………………………………… 125 

Appendix 8:     LSCB Business Plan 2015-18 ……………………………………………….. 125 

Page 74



7 

 

 

Tables 
 
1. Number of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan on 31st March by Year ………..  51 

2. Lengths of Time Children are Subject to Child Protection Plan at Time of Plan Closure  53 

3. Rate per 10,000 Population of Looked After Children ……………………………………… 55 
 

 
Diagrams 
 

           LSCB structure………………………………………………………………………………….. 19 
 

1. Number of Common Assessments (CAFs) by Year and Quarter …………………………. 47 

2. Number of Contacts per Month 2014 – 16…………………………………………………… 48 
 
3. Number of Referrals per Month (contacts which progress to single assessment) ………. 49 
 
4. Breakdown of Children in Need by Age and Gender ……………………………………….  50 

5. Percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 days of the start of the 

section 47 Enquiries which led to a Conference …………………………………………….  51 

6. Number of Children and Young People on a Child Protection Plan by Age and Period … 52 

7. Recorded Categories of Abuse at Initial and Latest Child Protection Plan 2015 – 16 …… 53 

8. Number of Looked After Children at End of Quarter ………………………………………... 54 

9.  Gender Breakdown of Looked After Children ………………………………………………..  55 

10. Ethnicity of Children in Care as at 31.03.16 …………………………………………………. 56 

11. Breakdown of Legal Status of Looked After Children at 31.03.16 ………………………… 57 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 75



8 

 

 

 
 

1.1 Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) is a Unitary Authority with just over 182,000 
residents. According to the 2014 ONS Mid-Year Population Estimates 16.6% 
(30,300) of the population are 15 years or under, and that 5.9% (10,792) are 16 - 19 
year olds. 

1.2 The area has a predominantly White and White British ethnic population, with 
93% defining themselves as such. The largest minority ethnic groups in the area 
are those who define themselves as mixed heritage (4%) and Black (2%).  9% of 
children under 18 are from BME communities. 

1.3 Bath is the largest urban settlement in the area, acting as the commercial and 
recreational centre. It is home to approximately 50% of the population and is one of 
the few cities in the world to be named a UNESCO World Heritage Site. Keynsham 
lies to the west of Bath, a traditional market town with a population of almost 9% of 
the total population of B&NES. Midsomer Norton and Norton Radstock are small 
historic market towns, located in the south of the area with approximately 12% of 
the total population split between them. They both have a strong heritage of mining 
and industry stemming from the North Somerset Coalfield. The rest of the district 
consists of 69 diverse rural communities of varying sizes and characteristics, 
including a line of villages along the foothills of the Mendips, the Chew Valley and 
Cotswolds villages around Bath.  

1.4 The area has a mix of affluent and deprived areas, with four small areas being in the 
most deprived 20% nationally according to the 2015 Indices of Deprivation. An 
estimated 11% of children live in poverty, compared to 18% in the UK. Rates vary 
significantly within local authority wards, with levels ranging from 4% to 28%.  

1.5 As at 21st January 2016 there were 895 children and young people with a Statement 
or EHC Plan normally resident in B&NES. 

 

1.6 B&NES schools perform well overall and have a higher than average number of 
pupils locally attending good or outstanding schools. Across the Authority pupils’ 
achievement is at least in line or above the national and region averages. However, 
the gap in performance of pupils eligible for Free School Meals is significant and 
narrowing this gap is a shared local priority to improve outcomes and ensure equality 
of life chances for our children and young people. 

 

 

2.1 Like many other Local Authorities (LAs), in B&NES we have seen a rise in CP activity 

with an increase from 109 children on a CP plan on 31st March 2015 to 151 at 31 

March 2016. Work is ongoing to scrutinise decision-making and ensure that plans are 

effectively actioned and reviewed. It is encouraging that there has been a reduction in 

re-referrals within 12 months of the closure of a plan; and that less than 1% of plans 

have been in place for over two years. 

2.2 There has been some reduction in the number of CAFs – but there is a pragmatic 

approach to use of alternative assessments and data on successful outcomes from 

CAFs is encouragingly positive, with a low rate of conversion to CP referrals. 

2.3 Overall rates of contacts and referrals to children’s social care have remained steady. 

2.4 At the end of March 2015 there were 580 Children In Need and 149 Looked After. 

Section 1: Local Context for B&NES 2015 - 16 

Section 2: Summary Statement: How Safe Are Children 

and Young People in B&NES 

Page 76



9 

 

 

2.5 The LSCB has also: 

a) Welcomed both a primary and secondary head teacher to the Board where 

they have made a valuable contribution. 

b) Further strengthened the links between the LSCB and the Local Safeguarding 

Adults Board (LSAB) through having the same independent chair for both 

Boards and the appointment of a joint Business Manager for both Boards. 

c) Undertaken section 11 themed audits of CSE and of training. 

d) Developed the Board’s risk register and progressed a new web-site which will 

be shared with the LSAB and is due to go live in 2016-17. 

e) Adopted the local Early Help Strategy. 

f) Worked to support the implementation of the multi-agency Willow Project 

working with young people at risk of CSE locally. 

g) Organised an annual stakeholder event in January 2016. The focus was on 

CSE and this event with powerful dramatisation received overwhelmingly 

positive feedback. In addition to this we held a development workshop for all 

partners on FGM and progressed joint working with the LSAB. We have also 

provided a number of training sessions on PREVENT in partnership with the 

Community Safety team and the LSAB. 

h) Continued to undertake multi-agency audits. The Professional Practice sub- 

group now takes a themed focus and cases are debated by a range of   

agencies/ professionals. Learning is shared with managers and good practice 

is recognised through letters of appreciation to individuals who have 

contributed to positive outcomes. The Chair of this group is an independent 

consultant from Barnardo’s. 

i) Updated a range of policies, training and guidance in accordance with the 

requirements of Working Together 2015 and developed more robust systems 

for monitoring dissemination of policies and procedures. 

j) Challenged Children’s Social Care services on the categorisation of CP Plans – 

given a high proportion identified as Emotional Abuse and very low numbers 

under Sexual Abuse. Audit work has led to action planning and improvements 

in practice in this area, although it remains under scrutiny. 

k) Used a 360 degree feedback system to feed back on the performance of the 

Independent Chair with an annual multi-agency ‘Challenge and Review’ Panel.  

l) Endorsed the initiation of a significant safeguarding investigation relating to a 

local primary school, following an unprecedented volume of concerns voiced 

by parents and others. 

 
2.6 The LSCB faces a number of current and future Challenges/Areas for Development: 

a) In accordance with other LSCBs the resourcing and financing of the Board 

remains tight and pressured. All partner agencies experience similar pressures 

on funding, and organisational change creates the potential for additional 

pressures if funding is determined at a national or sub-regional level rather than 

recognising historic local contributions. This will require ongoing monitoring and 

management. 

b) Recruitment and retention of social work staff remains a challenge, although 

B&NES generally fares better than many authorities. A range of initiatives has 

been put in place by the service to mitigate this. 
Page 77



10 

 

 

c) We welcome the current Ofsted focus on the quality of LSCBs and their role in 

challenging partner agencies to work more closely when addressing 

Safeguarding issues. However, the uncertainty of timing of an inspection and 

the multiple and evolving inspection frameworks brings an additional pressure 

to the capacity of Board members alongside a full and packed agenda. 

d) Ongoing work to develop and implement a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub for 

children and adults. 

e) Working across boundaries in collaboration with other agencies responding to 

CSE activity and prosecutions/SCRs. 
 

 
 

 

3.1  The 2014-15 LSCB Annual Report contains a list of all the relevant and most 

significant Acts, guidance and reports provided by Ofsted, Department of Health 

(DH) and the Department for Education (DfE) that shape and instruct our work in 

safeguarding children and young people. Section 3 of this report focusses only on 

the new Acts and guidance which have been published during 2015-16.  

 

3.2  In July 2015 the DfE consulted on a proposal for introducing Joint targeted 

reviews of services to protect children. The final position in response to the 

proposal is awaited however the proposal is set out below: 
  

‘Section 20 of the Children Act 2004 allows any two or more of the persons and bodies 

listed in that section to conduct a review of children’s services, in accordance with 

arrangements made by Ofsted. Ofsted, the Care Quality Commission, the Chief Inspector 

of Constabulary and Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Probation for England and Wales 

are listed in section 20. The purpose of a review under section 20 is to evaluate the extent 

to which, taken together, the children’s services being reviewed improve the well-being of 

children and, in particular, to evaluate how those services work together to improve well-

being. The JAR Regulations make provision for the purpose of such joint reviews. They 

ensure that the persons and bodies listed in section 20 have sufficient powers to conduct 

a review.’ (DfE webpage). 

 

3.3 Ofsted produced a number of changes to education inspections which were shared in 

September 2015, for example introducing a common inspection framework for all early 

years settings on the Early Years Register. The new arrangements are set out in The 

common inspection framework: education, skills and early years from 

September 2015; however there are additional supporting documents such as 

handbooks for each specific setting which can be found at their website.  

 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/changes-to-education-inspection-from-september-2015 

 

There is specific guidance published in safeguarding Inspecting safeguarding in early 

years, education and skills from September 2015. 
 

3.4 There have been a number of additional documents provided in relation to ‘Prevent’. 

DfE produced further guidance on prevent, Protecting children from radicalisation: 

the prevent duty (July 2015 further updated August 2015). The guidance sets out the 

Section 3: Updates on the Legislative and Statutory 

Framework during 2015 - 16 

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/changes-to-education-inspection-from-september-2015


11 

 

 

‘prevent duty’ for schools and childcare providers on preventing children and young 

people from being ‘drawn into terrorism’ in the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 

(February 2015). Further information is available on the website and through several 

other sections in this report you will note how the LSCB and Council have responded to 

this. 

  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-
prevent-duty  There is also a guide on social media The use of social media for 
online radicalisation which is available to help schools. 

 

In addition there is a revised Prevent duty guidance: for England and Wales; 

Prevent duty guidance: for further education institutions in England and Wales 

(this was issued in July 2015 and came into effect September 2015). The guidance sets 

out how specified authorities are to comply with the Prevent duty and was issued under 

Section 29 of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015. The Home Office are 

promoting free e-learning at https://www.elearning.prevent.homeoffice.gov.uk/  This has 

been shared with the LSCB and with the workforce. 

 

3.5 Female Genital Mutilation has remained high on the agenda throughout the year and 

the Home Office produced Mandatory reporting for female genital mutilation 

procedural information (2015) this ‘gives health and social care professionals, teacher 

and the police information on their responsibilities under the mandatory guidance which 

came into force 31st October 2015.’(Home Office website). It sets out how to report, 

what happens once the report is made and what happens regarding failure to comply 

with the duty. The Health and Social Care Information Centre also have in place the 

new FGM Risk Information System (RIS) which is mandatory for health professionals to 

complete and includes information on: 

- An indicator that a girl is potentially at risk of FGM; 

- The date that the FGM safeguarding risk assessment was carried out; and 

- The date the FGM risk indicator was added on to the system 

 

As with Prevent, you will see later in the report the work which has been undertaken 

with regard to FGM. 

 

3.6  During February and March 2016 the Home Office and DfE consulted on a proposal to 

change the statutory definition of child sexual exploitation. We await the outcome of 

the consultation and once received local policies will be an amendment to include this.  

 

3.7 The Home Office has launched The Child Abuse Image Database (CAID) (November 

2015). All the UK territorial police forces and the National Crime Agency are connected 

to this and it supports UK wide information sharing. 

 

3.8 Following the Modern Slavery Act (2015) Government departments including the Home 

Office, Department of Health and UK Visas and Immigration have published a number 

of reports and guidance notes to support the work in relation to this, for example: 

 

- Guidance on Slavery and Trafficking Prevention Orders and Slavery and 

Trafficking Risk Orders under Part 2 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (Home 

Office July 2015). This is statutory guidance and sets out how the two new civil 

orders in the Act STPOs and STROs are implemented and what the police, National 

Crime Agency and Immigration Officers can do via the court to restrict ‘behaviours 

and activities of a person who poses a risk of committing slavery or trafficking 

offences’ (Home Office website). 
Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-children-from-radicalisation-the-prevent-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-use-of-social-media-for-online-radicalisation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-use-of-social-media-for-online-radicalisation
https://www.elearning.prevent.homeoffice.gov.uk/


12 

 

 

- Transparency in supply chains: a practical guide (Home Office October 2015). 

This is statutory guidance requires certain organisation to produce a statement 

setting out what they have done to ensure slavery and human trafficking is not 

happening in their business or supply chains.  

- Identifying and supporting victims of modern slavery: guidance for health 

staff (DH April 2013, updated November 2015).  This guidance sets out what 

actions healthcare staff need to take if they suspect someone is a victim. 

- Victims of modern slavery: guidance for frontline staff (UK Visas and 

Immigration, October 2013 updated March 2016) revised guidance document setting 

out how this service can identify and support victims. This guidance sets out the 

legal framework for assisting with young people where there are concerns about 

involvement in modern slavery, as well as making clear the links between modern 

slavery and the sexual and criminal exploitation of young people.  

 

 

 

 
 

4.1     The section outlines a number of non-statutory guidance reports published during the 
period to help practitioners, commissioners and LSCBs. It is not an exhaustive list. The 
LSCB await the outcome of the Government review of LSCBs by Alan Wood which is 
now due in the autumn. The Board acknowledges the NSPCC Information Service's 
CASPAR email as the source for much of the following information. 

 
4.2      Local transformation plans for child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) 

have been published as part of the government's commitment to improving mental 
health services for children and young people, NHS England have asked Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to make local transformation plans for child and 
adolescent mental health services. CCGs are required to involve partners, including 
local authorities, schools and colleges, in these plans, as this will provide an opportunity 
to influence local mental health provision. (Published August 2015 by NHS England) 

 
4.3     Ofsted (December 2015) published its state of the nation picture on foster care. The 

main findings include the fact that more children were recorded as missing from 
placements and going missing more often. 5,055 children went missing in 2014-15, an 
increase of 19% on the previous year. Fostering in England 1 April 2014 to 31 March 
2015 In July 2015 they also updated their Safeguarding children and young people 
and young vulnerable adults policy which sets out how they respond to concerns 
about safeguarding. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-safeguarding-
policy 

 
4.4     The National Child and Maternal Health Intelligence Network published in December 

2015 a needs assessment report. It brings together data and evidence on mental health 
in the antenatal and postnatal periods, as well the social development and wellbeing of 
babies and toddlers. The report can be used to inform local needs assessment by 
giving commissioners an indication of perinatal and infant mental health need in their 
area.  

 
4.5      In November 2015 the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Oxford published a 

guide for parents on coping with their child's self-harm which is based on their in-depth 
research with parents. Coping with self harm: a guide for parents and carers (PDF) 

  

Section 4: Non-statutory Guidance and Reports Which 

Influence and Inform Safeguarding Arrangements 

Page 80

http://email.education.gov.uk/rsps/m/DoVW6MRLF05c7Tcqe_B_YVgsOlhfViNr4J6xUF4RRaU
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2014-to-31-march-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2014-to-31-march-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-safeguarding-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-safeguarding-policy
http://www.psych.ox.ac.uk/news/new-guide-for-parents-who-are-coping-with-their-child2019s-self-harm-2018you-are-not-alone2019/coping-with-self-harm-guide.pdf


13 

 

 

4.6      Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in December 2015 published the 
report of their inspection into the police response to honour-based violence (HBV), 
forced marriage and female genital mutilation. In it they express concern that there is, 
as yet, no strong evidence base on what works in policing to prevent harm to and 
protect victims of HBV. The depths of dishonour: hidden voices and shameful crimes 
(PDF) 

 
4.7     HMIC has published a report on the police response to missing children. Highlights include 

the inconsistencies in risk assessment and provision of support, the fact that information is 
not always shared effectively and that awareness should be raised amongst officers and 
staff. Children and young people’s perspectives on the police’s role in safeguarding: a report 
for Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies (PDF) (March 2016) and Missing children: 
who cares? (PDF) (March 2016) 

 

 
4.8     The Department for Education have published a number of documents including: 

- research into how local authorities support children who return home from care and 
their   families. Department for Education (December 2015) 

- a report looking at the findings from an analysis of local authority files containing 
special guardianship orders. Department for Education (December 2015) 

 
4.9     The government announced a package of measures to help keep children safe online. 

These include: a UKCiSS guide to help parents keep their children safe online; updated 
content on CEOP's Thinkuknow website; and new industry-led initiatives to help 
children be safe online. (December 2015) Child online safety: a practical guide for 
parents and carers whose children are using social    media (PDF); Child safety online: 
a practical guide for providers of social media and interactive services  (PDF);  

        Thinkuknow  
        Google's Internet Legends tour  
        NSPCC's Keeping children safe online course  
 

4.10    Independent child trafficking advocates trial: government report published by the 
Home Office (December 2015) reports on the trial of independent child trafficking 
advocates and next steps. 

 
4.11    A National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) poll found that 62% of 

teachers felt able to identify behaviour that could be linked to mental health issues. Yet 
only 32% felt they received appropriate training to identify mental health difficulties in 
pupils. (January 2016)  Young Minds  and NFER Teacher Voice Omnibus: questions for 
the Department for Education (PDF) 

          
4.12   The Education Secretary announced a package of measures to protect children from 

extremism. These include: a website for parents and teachers offering advice on 
preventing extremism; an escalation of Ofsted inspections of unregistered, illegal, 
independent schools; and a consultation on registering children who go missing from 
school.  

        DfE press release (January 2016) Educate against hate  and Consultation: Identifying 
children who are missing education 

 
4.13   The Anti-Bullying Alliance published new resources for school staff to use to tackle the 

homophobic, biphobic and transphobic bullying of disabled young people and those 
with special educational needs. (March 2016) National Children's Bureau  and Tackling 
homophobic, biphobic and transphobic bullying for disabled children and young people 
and those with special educational needs (PDF) 

 
4.14  i-HOP, in partnership with Research in Practice, launched a set of eight quality 

Page 81

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/the-depths-of-dishonour.pdf
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/the-depths-of-dishonour.pdf
http://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/496136/HMIC-UoB-Report-FINAL.pdf
http://www.beds.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/496136/HMIC-UoB-Report-FINAL.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/missing-children-who-cares.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/missing-children-who-cares.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-return-home-from-care-improving-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/special-guardianship-qualitative-case-file-analysis
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487974/Social_Media_Guidance_UKCCIS_Final_18122015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487974/Social_Media_Guidance_UKCCIS_Final_18122015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487973/ukccis_guide-final__3_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487973/ukccis_guide-final__3_.pdf
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.google.co.uk/safetycenter/families/legends/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-you-can-do/get-expert-training/keeping-children-safe-online-course/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-child-trafficking-advocates-trial-government-report
http://www.youngminds.org.uk/news/blog/3158_teachers_are_not_fully_equipped_to_tackle_mental_health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483275/DFE-RR493_Teacher_voice_omnibus_questions_for_DfE_-_June_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483275/DFE-RR493_Teacher_voice_omnibus_questions_for_DfE_-_June_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-drive-to-protect-children-from-spell-of-twisted-ideologies
http://www.educateagainsthate.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/identifying-children-who-are-missing-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/identifying-children-who-are-missing-education
http://ncb.org.uk/news/disabled-young-people-that-identify-as-lgbtplus-bullied-and-silenced-in-our-schools
http://www.anti-bullyingalliance.org.uk/media/31665/tackling-hbt-bullying-for-disabled-cyp-and-those-with-sen-full-guide-final-sept15.pdf
http://www.anti-bullyingalliance.org.uk/media/31665/tackling-hbt-bullying-for-disabled-cyp-and-those-with-sen-full-guide-final-sept15.pdf
http://www.anti-bullyingalliance.org.uk/media/31665/tackling-hbt-bullying-for-disabled-cyp-and-those-with-sen-full-guide-final-sept15.pdf


14 

 

 

statements and toolkit, designed to support professionals who are working with the 
children and families of offenders. (February 2016) i-HOP quality statements and toolkit: 
supporting services to work with children and families affected by parental offending 
(PDF) 

 

4.15   Young Minds, the Charlie Waller Memorial Trust and the Royal College of Psychiatrists    
created a series of films and digital resource packs on self-harm. These have been 
created with the help of children and young people, parents and professionals. Young 
Minds (February 2016) 

 
4.16   The Joseph Rowntree Foundation published a review of the evidence on the 

relationship between poverty and child abuse and neglect.  Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation  (March 2016) 

 
4.17    NICE published guidance to support the transition from children's to adult's services.  

         Research in Practice press release (February 2016) Transition from children's and 
adults' services for young people using health or social care services  

 
4.18    NICE produced a quality standard for those working with families affected by domestic 

violence. It includes guidance on supporting children and young people affected by 
domestic violence that is not directly perpetrated against them. This includes children 
taken into care. (March 2016) 

 
4.19    The findings of the Drew Review, an independent review of South Yorkshire Police’s 

(SYP) handling of child sexual exploitation 1997 – 2016 have been published. 
Recommendations include: develop a new, thematic action plan using gap analysis of 
all investigations to date; commission ‘Learning Lessons Reviews’ after the conclusion 
of each major investigation; implement a standard operating procedure for the 
investigation of child sexual exploitation and the management of intelligence related to 
it. Independent review of South Yorkshire Police’s handling of child sexual exploitation 
1997-2016 (PDF) (March 2016)           

 
4.20   Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Board published an information sheet 

summarising learning points from recent multi-agency case audits carried out on the 
following themes: child sexual exploitation; domestic violence; injuries in pre-mobile 
babies; and neglect. (January 2016) Learning from multi-agency case audits  

  
 
4.21   NSPCC has published the following over the last year: 

 In December 2015 the Knowledge and Information Service published a summary of 
learning from serious case reviews for all professionals working in the health sector. This 
is an overview which draws on the collective findings from three briefings we published 
aimed at primary healthcare teams, paediatrics and A&E and perinatal healthcare teams.  

    NSPCC: Health: learning from case reviews   
    GPs and primary health care teams: learning from case reviews  
    Paediatrics and accident & emergency: learning from case reviews  
    Perinatal healthcare teams: learning from case reviews  

 Learning from process evaluation and delivering the Caring Dads: Safer Children 
programme. It is aimed at other organisations delivering the programme or similar 
interventions for abusive fathers.  

     Caring Dads: Safer Children: learning from delivering the programme (PDF)  
     Caring Dads: Safer Children: evaluation report (PDF)  
     Caring Dads: Safer Children: helping dads address violent behaviour  

 6 short films showing how to safeguard children within religious or faith settings.  
Page 82

https://www.i-hop.org.uk/ci/fattach/get/653/0/session/L2F2LzEvdGltZS8xNDU2MjIyNjY2L3NpZC9VTURQT05KbQ==/filename/1.+Quality+Statements+and+Toolkit.pdf
https://www.i-hop.org.uk/ci/fattach/get/653/0/session/L2F2LzEvdGltZS8xNDU2MjIyNjY2L3NpZC9VTURQT05KbQ==/filename/1.+Quality+Statements+and+Toolkit.pdf
https://www.i-hop.org.uk/ci/fattach/get/653/0/session/L2F2LzEvdGltZS8xNDU2MjIyNjY2L3NpZC9VTURQT05KbQ==/filename/1.+Quality+Statements+and+Toolkit.pdf
http://www.youngminds.org.uk/noharmdone
http://www.youngminds.org.uk/noharmdone
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/relationship-between-poverty-child-abuse-and-neglect-evidence-review
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/relationship-between-poverty-child-abuse-and-neglect-evidence-review
https://www.rip.org.uk/news-and-views/latest-news/new-guidance-to-support-transition-from-childrens-to-adults-services/
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng43
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng43
http://www.drewreview.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/SYP030-Final-report.pdf
http://www.drewreview.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/SYP030-Final-report.pdf
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/assets/legacy/getasset?id=fAAxADgAMwB8AHwAVAByAHUAZQB8AHwAMAB8AA2
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-protection-system/case-reviews/learning/health/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-protection-system/case-reviews/learning/gps-primary-healthcare-teams/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-protection-system/case-reviews/learning/paediatrics-accident-emergency/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-protection-system/case-reviews/learning/perinatal-healthcare-teams/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/caring-dads-safer-children-learning-delivering-programme.pdf
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/caring-dads-safer-children-evaluation-report.pdf
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/services-for-children-and-families/caring-dads-safer-children/


15 

 

 

               NSPCC Website (March 2016) 

 Assessing the risk: protecting the child: evaluation report. Evidence from an 
assessment service for me who pose a sexual risk to children (2015). A series 
of three reports on this issue are pulled together into this overview. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Assessing+the+risk%3A+protecting+the+c
hild%3A+evaluation+report.+Evidence+from+an+assessment+service+for+me+who
+pose+a+sexual+risk+to+children+%282015%29 

 Are they safe? Safeguarding for leaders of groups in the voluntary and 
community sector (2015) a guide to setting up groups safely. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Are+they+safe%3F+Safeguarding+for+lead
ers+of+groups+in+the+voluntary+and+community+sector+%282015%29+ 

 All Babies Count: spotlight on homelessness – an unstable start (2015) and set 
out the impact on babies whose parents are homeless. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=reported+All+Babies+Count%3A+spotlight+
on+homelessness+%E2%80%93+an+unstable+start+%282015%29 

 Achieving emotional wellbeing for looked after children: a whole system 
approach (2015) stating that children in care are four times more likely to have 
mental health problems than children living with birth families, increasing the risk of 
poor outcomes. The report recommends five priorities for change. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Achieving+emotional+wellbeing+for+looked
+after+children%3A+a+whole+system+approach+%282015%29 

 ‘Always there when I need you’: ChildLine annual review 2014-15 which 
describes what children contact ChildLine about. The top three concerns were family 
relationships, low self-esteem / unhappiness and abuse. Contacts regarding sexual 
abuse (including online sexual abuse) were increased by 8% on the previous year. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=%E2%80%98Always+there+when+I+need
+you%E2%80%99%3A+ChildLine+annual+review+2014-15 

 A guide to safeguarding, managing risk and personal budgets (2015) 
    The guide focuses on individual, operational, community, strategic and LSCB level 

steps to ensure children’s safeguarding needs are central to the new SEND system. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=A+guide+to+safeguarding%2C+managing+
risk+and+personal+budgets+%282015%29 

 

 NSPCC commissioned University of Edinburgh and NSPCC Child Protection 
Research Centre to investigate Deaf and disabled children talking about child 
protection (2015) this builds on the 2014 report into protecting disabled children 
from abuse. 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Deaf+and+disabled+children+talking+about
+child+protection 

 

 The Information Service published a summary of risk factors and learning for 
improved practice from serious case reviews for professionals working with deaf and 
disabled children. (February 2016) 

 Finally a reunification practice framework, created in partnership with the University 
of Bristol. It brings into one place all of the research messages on supporting 
children returning home from care. It also provides practical guidance and tools for 
practitioners working with children and families. (February 2016) 

     Reunification: an evidence-informed framework for return home practice (PDF)  
           

Page 83

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/fighting-for-childhood/news-opinion/safeguarding-children-young-people-faith-settings/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Assessing+the+risk%3A+protecting+the+child%3A+evaluation+report.+Evidence+from+an+assessment+service+for+me+who+pose+a+sexual+risk+to+children+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Assessing+the+risk%3A+protecting+the+child%3A+evaluation+report.+Evidence+from+an+assessment+service+for+me+who+pose+a+sexual+risk+to+children+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Assessing+the+risk%3A+protecting+the+child%3A+evaluation+report.+Evidence+from+an+assessment+service+for+me+who+pose+a+sexual+risk+to+children+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Are+they+safe%3F+Safeguarding+for+leaders+of+groups+in+the+voluntary+and+community+sector+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Are+they+safe%3F+Safeguarding+for+leaders+of+groups+in+the+voluntary+and+community+sector+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=reported+All+Babies+Count%3A+spotlight+on+homelessness+%E2%80%93+an+unstable+start+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=reported+All+Babies+Count%3A+spotlight+on+homelessness+%E2%80%93+an+unstable+start+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Achieving+emotional+wellbeing+for+looked+after+children%3A+a+whole+system+approach+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Achieving+emotional+wellbeing+for+looked+after+children%3A+a+whole+system+approach+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=%E2%80%98Always+there+when+I+need+you%E2%80%99%3A+ChildLine+annual+review+2014-15
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=%E2%80%98Always+there+when+I+need+you%E2%80%99%3A+ChildLine+annual+review+2014-15
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=A+guide+to+safeguarding%2C+managing+risk+and+personal+budgets+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=A+guide+to+safeguarding%2C+managing+risk+and+personal+budgets+%282015%29
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Deaf+and+disabled+children+talking+about+child+protection
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/search/?query=Deaf+and+disabled+children+talking+about+child+protection
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/reunification-practice-framework-guidance.pdf


16 

 

 

 

In August 2015 there were a number of convictions of adult males in the Bristol area in relation 
to charges of Child Sexual Exploitation. Although there was no direct involvement for B&NES 
LSCB in this case it has underlined the continued importance for all partner agencies of 
remaining vigilant in relation to the concerns of Child Sexual Exploitation. Partners remain very 
aware that these types of concern will not always remain within the boundaries of the B&NES 
area and will require us to work closely with other LSCB’s. The setting up of the West of 
England CSE Victim Identification and Support Project, to which the LSCB is linked, has 
proved to be a valuable resource in driving forward the practice in relation to CSE. B&NES 
LSCB now regularly attend information sharing meetings with the Project to focus on 
disruption activity to adults suspected of exploitation. 

 

 
 

6.1 The work of the LSCB is complementary to and coordinated alongside those of 

other bodies within the responsibility of B&NES Council including the  following: 

• Children’s Trust  Board 

• Health and Wellbeing Board 

• Local Safeguarding Adults Board 

• Responsible Authorities Group (Community Safety  Partnership) 

In addition to this the LSCB and Council present papers to the Councils Early Years, 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel. 

 

6.2     The Children’s Trust Board (CTB) is responsible for delivering outcomes for children 
  and young people as outlined in the Children and Young People’s Plan 2014 - 2017 
  www.bathnes.gov.uk/cypp 

 
  As part of their complementary work to drive improvements in the safeguarding of 

children and young people, LSCB issues a set of challenges to the CTB on its ongoing 
priorities. These are: 
 
•   To identify Early Help priorities and launch of the Early Help Strategy 
•   The provision of appropriate parenting support, including but not limited to that 
    offered through the Connecting Families Service 
•   The effective co-ordination of planning for the safeguarding of vulnerable individuals, 

particularly at times of transition, including the transition from childhood to adulthood 
•   Evidencing progress in reducing the inequality in life chances of more vulnerable 
    groups of children 
•   To further develop the positive wellbeing and resilience of children and young 
    people so that they recognise, value and meet their physical, emotional health and 
    wellbeing needs. 
 

It has been agreed that the CTB will disband during 2016 and that the reporting on 
these challenges will be undertaken by the newly convened Children and Young 
People’s sub group of the Health and Well Being Board. (This new group will also 
oversee the Year 3 review of the CYPP 2014-2017) .The Children and Young People’s 

Section 6: The Interface with Other Boards 

and Committees 

Section 5: Significant Local Events and Response 

Page 84

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/cypp


17 

 

 

Sub Group will present their responses to the challenges outlined in 6.2 to the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. This report will be presented to the LSCB of part of the reciprocal 
challenge arrangement between both boards. There will be no new Children and Young 
People’s Plan post 2017, but a new Outcomes Delivery Framework will be developed 
during 2016/2017 by the Children and Young People’s sub group. 

 
6.3      The LSCB works in partnership with the Health and Wellbeing Board to make sure 

that unborn babies, children and young people are protected and kept safe. The LSCB 
presents its Annual Report and business plans to the Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board offer challenge to the LSCB to provide assurance that 
children are kept safe. This remains one of the areas of focus in the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2015-19  
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/banes_health_and_wellbeing_strategy_20
15_-_2019.pdf 

6.4 The LSCB continues to work closely with the Local Safeguarding Adults Board 

(LSAB). As well as shared membership across the Boards to help ensure a joint and 

seamless approach to delivering safeguarding priorities the Board has continued to 

progress the areas of joint collaboration (see Appendix 6).  

Of significance during the year has been: the agreement to pilot a joint Training and 

Workforce and Development sub group for one year from April 2016; the proposed 

launch of a joint safeguarding website in summer 2016 and the move towards joint 

policies and procedures where applicable. Numerous processes have been 

streamlined across both Boards including the development of Risk Registers for the 

work of each Board and Challenge Logs. A joint multi-agency task and finish group 

has been established taking forward work on FGM. 

The LSAB continues to receive routine updates on the work of the LSCB as a 

standing item on its agenda and hears reports on the progress of the Multi-agency 

Information Sharing Hub Project. The scope of this has been approved by both 

Boards and the Responsible Authorities Group and includes developing an 

information sharing hub  for low and moderate safeguarding and domestic abuse 

concerns for children, young people and adults. 

6.5     Links between safeguarding, community safety (overseen by the Responsible 

Authorities Group - RAG) and the Council’s wider preventative agenda have again 

been strengthened this year.  

http://www.bathnes. gov.uk/services/neighbourhoods-and-community-safety/crime-

prevention-and- community-safety 

As with the LSAB there are shared members sitting on the RAG, including the Director 

for Public Health, Divisional Director for Children’s Specialist and Targeted Services 

and Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance (Council). 

Over the past year there has been significant joint working between the RAG and 

LSCB progressing the work on PREVENT, modern slavery and the coordination with 

Children’s Service to support and resettle refuges children. Section 9 has more details 

of the work of the RAG in terms of the contribution to safeguarding children and young 

people during the period. 

 

6.6 In addition to the above the work of the Board is scrutinised Children and Young 

People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel (prior to May 2015 this was called 

the Early Years Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel) and a number of reports 

have been presented during the period including:  

   LSCB Annual Report 2014-15 and Business Plan 2015-18  Page 85

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/banes_health_and_wellbeing_strategy_2015_-_2019.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/banes_health_and_wellbeing_strategy_2015_-_2019.pdf


18 

 

 

 IRO Annual Report  

   Current Issues for Children’s Services: including Child Sexual Exploitation and    

children “missing” 

 New LSCB Multi-agency Early Help Strategy  

 The Schools Health Education Unit (SHEU) survey on children’s sense of safety  

 Care Act 2014 and implications for children and young people (drafted for 

January 2015 however delayed for presentation in 2016) 

 Youth Offending Service update and changes in line with local and national 

funding cuts 

 Looked After Children Annual Report (Sirona care and health) 

 

 

 
 

7.1   B&NES LSCB is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004 (Section 

13) and the Local Safeguarding Children Board Regulations 2006. It is 

independently chaired and consists of senior representatives of all the principle 

stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young people across 

the area. The Terms of Reference are set out in Appendix 1 and are due for 

review in 2016 – 17. The membership for the LSCB and sub-groups during 2015 

- 16 are set out in Appendix 2 .  

7.2 The accountability of the LSCB and performance of the Independent Chair is delivered 
via a two stage process. The Annual Report is considered by a Scrutiny Panel made up 
of Chief Executives of member agencies and including the Lead Local Authority 
Member for Children and Young People. This Panel convenes soon after publication of 
the Annual Report and presents challenges to the Chair regarding the effectiveness of 
the LSCB. In stage two, B&NES Council coordinates a 360 degree appraisal of the 
performance of the Independent Chair. Contributors to this process include all 
representative members of the LSCB. The appraisal includes a commentary from the 
Chair of the Scrutiny Panel at Stage 1. The process is completed at a meeting between 
the Independent Chair and Local Authority Chief Executive at which performance and 
development goals are set for the following 12 months.  

7.3 The Independent Chair is also Chair of the LSAB and has been since June 2015, this 
increases the joint working across the Boards and improves safeguarding outcomes for 
children, young people and their families/carers. 

7.4 The Board’s statutory objectives as set out in the Children Act 2004 (Section 14) are: 

a) To co-ordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the 

Board for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 

in the  area; 

b) To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each person or body for 

those purposes. 

7.5   The functions in relation to the above objectives are described in Regulation 5 of 

the Local Safeguarding Board Regulations 2006.  

7.6 The LSCB structure is set out below and the work of the sub-groups is 

articulated in Section 8 of the report. 

Section 7: Governance and Accountability 

Page 86



19 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  Both the Member of the Bath & North East Somerset Youth Parliament (MYP) and the   
Deputy (DMYP) now attend the LSCB Communications sub-group and have been 
developing the young people’s LSCB webpages.  

7.7 The LSCB has not undertaken any SCRs during 2015-16; however the Chair has 

considered recommendations from the SCR sub-group for seven cases. Three of 

these did not meet the SCR criteria, the other four are being considered within the 

next reporting period.  

 

7.8 In line with the statutory requirement, the LSCB has in place a Learning and 

Improvement Framework which was revised in February 2016, 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-

protection/local-safeguarding-children-board. This framework is intended to 

facilitate how the learning from reviews takes place and is embedded into practice 

which in turn should lead to improved outcomes for children and young people. 

7.9 Although two new Lay Members joined the Board sadly one of those has now had to 
move away and so the Board is recruiting once again. Lay Members give a unique, 
independent and valuable perspective on safeguarding children and young people. 
Their work positively influences decisions of the Board. 

7.10 The LSCB budget is monitored throughout the year and presented in the Annual 

Report in Appendix 3. Discussions will take place in 2016-17 to assess the 

contributions made by partner agencies both financially and in kind to ensure that the 

budget as well as participation and engagement are right for the needs of the LSCB. 

This will be developed into a Memorandum of Understanding for the Board in 2016-

17. 

7.11 In 2015-16, the LSCB has developed a Risk Register for the LSCB and completed a 

stocktake document to monitor its progress in meeting the Ofsted Grade Descriptors 

which are used to make a judgement about how the LSCB is performing in terms of 

its effectiveness in meeting its statutory functions. The documentation Ofsted use for 

this was revised in October 2015 – set out in Ofsted Framework and Evaluation 

LSCB SCR sub group 

CSE and Missing 
sub group 

Communications 
sub group 

Training and 
Workforce 

Development 
sub group 

Children in Care 
Quality 

Assurance sub 
group 

Professional 
Practice sub 

group 

Policy, Procedure 
and Performance 

sub group 

Page 87

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board


20 

 

 

Schedule: children in need of help and protection CLA and care leavers and LSCBs.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/46600

8/Framework_and_evaluation_schedule_children_in_need_of_help_and_protection_

CLA_and_care_leavers_LSCBs.doc  

Ofsted Inspectors will also look at how ‘effectively the LSCB evaluates and monitors 

the quality and effectiveness of the LA and statutory partners in protecting and caring 

for children, including the provision of improvement advice.’ (page 32 Ofsted 

Framework). 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

8.1 The LSCB has seven sub-groups as set out in section 7.6 above. The Terms of 
Reference for each of the sub-groups is available on the LSCB web page 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-
protection/local-safeguarding-children-board 

 

8.2 Each sub group reports progress on the Board’s Business Plan on a quarterly basis 

and contributes to the Chair’s Agenda Setting meeting. Each sub-group has a duty to 

challenge practice within the partnership where it identifies issues of concern. 

 

 

Section 8: LSCB Sub Group Achievements and Priorities 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/466008/Framework_and_evaluation_schedule_children_in_need_of_help_and_protection_CLA_and_care_leavers_LSCBs.doc
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/466008/Framework_and_evaluation_schedule_children_in_need_of_help_and_protection_CLA_and_care_leavers_LSCBs.doc
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/466008/Framework_and_evaluation_schedule_children_in_need_of_help_and_protection_CLA_and_care_leavers_LSCBs.doc
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board


21 

 

 

 
 

 
The CSE and Missing sub-group was established in June 2014 and was tasked with 
developing the LSCB Strategy and Protocol. The Strategy was agreed by the Board in 
September 2014 and has recently been reviewed. The CSE/Missing Protocol has also been 
regularly scrutinised and updated to ensure that operational guidance has kept pace with new 
developments and new thinking in the relation to what we know about CSE and Missing.     
 
Key Achievements  

a) The sub-group has continued to develop strong links with key partner agencies. The 

sub-group now has strong representation and engagement from Secondary Schools 

and from the Council Licensing team 

b) In con-junction with the licensing team we have developed a series of posters that will 

be displayed in local hotels and Taxi cab offices that highlight CSE and the need for 

staff in these settings to remain vigilant to the signs of CSE 

c) Alongside this poster campaign we have developed and run training and awareness 

courses for local taxi firms and hotels/Bed and Breakfast establishments. This has 

proven positive and generated a good level of engagement from this sector 

d) We have continued to oversee the development of the Willow Project. We reviewed the 

work of the Project after six months (October 2015) and this enabled the project to 

identify a number of developmental tasks that are now beginning to be incorporated into 

practice. One of these will be a series of leaflets designed for parents/professionals and 

for young people that will provide contact details and a short outline of the work of the 

project 

e) The sub group played a key part in the re-launch the CSE Protocol, following some 
amendments, and to the CSE Stakeholder Event in January 2016 

 
Outcomes - What Difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes? 

a) Continuing discussions with Police colleagues about how best to share information on 

CSE victims and disruption activity has resulted in the development of a new meeting 

format which is currently being piloted. The CSE Information sharing meetings focus on 

disruption activity, and in joining up local intelligence on young people of concern, and 

premises of concern. The initial feed-back from these meetings has been very positive 

b) The theme of this year’s LSCB Stakeholder day was CSE, and members of the sub-

group were closely involved in the development of the agenda and content of the day. 

The day was very successful in highlighting issues of CSE and missing amongst 

agencies  

c) The development of a local poster campaign and information leaflets from the Willow 

Project have provided a tangible source of information to professionals, young people 

and parents 

Challenges Faced in Delivering the Agenda 
a)  Ensuring that we can effectively engage with parents of Young People at risk of CSE. 

The development of the information leaflets will be a key first step in providing this 

support. 

b) Ensuring that CSE continues to remain an important and visible issue for all LSCB 

agencies and that we guard against a level of “information fatigue” that could dilute the 

level of vigilance on CSE and Missing 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing sub-group 

Page 89



22 

 

 

 

Priorities for the CSE and Missing Sub-Group 
a) A fuller evaluation of the work of the Willow Project and an analysis of outcomes for 

young people 

b) Continued training for new staff across all agencies.  

c) Continue to deliver actions against the CSE action plan. This will include further 

publicity campaigns, embedding the new CSE Information Sharing meetings 

d) To continue to develop ways of improving early identification of CSE concerns through 

links with PSHE sessions on healthy relationships.     

Children in Care & Quality Assurance sub-group (CICQA) 

The Children in Care Quality Assurance group started directly reporting to the LSCB as a 

subgroup in September 2015 to ensure the best Corporate Parenting for children and young 

people in Bath and North East Somerset. The group aims to contribute to this purpose 

through quality assurance of work carried out in multi-agency care planning.  

 

Key Achievements 

a) Becoming an LSCB sub-group has been a significant milestone in the life of this group 

b) Auditing of 16 cases, covered five separate themes relating to children in care 

 

Outcomes -  What Differences have achievements made in relation to Outcomes? 

a) The group is able to audit themes and focus on multi agency planning 

 

Challenges in Delivering the Agenda 

a) Whether the membership is at the correct level 

b) With an effective Independent Reviewing Service, this group has a “quieter” voice and a 

significant number of messages are fed back from the IRS. With the correct level of 

membership as an objective for 2016-17, this group will be able to develop its unique 

contribution further to informing the LSCB about themes and issues about multi-agency 

care planning 

Priorities for the CICQA Sub-Group 

a) Ensuring that the CICQASG contributes to the LSCB business plan 

b) Ensuring the group’s membership is a suitable level to influence change.  

 

 

 
The Communications sub-group was established in March 2014 to ensure that key messages 
can be effectively disseminated to all agencies and that messages are delivered in a 
coordinated manner that takes account of similar campaigns and messages from the LSAB.   
 
Key Achievements 

a) The group has led on the design and construction of a new LSCB website which has 

been undertaken in conjunction with the LSAB. This is now nearing completion and 

should be ready for launch in July 

b) The group has been involved in the design of a series of awareness raising posters in 

conjunction with Police colleagues in relation to raising awareness of CSE 

c) The sub-group is currently developing a strategy to assist in the launch of the MASH in 

September 2016.  

Communications sub-group 

Page 90



23 

 

 

d) The sub-group has continued to develop a regular newsletter that is distributed to all 

LSCB members.  The content and format of this newsletter is currently under review 

e) Developing links with the Communications group of the LSAB to ensure key messages 
about safeguarding are communicated to both Boards. The LSCB has adopted the 
same format for ‘Key Messages from the Chair’ as the LSAB and sent out the first on in 
March 2016 

f) Production of a series of posters advertising the role of the LSCB. These are now in 

GP’s surgeries, libraries and Nurseries across the B&NES area 

g) Dissemination of Working Together 2015 to all agencies and children and young people 
where relevant 

 
Outcomes - What Differences have achievements made in relation to Outcomes?  

a) The re-design of the web-site has taken account of the need for both the public 

requirements for easy to access information, and professional requirements for practice 

materials and discussion forums. The new site will be mobile and tablet enabled to 

allow for easy access and navigation 

b) We have built on the previous work to develop a higher profile for the LSCB. This has 

been done by producing a series of posters that have gone into GP’s surgeries and 

Nurseries, We have now commissioned advertising banners that are now used at 

events. This continues to build our profile and key messages 

Challenges in Delivering the Agenda  

a) The key challenges continues to be that in building closer links with The LSAB, we will 
need to ensure continuity of key messages and avoid duplication.  

 
Priorities for the Communications sub-group 

a) To complete the launch of the new web-site for July 2016 

b) To ensure that all agencies are aware of the launch of the MASH and fully understand 

the role and remit of the MASH.  

Policy, Procedure and Performance sub-group (PPPG)  
This sub-group has the responsibility for reviewing policies and procedures operated by LSCB 
and South West Child Protection Procedures (SWCPP) and monitoring their effectiveness and 
ensuring agency compliance with them. The sub-group also develops and monitors 
performance indicators relevant to LSCB business focusing on analysing data that will inform 
improving performance. 
 
Key achievements 

a) Continued to review performance data and initiate investigation of areas of concern – 
data on children missing is now more robust and shows a stronger correlation between 
Police and LA figures, which provides greater assurance that appropriate follow up is 
being undertaken to minimise risks 

b) The group questioned the apparent high proportion of CP plans with a category of 
emotional abuse and low number in the category of sexual abuse. The cycle of audit, 
action and further audit/monitoring has evidenced improvements in practice and in the 
resulting appropriate categorisation of risks 

c) Police data on sexual offences has also been triangulated against LA data to ensure 
cases of sexual abuse were not being missed 

d) The group approved a range of new or updated policies and procedures, including 
Quality Standards & Practice Guidance for CP Chairs, Escalation Policy, Bruising in 
Children Protocol, Joint Working Protocol (CSC/AWP), Managing Allegations Protocol, 
SCR Protocol, FGM Policy, E-Safety Strategy, Learning & Improvement Framework, 
and Information Sharing Protocol 

Page 91



24 

 

 

e) The group is beginning to work more collaboratively with the LSAB around joint policies 
f)  The group has agreed arrangements for more systematic review of policies and 

procedures   and reviewed and refreshed its terms of reference, with expanded 
membership. 

 
Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes? 

a) Children Missing from Home numbers are consistent across agencies, ensuring they 
can all be followed up through return home interviews if information is being shared 
promptly, thereby enabling safeguarding risks to be identified and reduced 

b) Risks are being more appropriately assessed/categorised as Neglect or Sexual Abuse 
and fewer as Emotional Abuse – thereby ensuring more robust plans to appropriately 
address these risks 

c) The wide range of policies and procedures approved should be ensuring consistent 
good practice, but further work is needed to monitor compliance and evidence impacts 

 
Challenges faced in delivering the agenda 

a) Identification of indicators/availability of data to ensure a truly multi-agency perspective 
is reached 

b) Lack of sub-group attendance from the Police, although they have contributed quarterly 
data plus narrative and written feedback on draft policies and procedures 

c) Section 11 audits – coordinating approach across multiple LAs 
 
Priorities for PPPG 

a) Further work to more comprehensively track dissemination of policies and procedures 
and to evaluate compliance/impact 

b) Development of multi-agency indicators/data reporting 
c) Further exploration of joint working with equivalent LSAB sub-group(s) and 

opportunities to learn from them and/or share expertise and capacity 
d) More systematically look at lessons that can be drawn from Ofsted inspections 

elsewhere 
e) Seek further assurance about the effectiveness of multi-agency working in cases 

involving the ‘toxic trio’ of mental health, substance misuse and domestic violence. 
 

Professional Practice Group (PPG) 

The PPG is a quality assurance group and audits the records of at least four children at 

each meeting. PPG has looked at the functioning of child protection conferences as well 

as focusing on particular themes. 

Key achievements 
a) PPG met six times this year to audit cases of children who were receiving support 

because of child protection or safeguarding concerns 
b) PPG looked at the case records of children who faced a wide range of issues in their 

lives.  These included parental drug / alcohol misuse, domestic violence & abuse, child 
sexual exploitation and children who had recently been placed on a child protection 
plan.  PPG also looked at how well children had been listened to and how well 
professionals understood what the lives of younger children who were at risk were like 

c) The PPG identified that the correct categories of abuse were being used in child 
protection conferences 

d) The themes chosen were as a result of actions identified within the LSCB Business 
Plan, for example – The Voice of the Child (as described above) 

e) We found some examples of services who worked with the parents of children showing 
a good understanding of the impact on the child of the parents’ behaviour  

  Page 92



25 

 

 

Outcomes – what difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?  
a) PPG has noted comments by young people stating they find it difficult to work with large 

numbers of professionals and prefer to meet just one or two people they trust.  This 
practice is now being embedded for certain groups of children, particularly for those at 
risk of sexual exploitation 

b) A number of adult services have shown evidence of improved understanding of the 
risks faced by children, following PPG repeating audits on their area of work 

 
Challenges faced in delivering the agenda 

a) Over half of children on a Child Protection Plan have lived in homes where there was 
domestic abuse.  PPG has seen many cases where this is passed from one generation 
to the next.  There is a need for real impetus to try to break some of these cycles of 
abusive and controlling behaviour 

b) The growing recognition of child sexual exploitation among professionals is positive.  
However, it raises the question of how well our schools and other services are able to 
prevent children being sexually exploited.  There is a need for good programmes in 
school that promote healthy personal relationships 

 
Priorities for Professional Practice sub-group 

a) To continue to check that children’s views are listened to and that workers understand 
what their daily lives are like 

b) To review how well disabled children are responded to 
c) To look at how effectively professionals challenge one another in Child Protection 

Conferences 
d) To review how well we support children whose parents have poor mental health. 

 

Serious Case Review sub-group (SCR) 
 

The Serious Case Review sub-group has met eight times during the period. The groups 

primary responsibility is to review SCR applications on behalf of the Board; implement the 

Notifiable Incidents, SCR and other Multi-Agency Review Procedures and the Learning and 

Improvement Framework; monitor SCRs and / or other review action plans and link with the 

Child Death Overview Panel as required. 

Key achievements 

a) The group has signed off the final outstanding action from David A SCR action plan. 

The Self Harm Guidelines have been adopted by the Board as the key document to 

support practitioners. Public Health colleagues have offered to undertake a survey 

to provide the Board with assurance that agencies are aware of the guidelines and 

know how to support and refer children and young people they are concerned about 

as being at risk of self harm or suicide ideation 

b) Confirmed the completion of all single agency action plans in relation to David A 

c) Considered applications for seven children for an SCR. Three of these did not meet 

the threshold for an SCR however further work was undertaken, for example for one 

case an independent chair / author was commissioned to undertake a multi-agency 

case review; an interim report was presented to the SCR group during the period and 

the full report is due in 2016-17. A round table discussion was convened with all 

practitioners involved in another case and a number of learning points have been 

identified and actions. For the third case the group identified a number of actions 

which are being progressed. For the remaining four applications considered these 

children relate to a specific police CSE operation. The decision was made in April 16 

that the case of three of the four met the criteria and the scope of an SCR is being 

formulated 
Page 93



26 

 

 

d) The group has kept abreast of Operation Brook in Bristol and has reviewed Bristol 

Childrens Boards SCR into this 

e) Overseen the support provided in the aftermath of the unfortunate tipper truck 

incident which led to the death of a young girl and have agreed the need for a local 

Rapid Response protocol. Currently following the South West procedures protocol 

f) Reviewed the Unborn Protocol to Safeguard Unborn Babies now on the public 

website 

g) Revised the Terms of Reference and the Learning and Development Framework 

h) Reviewed information from CDOP and from the National SCR Panel 

 

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes? 

a) Changes have been made to process and practice following the review of 

two cases 

b) In relation to one case review the family is very pleased to be able to have 

their say and await the outcome of the final review report 

c) A more systematic approach has been applied to assessing SCR 

applications ensuring robust decisions can be evidenced 

Challenges in Delivering the Agenda 

a) The volume of case reviews has been demanding and this has required extraordinary 

meetings to be convened 

b) Keeping up to date on Police operations in relation to CSE has been essential 

however because of the nature (changeability) and sensitivity of these operations it 

has sometimes been challenging to ensure accurate information is provided to key 

partners 

c) The group membership has largely been stable however the Police have been unable 

to provide the same Officer at meetings and this has impacted adversely on 

information flow and decision making. A consistent person has now been identified 

 

Priorities for the SCR sub-group 

a) Oversee the commissioning and progress of the SCR 

b) Implement the recommendations from the Multi-Agency Case Review 

c) Further embed the Learning and Development Framework 

d) Develop a system for reviewing SCRs. 

 
 

This sub-group is responsible for ensuring that Inter Agency training on safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children is provided in order to meet local needs. The group will 
also examine safeguarding workforce development issues across agencies, and looks at 
quality standards for single agency training. 

Key Achievements 

Substantial inter-agency training programme offered to the workforce, responding to local 
need and national and local agenda 

Training and Workforce Development sub-group (T&WFD) 

Page 94



27 

 

 

Training courses 

a) 81 Inter-agency training sessions offered, including:  Standard, Advanced, Specialist 
and Awareness courses, and early help 

b) 794 professionals trained across the LSCB partner agencies, Voluntary and Private 
sectors 

c) 1152 Inter-Agency training places filled 

Strategic Developments 

a) A training strategy is in place to provide a strategic and dynamic framework for 
training and development and this has been adopted by LSCB.  This is in line with 
the LSCB business plan, and allows for training to be responsive to changing need 
and new priorities.  For example, this year has seen a series of WRAP workshops 
launched in the Local Authority Area, in response the to requirements from the 
National and Local Prevent Strategy 

b) The sub group have listened to challenge from partners, around the barriers to 
promoting whole family thinking, and meaningful collaboration with Adult Services, 
therefore the sub-group is undertaking a joint working pilot to merge the Local 
Safeguarding Adult Board (LSAB) training group with the children’s, in order to 
improve cooperation and understanding between the services and promote the 
‘Think Family’ Agenda   

c) The sub group is responsible for overseeing the rigorous evaluation of training, to 
ensure that it meets the LSCB’s statutory duties and responds to national and local 
issues.    The sub group has devised a quality assurance evaluation frame-work, 
which has been in place for the last financial year.  Scrutiny of the evaluations show 
a positive trend in terms of improved confidence and knowledge of course delegates.  
However, after course evaluation does not allow scrutiny of the way in which taught 
courses impact on practice, therefore further work is currently being undertaken to 
evaluate the longer term impact of training in practice, with initial indicators expected 
back early September 2016 

d) The LSCB sub-group in partnership with Bath College have begun developing and 
exciting and innovative interactive assessment, designed to measure the 
effectiveness of safeguarding training, and reinforce learning.  The assessment will 
measure and test safeguarding leads competence in threshold understanding, risk 
analysis, decision making and knowledge of evidence based practice in relation to 
safeguarding.  Delegates attending the two day Advanced Child Protection training 
from September will be required to successfully complete the online test before being 
issues with a course certificate.  The view of this project is to promote consistent 
standards for safeguarding leads, and to identify those who need additional support 
and ensure it is provided appropriately 

Challenges faced in delivering the Agenda 

a) The sub-group adapts the training schedule in line with the requirements of the 
LSCB, which is informed by training needs analysis developed through partner’s 
contribution to the section 11 Audit.  However, some of this information is 
incomplete, which means that the planning and delivery of the safeguarding training 
may not meet the needs of services 

b) The additional financial pressures of the current economic climate have placed 
additional demands on partner services, and moving forward this could have an 
impact on agencies capacity to provide teaching resources to our virtual team of 
facilitators who provide the specialist and expert knowledge on our safeguarding 
courses Page 95



28 

 

 

c) The Training and work force development Sub Group continued to have Issues 
around representation, continuity of attendance and capacity of sub group members 
to undertake tasks 

Priorities for the Training and Workforce sub-group 

a) To develop the ‘think family’ agenda, through a program of course delivery, which 
includes integration of both adult and children’s services is both course delivery and 
delegate attendance.  

b) Develop the quality assurance of single agency training & provide train the trainer 
training and support 

c) Develop communication within LSCB and sub groups to ensure that training 
programme is informed by workforce issues and needs  analysis 

d) To Launch and embed the online assessment to evaluate competency of 
Safeguarding Leads, and evaluate its effectiveness 

e) To develop the longer term assessments on the impact of training on practice, and 
use learning from this evaluation to develop course material. 

f) To explore a wider method of delivery for safeguarding training including, online 
learning, workshops, masterclasses, reading and full taught sessions. To increase 
the accessibility of the courses to a range of different professionals needs 

g) Contribute to the standardisation of domestic violence and abuse training across 
B&NES. 

 

Task and Finish Groups 

Children Affected by Parental Imprisonment (CAPI): 

Building on the success of a local Youth Offending Service Management Board 
conference back in May 2015, this fixed-life task and finish group of the LSCB has worked 
to raise awareness of the impact of parental imprisonment on children and young people 
and find effective ways of offering support. The group is indebted to Polly Wright from 
Barnardo’s for providing information, ideas and access to resources. 

Key Achievements  

a) Over 100 staff have now attended the i-HOP awareness-raising training 

b) Staff will shortly be attending Hidden Sentence and follow-up courses 

c) In future, the issue will be referenced in the multi-agency safeguarding training and staff 
can access online training via Social Care Institute for Excellence e-learning 

d) The group has also produced posters and information leaflets for families which will 
be available from the Family Information Service, Council One Stop Shops, 
Children’s Centres, Youth Hubs, Sirona care and health, Police stations, prisons, 
Bath College and other partners 

Priorities 

a) Work to complete local guidance and a charter and improve information sharing and 
establish a network of local champions is continuing. 

 

 Page 96



29 

 

 

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM): 

This task and finish group was formed in January 2016 as the first joint group working 
across the LSCB and LSAB. The focus of the group is to raise the issue of FGM across 
both children’s and adults services and the community. 

Achievements 

a) Ensuring that all the right organisations are represented from children’s and adult 
services 

b) The group has developed a clear action plan 

Priorities 

a) Awareness raising for children, parents and the community 

b) Ensure skilled and competent workforce and understand mandatory reporting 
requirements / pathways 

c) Robust needs analysis of local population at risk 

d) Developed performance and reporting mechanisms to provide assurance 
 

 

9.1 During the year the Board has received a number of reports and presentations these 

are set out below and all are relevant to the scope of the work of the Board. 

9.2 Engagement with Children and Young People: Both the Member of the Bath & 

North East Somerset Youth Parliament (MYP) and the Deputy (DMYP) now attend 

the LSCB Communications sub-group and have been developing the young people’s 

LSCB webpages. The Senior In Care Council (SICC) commissioned by B&NES and 

run by Off The Record is very proactive. Over the last year their achievements have 

included: 

 Delivering a presentation to the Virtual School celebration evening. 

 Delivering a workshop to the Junior in Care Council (JICC) to inspire and   support 

them to transition up to the Senior Group. 

 Delivering a workshop on what makes a good Social Worker – this led to the 

design of a diagram illustrating ‘What makes a good Social Worker’ which is 

included on B&NES Council’s recruitment page. 

 Developing of a Training Resource pack to support  “Young People to take part in 

the recruitment process”. 

 Refreshing the Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy  

 Refreshing the Service User Engagement Framework. 

 Creating of a page about the SICC for the Looked After Children Packs which each 

young person receives when they go into care. 

 Providing questions for interviews and scored the answers for the following Posts, 

Service Manager for Safeguarding Outcomes, Looked-After. Children’s Nurse 

Role, LSCB/LSAB Business Support Manager, Child Protection Chair and 

Independent Reviewing Officer.  

 Having some fun creating a podcast with local radio station Somer Valley FM, 

broadcast in Nov 2015. The podcast covered personal stories and busting some 

‘myths’ about what it’s like being in care. These were funded by Bath Virtual 

School and Bath Spa University and will be developed for use in training for Social 

Section 9: Other Relevant Work and Achievements 

Page 97



30 

 

 

Workers, Teachers and other Health and Social Care Professionals.  

9.3  SHEU Survey: Public Health provided a presentation on the results of their bi-annual 

Children and Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Survey with primary (years 4 & 6) 

and secondary schools (years 8 & 10). All schools in B&NES were invited to 

participate in the local survey in 2015. 29 out of 54 (54%) eligible Primary and Junior 

schools participated and 12 out of 13 state funded secondary schools took part. Of 

the participating schools 82% of their pupils took the survey. The report provides 

information/evidence about pupil health and wellbeing and behaviour; it enables an 

individual school to see its own results and compare with B&NES and national data. 

The local results in terms of safeguarding were shared with the LSCB in March 2016, 

the full report had already been shared across Council Departments and with schools 

and Governors. The survey looked at various concerns including: ‘feeling safe’; 

bullying; cyber bullying; use of internet; E- safety; self-harm; pornography and 

violence; emotional wellbeing; body image and healthy eating. 

 Key concerns included: 

 vulnerable pupils are more likely to be exposed to tobacco smoke, to try smoking 
by YR 8, to have had sex by YR 10, to drink alcohol and to be offered drugs. 

 sexual minority pupils report significantly riskier health behaviours, e.g. smoking, 
drinking, drug use 

 high internet usage and potential for cyber bullying 

 concerns around body image, and perception of weight 

 high numbers of girls considering self-harm as a coping strategy 

 young people are drinking alcohol at home with parental knowledge 

 Public Health response to findings: 

 meeting with Young Parliament February 2016; Anti-bullying strategy / E team 

Forum in May 2016 and Primary Parliament in June 2016. Agendas all set using 

priorities identified in SHEU e.g. mental health, self-esteem, body image, cyber 

bullying, where to go for support 

 ensure healthy weight activities prioritise body confidence and self-esteem and 

focus on healthy eating rather than good / bad foods, guilt, blame or shame 

 review the NCMP letters and feedback process 

 review support for schools to deliver PSHE programmes and provide lesson plans 

to incorporate key findings 

 work with teams to prioritise issues 

 consider social norming campaign messages 

 

9.4 Early Help: The Early Help Strategy was presented to the Board in September 2015 
after significant multi-agency development and consultation. Key emerging priorities 
included developing a better understanding where gaps within services lie to inform 
future commissioning aims, improving coordinated partnership working, developing 
stronger links with adult services and promoting a wider understanding of statutory 
thresholds. An Early Help sub-group was charged with developing a framework to 
support the Board in critically evaluating Early Help.  A distinction was drawn between 
the effectiveness of early help assessment activity (CAF for multi-agency work and 
other single agency assessments) and the effectiveness of service delivery at the early 
help stage.  

The Strategy was adopted by the CTB and the LSCB in December 2015 and launched 
in January 2016, alongside the refreshed Parenting Strategy and Thresholds document.  
It describes our local model for delivering Early Help, where targeted support services 
sit alongside universal provision and more specialist services as part of a wider care 
and support system. It builds on the preventative role of universal provision such as Page 98



31 

 

 

schools and health services to identify emerging needs, and in partnership with targeted 
support services, to draw the appropriate services around the child, young person and 
family to meet needs and prevent these escalating unnecessarily and requiring more 
specialist interventions.  
An Early Help APP is being developed to support practitioners and improve access to 

information about services and thresholds. Over 100 practitioners have participated in a 

recent survey and the APP will be launched in July.  

Commissioning activity has focused on aligning the range of targeted support services 

for young people and families in order to deliver a coherent targeted support offer 

across B&NES.  This includes the commissioning of an integrated Family Support and 

Play service to work closely with Connecting Families (Troubled Families) and 

Children’s Centres services to provide a co-ordinated Family Support Offer and support 

the delivery of the Troubled Families programme locally. A common Children’s Centre 

Service specification has been developed and agreed with council and voluntary sector 

providers of children’s centre services to support the service remodelling required to 

make budget savings. Despite these reductions, the services have managed to sustain 

the same level of targeted support to families.  

Work has recently commenced with commissioners of adult services to identify 

vulnerable adults who are parents with dependent children, and ensure where 

necessary links are made with family support services.   

9.5  Children Placed ‘At Distance’: The Annual Sufficiency Report 2015 outlined that, as a 
Local Authority, we have previously counted children who were placed more than 20 
miles away from BNES borders as being away from their home area.  From April 2015, 
the use of the term away from home area has been amended to children who are 
placed beyond our immediate adjacent local authorities – Wiltshire, South 
Gloucestershire, Bristol, North Somerset and Somerset.  

 
The majority of children and young people in B&NES are placed within the adjacent 
authorities area in Foster Placements provided by Local Authority Foster Carers or 
Independent Fostering Agencies. The details of the children placed out of area are 
contained in section 11 below. 

 

9.6 Private Fostering 2015-16: Throughout the year we have continued to ensure that 

the profile of Private Fostering remains in the thinking of both professionals and with 

the public of B&NES. We have produced a series of leaflets for young people, carers 

and professionals which have been sent out to Nurseries, Surgeries and Libraries 

across the area. In addition, we have distributed the leaflets at a number of LSCB 

events.  We have also written an article that was included in the summer 2015 edition 

of Connect magazine that is delivered to every house in the B&NES.  Although 

numbers remain comparatively small, these measures have resulted in an increase in 

the number of notifications of Private Fostering arrangements across the B&NES area.  

9.7 Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP): Throughout 2015-16 B&NES have maintained 

a regular presence as part of the CDOP. Emerging themes from the monthly meetings 

have been: 

 the need to ensure good interpreting support for families during emergency hospital 

admissions. This also reflects the growing diversity of families across the West of 

England 

 the need to continue to provide families with clear advice about the dangers of co- 

sleeping with very young babies in bed. In particular, the dangers of this increase Page 99



32 

 

 

considerably when one or both parents has taken alcohol. This continues to be a 

significant and all too common theme in a proportion of child deaths that are 

brought to the panel 

 the emerging correlation between the number of families in poor housing 

accommodation, of migrant backgrounds and child deaths. A high and dis-

proportionate number of the child deaths seen at the CDOP come from families in 

over-crowded, rented accommodation with poor  heating 

 

The LSCB is assured that all child deaths are reported as required. The CDOP reports 

annually to the LSCB on its findings and the annual report from CDOP is always an 

agenda item for the LSCB following its publication.  

 

 

9.8 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

Due to the continued high profile of Child Sexual Exploitation within the media and 

within our own professional responsibilities we felt that it was important for this year’s 

annual report to set out how the LSCB continues to work towards reducing concerns of 

CSE in the B&NES area.  2015-16 continued to see a rise in awareness and 

understanding of CSE & Missing across all agencies and therefore greater levels of 

activity in relation to young people at risk of CSE. 

In order to address these concerns members of the LSCB have been instrumental in 

the following initiatives that will assist and develop our practice further. 

These are: 

a) Continued Development of the ‘Willow Project’:  this multi-agency team was set 

up in March 2015 and has now grown to 17 practitioners.  These practitioners are 

drawn from a number of LSCB agencies and each gives up a half-day of their time to 

work directly and support a young person.  The project currently works with 25 young 

people who are at risk of CSE. 

    In October 2015 the project undertook a half-day review session to reflect on the 

progress of the project so far.  Out of these discussions we have produced a series 

of leaflets which will provide information on the project for 

 

- Young People 

- Professionals 

- Parents 

 

  These leaflets have been designed in conjunction with young people and    works on 

the project. 

 

In February 2016, the Willow Project set up a ‘Single Point of Contact’ so that all 

agencies could refer in concerns for young people where concerns might be at an 

early stage or where a practitioner wanted to discuss the concern. The SPOC e-mail 

address is checked on a daily basis and the CSE lead returns calls either that day or 

the following day. The focus of the SPOC is to encourage early referrals and 

promote earlier intervention. Although this initiative is still relatively new it has been 

well received and popular with agencies.   Page 100



33 

 

 

 

b) LSCB Stakeholder Event (January 2016): CSE was the focus of this year’s LSCB 

stakeholder event.  For the same reasons as set out at the beginning of this section, 

the Chair of the B&NES LSCB felt it was important that all member agencies.  

Feedback from attendees suggested that it had been a challenging but positive event 

with presentations to focus on why and how young males can be prone to violence 

and a stark dramatisation of how young women are groomed and exploited. 

 

    Following the use of this short drama piece, NHS England commissioned a further 

six sessions of this production to use within its own training programmes. 

 

c) Identification of Young People and Understanding the Local Position in 

Relation to CSE/Missing:  Monthly breakdowns of CSE & Missing data are now 

included within the agenda of the CSE/Missing sub-group as a standard item.  

Although numbers of young people identified as being at risk continued to rise in the 

initial months of 2015-16, in the later months of this year they have levelled out, 

suggesting that the current level of identification is likely to be our expected level of 

demand over the next few years.  It is important that this is seen as a positive step in 

terms of being able to be reasonably confident that we now have systems and 

processes that are able to appropriately identify those young people that might be at 

risk. 

 

In conjunction with colleagues from Avon and Somerset Police and the West of 

England CSE identification project we are now also piloting a different style of regular 

information sharing meetings.  These meetings now have a focus on the disruption of 

offenders and mapping of offending activity.  The initial meetings have been 

productive and effective in sharing information and identifying links between potential 

offenders, locations and linkages between young people. 

 

9.9 Prevent and Channel: the Board received a report on Prevent and the which 

highlighted the fact that in April 2015, section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and 

Security Act 2015 came into place. This meant that for the first time, the Prevent 

guidelines became a statutory requirement for all ‘specified authorities’ (Councils, 

Police, Health Trusts, Probation, Education and many others) to have ’due regard to 

the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’. ‘Specified authorities’ are 

required to demonstrate an awareness and understanding of the risk of radicalisation.   

 In order to meet the new statutory requirements the LSCB needed to ensure that staff 

from across other agencies receive awareness training and understand what to do 

should they become concerned about an individual or group that may be at risk of 

radicalisation.  WRAP training (Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) and Train 

the Trainer training was rolled out during 2015-16. The training was advertised widely 

and a multi-agency prevent training task and finish group was formed to ensure the 

widest reach and prioritization of particular services for training – schools were given 

the highest priority and training was offered to all Designated School Leads via the 

Child Protection Forums. 

 When individuals are identified as being at risk of radicalisation, the concerns must be 

dealt with via the government’s ‘Channel’ process. Councils have the responsibility to 

coordinate and chair the Channel process; the Divisional Director for Children’s Page 101



34 

 

 

Specialist and Targeted Services and the Head of Safeguarding and Quality 

Assurance has shared responsibly for this. 

 

 
9.10   Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking: Jessica Wilde gave a briefing to the Board 

on the work that Unseen UK does and how it is attempting to work towards ‘A World 
without Slavery’. She explained that they run several projects locally to support 
survivors and potential victims and are developing new services for children and for 
men. (The UK does not currently have an effective support mechanism for male 
survivors.)  

   
Unseen have been instrumental in setting up the Anti-Slavery Partnership (ASP) with 
Avon and Somerset Constabulary and Bristol City Council, this is a multi-agency 
partnership, of which B&NES Council is a member.  Slavery is an umbrella term for 
activities involved when one person obtains or holds another person in compelled 
service. Someone is in slavery if they are:  
• Forced to work through mental or physical threat 
• Owned or controlled by an 'employer', usually through mental or physical abuse or 

the   threat of abuse                                           
• Dehumanised, treated as a commodity or bought and sold as ‘property’ 
• Physically constrained or have restrictions placed on his/her freedom 
 
The following definitions are encompassed within the term 'modern slavery' for the 
purposes of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 - 'slavery', 'servitude', 'forced or compulsory 
labour' and 'human trafficking'; of the 3,266 potential victims of trafficking identified in 
2015, 982 of these were children. 
 
Human trafficking is the movement of people by means such as force, fraud, coercion 
or deception, with the aim of exploiting them. It is a form of modern slavery. Trafficking 
involves the transportation of people in the UK in order to exploit them by the use of 
force, violence, deception, intimidation or coercion. This exploitation includes 
commercial, sexual and bonded labour. Trafficked people have little choice in what 
happens to them and often suffer abuse due to violence and threats made against them 
or their families. In effect, they become commodities owned by traffickers, used for 
profit.  
These three elements all form part of trafficking:  
• The act: recruiting, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons 
• The means: force, fraud, coercion, deception 
• The purpose: exploitation 
 
Human trafficking is a crime. It does not always involve international transportation. 
Victims include those transported around the UK into exploitative situations, those born 
into servitude, or those who escape a trafficker before being exploited. It also includes 
anyone who once consented to work for a trafficker or slave master or participated in a 
crime as a direct result of being enslaved. The figures for 2014 showed that 70% of 
people identified were legally allowed to be in the UK and there is clear evidence that 
there is an issue locally. 

9.11 Police and HMIC report: the LSCB noted the content of a report from Avon & 

Somerset Constabulary. Four of the six recommendations from the original HMIC pilot 

child protection inspection have now been fully implemented, with certain completed 

recommendations, such as those relating to children detained in custody, being the 

subject of regular on-going auditing, monitoring and review.  

HMIC had also recommended that the Constabulary review the effectiveness of its 

training in safeguarding children and that it should include, in its next training and 
Page 102



35 

 

 

development strategy, plans to increase the skills of police officers and staff in 

engaging with young people, and to identify how best to work in partnership with other 

services supporting young people. The Constabulary gave assurance to the LSCB the 

their Human Resources and the Constabulary Learning and Development Department 

jointly provide detailed information regarding specialist skill levels and planned training 

to allow the Protect Governance Board and the Force Vulnerability Board to assess 

the situation and to inform training programmes and succession planning. 48 planned 

training courses were booked for Detective Constables for 2016-17. 

9.12 Thematic Review: the LSCB has undertaken four themed reviews during the period: 

June 2015: Parents Experience of the Child Protection Process – a mother of five 

children bravely described her experiences both positive and negative of the child 

protection process. Members reflected on the first hand reflection and some 

suggestions were make for changes.  

 

          September 2015: Review of the Themed Reviews – Board members were asked six 

questions about their view on the effectiveness of the themed reviews. Feedback was 

largely positive with some areas for improvement which were agreed by the Board.  

 

          December 2015: Early Help and Information Sharing – explored the issues in relation 

to the barriers / concerns about sharing information at an early stage and the potential 

consequences to sharing and not sharing. Discussed the potential for presumed 

consent – it was agreed that the multi-agency Information Sharing Protocol should 

alleviate these concerns and barriers. 

 

March 2016: Missing  - Charlie Hedges MBE – an internationally acknowledged 

expert on missing children (currently working for EU developing strategy and policy) 

presented the national picture and learning in relation to missing. This was supported 

by an update on our local position and arrangements to assure the Board. 

9.13 Other Annual Reports: the LSCB received annual reports from the Child Protection 

Chairs and the Independent Reviewing Service and identified a number of actions 

and priorities. These are monitored through the following years report. Some of the 

activity information is also presented later in the report. 

9.14 LADO: in 2015-16, the total number of referrals to the LADO has been 129, compared 
to 75 in 2014-15. 63 safeguarding concerns have been referred to the LADO and a total 
of 66 further referrals have required investigation either within a Strategy meeting or by 
employers. The LADO workload has seen a steady annual increase since 2013 and the 
figures reported for 2015-16 shows a further significant increase. Physical abuse 
remains the main category of referral. This year has seen a wider spread of referrals 
from agencies and the Council and the majority of referrals come from schools. Three 
cases were investigated by the Police and one conviction as made in-year. The LADO 
provides support and advice to LA Schools, academies and the independent education 
sector.  

9.15 Section 11 Audits: in June 2015 the Board received the mini themed Section 11 Audit 

Report 2014-15 on Training, the self-assessments were completed by partner 

agencies in March 2015. The report evidenced where agencies had rated themselves 

as red, amber or green in response to certain questions. Due to a change in Business 

Support Manager, there was little time to follow up on the ambers/reds as identified or 

agree actions. 

The Board agreed that the LSCB should work with the neighbouring partner authorities 

North Somerset, Bristol and South Gloucestershire on the next mini audit covering the 

theme of CSE. This audit required far more in depth analysis from partner agencies 
Page 103



36 

 

 

and an action plan. All partners completed their self-assessment by January 2016 and 

this was reported to the Board in March 2016. Action plans will be followed up in 

December 2016. The analysis of the report cited many examples of good practice, 

giving opportunities for partners to learn from other’s experience. The Board was 

reassured by the low number of reds and the work identified by partners to improve 

this. The report concluded: 

• Safeguarding processes appear to be becoming embedded in all LSCB partners’ 

work since the launch of the CSE Strategy in late 2014. 

• However the findings of any self-assessment will need to be tested and effective 

challenge to board members will be encouraged to ensure that each agency is fully 

compliant with delivering standards that impact positively on the outcomes for 

children and young people.  

• Action plans will be followed up after 6 months to see what progress has been made. 

• Support should be offered to those agencies who may feel that they need additional 

input on CSE practices within their agencies.  

• The audit has proved very useful in providing an insight into safeguarding practice 

across B&NES with regards to CSE since the launch of the Strategy and Protocol in 

2014.  It has certainly identified many areas of excellent practice and a few areas 

where organisations have identified further improvements or to question their role as 

a result of the self-reflection. 

After a series of meetings with the other Business Support Managers, a proposal has 

now been accepted by B&NES, Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

LSCBs to run a three year cycle of section 11 audits. The next full Section 11 audit will 

be undertaken electronically in Quarter 1 of 2016, in partnership with North Somerset, 

Bristol and South Gloucestershire. This will allow for a more ‘joined up’ approach and 

for more work to be developed with our neighbouring authorities in relation to the 

Section 11 process. (This will be of particular benefit to agencies who work in a co-

terminus capacity across those areas). In Quarter 4 there will be follow up on the 

Action plans submitted. In Years Two and Three of the cycle, a mini – themed audit 

will take place on an issue identified through the full Section 11 Audit process. 

Somerset had hoped to be a part of this process as well, and have worked with the 

other four areas to agree the questions but due to their own pressures they will 

undertake the full audit on a different electronic system and different frequency. 

 

9.16 Safeguarding in Education Section 175 Audit: a safeguarding audit of education 

establishments had been undertaken in October 2014, initial feedback was reported to 

the Board in March 2015 and a full report was presented in June 2015. Five schools did 

not respond to the self-assessment. The report gave some assurance to the LSCB but 

it was not felt that the self-assessment tool was sufficiently detailed. As a result a more 

robust self-assessment tool was designed relating to Working Together 2015; Keeping 

Safe in Education 2015 and other legislative changes, which gave detailed links; 

learning and improvement information as well as wealth of potential examples. 

Establishments had to give their own examples, RAG rate themselves against all 36 

questions and prepare an action plan. The audit was sent out in January and completed 

by February 2016. The LSCB very gratefully received an impressive 100% return from 

all establishments. The overview report is being presented to the Board in June 2016 

with a proposal to do sampling visits to a random selection of 10% of establishments in 

B&NES to quality assure the audits.  

 

9.17 Transitions: the Board has continued to monitor the way safeguarding is considered as 

part of the transition process from children’s to adult services.  Page 104



37 

 

 

 

9.18 Board Development: the LSCB holds two Business Development Days every year. 

The purpose of these half–day events is to explore the mechanisms by which the 

Board undertakes its business and to identify improvements to our effectiveness. In 

2015, the first Development Day took place in April jointly with the LSAB. The 

purpose was to have an overview of the roles of the LSCB/LSAB sub groups; identify 

common areas of work; and to consider and agree a Vision and Values Statement for 

the LSCB/LSAB. Progress on the areas of joint working is included in Appendix 6. 

        At the October Business Development Day, members of the Board heard from Jackie 

Mathers MBE, Bristol CCG Designated Nurse on the subject of FGM. This has led to 

the Board developing Multi Agency FGM Guidance and setting up the 

aforementioned task and finish group, jointly with the LSAB, to raise awareness of the 

issue and the implications on practice working with young girls or women. Awareness 

has been raised of the Mandatory Reporting Duty that came into effect in October 

2015 for health and education professionals regarding young girls/women under 18. 

The group is now developing the Guidance jointly with the LSAB, another example of 

the ongoing developing collaborative work between the two Boards. 

9.19 Work to safeguard children and young people is broader than all that is reported in year 

to the Board and whilst the Board may not have received direct reports in relation to 

these activities it is all recognised to contribute to the Boards agenda and reported as 

relevant. 

9.20 Work of the Connecting Families Team: The Government’s Troubled Families 

Initiative (known as Connecting Families in the BATHNES area), started phase 2 in 

April 2015 when the Council was allocated 715 families to work with over the next 5 

years, until 2020. To date we have identified 400 families, who all have a lead worker 

and an assessment from a range of professionals linked to Children, Young People and 

Families Services. The Core team has worked with 65 families during 2015 and to date 

we have claimed 31 (now 56) payment by results, this means we are on track for 2015. 

However we need to return and positive outcome for 158 families in 2016, to reach our 

target for the year. The Government have also tasked the Council to work with families 

who are high cost and have a range of issues across the identified areas of concern 

e.g. unemployment, poor school attendance, crime & ASB, DV and poor health.  This 

has led to an increased focus on the impact of workless-ness and homelessness as 

issues that contribute to poor outcomes for families linked to poverty issues within 

families. Therefore the Service managers continues to work with a wide range of 

partners to influence more joined up working and the sharing of key data to achieve and 

evidence positive outcomes for families.  

Following the Government’s announcement to step up the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 

Resettlement Scheme last year after public outcry over the fate of those driven to 

attempt to make the perilous crossing of the Mediterranean by boat, the Connecting 

Families Team was requested by the Chief Ex to be the operational lead on the 

resettlement programme for Syrian refugees, in the expanded programme. By working 

in close partnership with Policy & Partnership team we have to date supported 5 

families to live in Bath.  This involved getting the houses ready for them before they 

arrived, and them helping them to adjust to life in England once they have settled here, 

getting the right support packages around the families so they can live safe and happy 

lives. This will be a long term programme and the Government have agreed to a 5 year 

package to integrate families to England. 

 

 
Page 105



38 

 

 

9.21 Work of the MASH Project Board: the Project Board has continued to develop the 

arrangements for implementing a MASH in B&NES. The MASH is expected to go live 

in September 2016 and covers adults and children safeguarding (including domestic 

abuse). 

9.22 Work in Educational Establishments to Keep Children Safe:    

 School Improvement & Achievement Service  

The Director of Public Health Award is the main vehicle for the delivery of safety 

education and also gives schools a way of measuring impact. The DPHA Coordinator 

and PSHE Lead have worked closely to support schools during the year, highlights of 

this work is listed below: 

• provide training around all aspects of Personal, Social and Health Education for 

school-based and other staff working with children and young people  

• help schools identify gaps in provision around safety through the biennial SHEU 

survey for Years 4,6,8 and 10) 

• facilitate the Anti-Bullying Strategy Group which supports children, staff and 

parents around policy and practice, including reporting serious incidents and keeping 

safe around E Safety. A B&NES Anti-Bullying website page has been developed to 

ensure that guidance is based on good practice and current legislation (e.g. The 

Equalities Act /OFSTED guidance) 

• developed lessons for primary and secondary schools on bullying and challenging 

discriminatory language  

• provided support for parents who feel that their child’s school is not dealing with a 

bullying issue  

• developed a draft Sexual Health Policy for both primary and secondary schools 

and shared resources around pornography, Child Sexual Exploitation, consent, 

healthy relationships and FGM 

• worked closely with the NSPCC to promote workshops about abuse for pupils in 

primary schools  

• delivered training and have developed a resource pack of lesson activities around 

alcohol, tobacco, new psychoactive substances and illegal substances  

• worked with Bath College who are delivering “Gotyaback” Safety sessions in 

secondary schools, trying to ensure that young people make sure their friends get 

home safely 

• supported over 40 Equalities / E Teams of children and young people in schools 

and other settings who are working with staff to develop more inclusive practice, 

celebrate difference and challenge bullying and discrimination 

• commissioned free cycling training from B&NES Road Safety Team - road safety 

resources are signposted to schools and other settings by the DPH Award  

• shared resources with schools from the Personal Finance Education Group 

• We work closely with Stonewall (Ranked Number 1 Local Authority in the UK, 

2015-16 for our work around LGBT issues) to ensure support for LGBT young people  

and to raise awareness in schools and other settings  

• We have developed lessons around common anxieties for pupils at transition from 

primary to secondary school  

• funded and rolled out training for both primary and secondary teachers on 

Mindfulness, so that they are able to support pupils around stress and anxiety  

• worked collaboratively with partners in CAMHS and Public Health to support the 

development of packs of Mental Health Resources  for primary and secondary 

schools (developed by young people from CAMHS)  

 

The Work of the Virtual School: the Virtual School collects data on progress, 
attendance and behaviour just as any school would. It works with schools, carers and Page 106



39 

 

 

social workers targeting those children who are falling behind in their educational 
achievement.    

 
The Work the Virtual School does for Children in Care and Schools: the VS provides 
the following:  

 expert support to children, social workers and carers  

 support schools to produce excellent Personal Education Plans (PEPs) which are 
focused on learning outcomes. 

 distributes the Pupil Premium to schools and monitor its use 

 ensures that school placements continue wherever possible, even when care 
placements change, and support transition when school placements do change   

 support to designated teachers, social workers and carers through training and 
networking 

 organises a range of support activities and programmes 

 get involved quickly when things go wrong 

 listen and respond to the voice of our children in care 
 
Child Protection Forums: the Council facilitates child protection forums for all school 
Designated Safeguarding Leads, these forums support the leads to keep abreast of 
legislative changes, local practice and procedural changes. 

 

9.23 Youth Connect: this service supports young people to safeguarding themselves in the 
following ways – through the offer of early help by encouraging and supporting young 
people to safeguard themselves, the focus of the work is not to tell a young person not 
to do something, rather to give young people a holistic understanding of the risks of 
particular activities, behaviour or situations and empower them to make positive 
choices, encouraging young people to consider consequences and alternatives.  

Youth Connect staff work to ensure that young people are in a better position to make 
informed choices.  In both open access Youth Work and Targeted Youth Support, staff 
use voluntary association and relationship building as a platform for informal education, 
information and advice giving to help young people develop their support networks. In 
the Open Access service provided by the 4 Youth Hubs (Southside, Peasedown, 
Radstock and Riverside) and the Mobile Youth provision (Fox hill, Chew Valley, 
Paulton, Timsbury) young people have access to activities and information that help to 
build knowledge, skills and attitudes that helps them safeguard themselves. This work 
is driven through the Youth Connect workers knowledge of local and national issues for 
young people, as well as Youth Connects Curriculum frame work. These activities and 
information sessions are often thematic; examples are safer sexual health practice, 
support re bullying, internet safety and staying safe at parties. Youth Connect use 
partnership working within our Open access service effectively and regularly work with 
agencies like the sexual health nurses and Project 28, who regularly visit the projects 
this offers easy access into services for those young people who want additional 
support or services. Youth Connect staff are aware of national services which young 
people can support them to access information they offer, such as CEOP and ChildLine 
through conversation, activities and by displaying the information within our provision. 
Staff regularly uses conversation and informal education to enable young people to 
think about staying safe, build positive relationships and act as a role model to young 
people. 

 
Where young people are receiving a Targeted service, this can be in in Schools, 
Colleges, Youth hubs or wherever the young person feels comfortable. Young people 
work with Personal Advisors and Targeted workers to look at the issues that are 
affecting them and plan for the future. The assessment process with the young person 
offers opportunity to discuss their ability to keep themselves safe and to think about Page 107



40 

 

 

negative behaviours that they may have. The response to this is very much 
collaborative with the young person; an example of this is a young person with risky 
internet usage made a flyer around safer internet usage which was shared with young 
people across the authority. Sometime young people work with staff to create their own 
safety plan which is specific to them, this may include acknowledging safe/unsafe 
places/behaviours/attitudes, who they will contact if something happens or identifies 
coping strategies or alternatives to behaviour.  

 

Youth Connect also run targeted group work sessions which support young people who 
have been identified by profession as need a small intervention, but not necessarily in 
need of a full targeted service. These groups can be aimed at reducing isolation and 
building support networks for young people using positive activity and may take the 
form of project nights where smaller more supportive groups enable more vulnerable or 
anxious young people to access provision they may normally not feel able to.  Targeted 
group work may also focus on specific issues with a strong focus on safeguarding 
themselves such as the “sick party” project that focused on the issue of Child sexual 
exploitation to raise awareness of this issue and gave them tool and strategies they 
could use to protect themselves. Youth Connect in partnership with Julian house also 
deliver the Crush program, this a 10 week course for young people around Domestic 
violence. Crush focuses on skill building and attitudes of young people in relation to 
domestic violence and helps them to understand what safe positive relationships are 
and gives them tools to make positive decisions.  

 

9.24 Responsible Authorities Group: the work that the RAG contributes to safeguarding 

children and young people during the year includes the following:   

Building on work begun in 2014, to ensure more victims can escape the risk of 

Domestic Violence and Abuse (DVA) early through a number of new preventative 

DVA services (set out in brief below), the RAG has ordered a Review of Domestic 

Violence and Abuse (DVA) strategic structures. Internal partners leading the Review, 

include the Senior Commissioning Manager for Preventative Services, the Service 

Manager 11-19 Outcomes and the Director of Public Health.  This review will ready 

Bath and North East Somerset to take up opportunities presented by the new national 

strategy to prevent violence against women and children which will be launched in 

2017 and will include a New Service Transformation Fund.  Details of the Fund and 

the outcome of the strategic review will be reported on next year. 

The RAG has used the platform of existing projects and has developed more 

integrated and effective services these new preventative DVA services, include: 

The IRIS programme, which has been in operation for about 6 months, providing a 

clear Domestic Violence and abuse (DVA) referral pathway for GP surgeries. 

Although initially jointly funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner and Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG), it is now fully funded by the CCG for a further a two 

and a half years.  Feedback has been positive from those GP practices that have 

undergone the training, although less than a quarter of practices in B&NES have 

taken up the opportunity offered by IRIS.  The IRIS steering group continues to focus 

on recruiting all practices.   

During 2015-16 work began to widen the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor 

(IDVA) work to include “medium” and “low” risk victims and co-location of IDVAs with 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary and Curo Group at the Lighthouse Victim Care.  

The Lighthouse is run by the Police and accessed by all victims who call the Police.  

Vulnerable victims receive an enhanced wrap around service.  The IDVA working out 

of the Lighthouse ensures victims of DVA and their children, whose needs are likely to 

be complex, are recognised as such and are able to access appropriate early support. Page 108



41 

 

 

Prevent - the Prevent Steering Group has continued to meet during the year. B&NES 

is working closely with South Gloucestershire Council; the two authorities have 

appointed a joint project officer. A Prevent action plan including a training matrix 

(addressing the training needs of all Council staff, education establishments, 

voluntary and other sector partners) has been agreed and Home Office accredited 

training (workshops to raise awareness of Prevent) is already underway with monthly 

dates set up.  Routine updates have been provided to the LSCB. 

Work with Communities - following a request from the Police for assistance in dealing 

with persistent and continuing anti-social behaviour involving young people in Bishop 

Sutton; the Stronger Communities Manager for the area in partnership with the parish 

council brought together a working group including local residents, organisations who 

work with local young and other partners.  A local charity has been commissioned to 

work with local stakeholders and proposals that aim to support a more community 

lead programme (which interestingly suggests that local recreational spaces should 

be developed as spaces for all) are well underway.  

 

9.25 Emotional Health and Wellbeing – Emotional Health and wellbeing of children and 
young people has been a key priority in the CYPP 2014-2017 and the refreshed Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 2015. It was included on the LSCB business plan in 2015/2016. 
A report was presented on behalf of the emotional health and wellbeing strategy group 
to the LSCB in December 2015: this report detailed the work of the multi-agency group 
in promoting emotional resilience across partner agencies in B&NES. It highlighted the 
progress of the group against key deliverables and set out the key priority areas that 
were agreed in the CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015-2016 which was approved by the 
B&NES Health and Wellbeing Board and endorsed by NHS England.   The link to the 
plan is here: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-
Young-People/banes_transformation_plan_oct15.docx.  Good progress has been made 
on most priorities identified in the CAMHS 15/16 Transformation Plan and the EHWB 
group are currently working on updating the 2016/17  Plan.  (The LSCB board will 
receive an update report in June 2016.)  In summary the associated funding attached to 
the 15/16 plan increased support to pupils in primary, secondary schools and colleges 
in terms of nurture outreach, schools counselling and secondary school mental health 
hubs supported by CAMHS practitioners as well as providing additional training for 
educational staff and social workers.    Other developments include an on-line 
counselling service for young people in B&NES (from April 2016) and the publication of 
updated mental health awareness resources for schools.  These resources were 
developed with direct input from young people and reflect the need for more emotional 
and mental ill health in schools as highlighted in the recent Schools Education Unit 
Survey (SHEU) and the 2015/16 Pupil Parliaments.  

          The December 2015 LSCB report also detailed the memorandum of understanding 
reached between the specialist CAMHS provider, Oxford Health Foundation Trust, and 
Avon & Somerset Police for officers to consult with CAMHS before detaining a young 
person to a place of safety. This has been well received and has reduced the number of 
B&NES children and young people detained inappropriately. Efforts are continuing to 
address the national/local issue of a contingent health based place of safety when the 
current facility is full.  

2015 -16 saw an alignment between the Emotional Health and Wellbeing group and the 
Suicide Prevention Group with Public Health represented on both groups. This has 
further enhanced the joint working around emotional resilience, self-harm and suicide 
prevention for children and young people. 

9.26 Public Health: undertake a significant amount of work in addition to the 
aforementioned SHEU survey which contributes to safeguarding children and young Page 109

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/banes_transformation_plan_oct15.docx
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/banes_transformation_plan_oct15.docx


42 

 

 

people for example the coordinate work on:  

 Mental Health including suicide and self-harm prevention: the B&NES Suicide 
Prevention Strategy was refreshed for 2016 – 2019 and is now published on the 
Council’s website.  This strategy provides a framework for action to prevent avoidable 
loss of life through suicide for all children, young people and adults living in B&NES.  
The vison set out within this strategy takes into account the most recent policy and 
guidance regarding mental health and specifically suicide prevention and self-harm 
reduction.  

Within the action plan that accompanies this strategy are a number of interventions and 
intentions that are concerned with protecting children and young people from risk of 
suicide and self-harm.  The Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Group support implementation of these actions.  This Strategy 
group is multi-agency and leads on the CAMHS Transformation Plan which is overseen 
by Senior Commissioning Manager in Specialist Services within the Commissioning 
Division. They work across on behalf of the LA and the CCG and with Public Health 
division on this. The actions within the Strategy are grouped under a series of 
objectives:-  

1. Keep up to date with current guidance and research, local trends and intelligence:  
We are gaining information on young people who are at risk of or do self-harm through 
the implementation of a self-harm register for children and young people admitted to the 
RUH following deliberate self-injury.  This anonymised register is being kept by our 
CAMHS providers Oxford Health and started in January 2016.   

2. Integrate suicide prevention work within a broader framework for promoting mental 
health and wellbeing:  The Director of Public Health (DPH) schools programme has 
worked with the CAMHS participation group to develop and disseminate a key stage 3 
& 4 resource ‘Positive Mental Health’ that includes material for working with young 
people to prevent self-harm and reducing stigma around mental illness.  The DPH 
schools programme also offer a Mindfulness for Schools programme and are well on 
the way to meeting their targets for the number of primary and secondary school staff 
trained.  

3. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups and reduce risk in 
high-risk groups: All staff working in children’s services have been offered Applied 
Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST). This is funded by Public Health England 
and 6 courses are being delivered in BANES over the coming two years.   National data 
shows that LGBT people are at increased risk of self-harm and suicide. The DPH 
schools team have developed and promoted the emotional wellbeing of LGBT young 
people through Stonewall initiatives and in particular the ‘Space’ group.  For those 
young people who have been admitted to the RUH following a deliberate self-injury, two 
leaflets (one for them and one for their parents or carers) have been produced by 
Oxford Health, CAMHS participation group.  This includes sign posting to localised 
sources of support and information.   

4. Approval and dissemination of the Multi-Agency Self Harm Guidelines. 

 Commissioned children’s services including: 

1. Health visiting and Family Nurse Partnership (0-19 Services) - the Local Authority 

took over the responsibility for the commissioning of 0-5 services from NHS England 

on 1st October 2015.  

2. The Health Visiting and School Nursing (0-19) services have been remodelled in line 
with national specifications and guidance. 

Page 110



43 

 

 

3. The Family Nurse Partnership – which delivers a licenced and targeted programme 
to eligible families (currently women under 19 who are pregnant and their partners)? 
The programme is designed to offer a structured programme of 1-1 support from 16 
weeks into pregnancy until their baby is 2 years old. The team consist of four 
0.8WTE family nurses, a quality support officer and a supervisor. The Family Nurse 
Partnership is required to have an advisory board (FAB) to oversee quality and 
service improvement. The FAB has a role to integrate and embed FNP strategically 
and operationally, promote quality, and provides governance and accountability, 
particularly around clinical guidance and safeguarding supervision and to ensure 
involvement from service users. During 2015-16 the family nurses have been briefed 
on CSE, PANTs, LSCB policies such as Bruising protocol, and the threshold 
document, parental mental health difficulties, the importance of liaison with drug and 
alcohol services, sexual health and consent, neglect, assertive challenge and 
keeping the child’s timescales in mind. The FNP team hold a high level of 
safeguarding concern in their client group but they are very well supported and 
supervised. The team has monthly group supervision with the named nurse and 
have recently started using the signs of safety model to record what is going well, 
what needs to change, analysis and action plan. The family nurses have dealt with 
challenging safeguarding issues including neglect, domestic violence, mental health 
difficulties, self-harm, drug misuse and sexual exploitation are a feature and the 
group supervision has enabled shared learning and supported a strengths based 
approach to supporting families.  The national FNP unit advocate a safeguarding 
structure that involves a tripartite meeting between the family nurse, the named 
nurse and the FNP supervisor, in addition to group sessions and is expected to 
provide greater opportunity for respectful challenge and openness in terms of 
safeguarding practice. The FAB will be encouraging the supervisor to include this 
model of supervision for the team in 2016-17. 

The team also has access to the named nurse for individual supervision when they 
need additional safeguarding advice or consultation, and this has been used well. 
Links have been made with the Looked after children’s nurse to enable better 
collaborative working when clients are in receipt of both services. The FNP team 
have made a formal link to Marie Porter as the link to the children’s safeguarding 
team to ensure both teams are aware of each other’s roles and discuss issues 
regarding thresholds or concerns. The team are developing a clear protocol for 
managing repeated DNAs and ensure clients are provided with a ‘good ending’ (exit) 
from the service and transitioning back into universal services.  

The FNP team also receive monthly psychology consultation which have been 
evaluated as being ‘very helpful’ by the team and has enabled individuals to reflect 
on the complex issues they are facing in their work for example supporting mothers 
with a way forward when a pattern of attachment is disorganised, supporting 
mothers who persistently threaten to self-harm, the impact of trauma / loss, the 
impact of domestic abuse on the family system. 

In 2015- 16 no clients have had a CP plan, 5 clients had a CIN plan, 13 with active 
CAF/TAC in place, no clients were care leavers or LAC. Given the complexities of 
the clients’ circumstances and vulnerabilities, the lack of FNP clients with a CP plan 
can be attributed to the depth of trust and intervention the FNP provides. Universal 
services would not have the capacity to ‘hold’ such vulnerabilities at an early help 
level and prevent escalation to S17 and/or S47. This is suggestive therefore of 
savings to CSC as well as releasing capacity in Universal Services. The intense and 
robust supervision model in FNP provides a safety net to avoid the risk of collusion 
or over-optimism form the family nurses. 

Persistent challenges the team face include very low breastfeeding rates at 9% at 6 
weeks, very high rates of smoking in pregnancy 53% at 36 weeks, and high rates of Page 111



44 

 

 

illegal drug use 14% at 36 weeks and high numbers of subsequent pregnancies 
within 24 years at 43%. 

However 100% of infants are immunised up to date by 6 months and 12 months and 
94.4% immunised and up to date by 24 months. 

A FNP action plan has been developed followed a detailed annual review and will be 
overseen by the FAB, who plan to merge with a wider sub group of the Early Help 
Board focusing on the First critical 1001 days in 2016-17 and report to the Early 
Help Board quarterly and the LSCB annually. 

 

 

10.1 Local arrangements have been reviewed and fulfil the requirements set out in 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015.  

10.2 B&NES LSCB is one of the 12 members of the South West Safeguarding Child 

Protection Procedures consortia and uses these procedures to direct its safeguarding 

duties. B&NES LSCB host the license contract and the other LSCBs now pay into 

this, as reflected in the Budget, see Appendix 3. The website license was renewed in 

2015-16 with a new provider that works nationally with many Local Authorities 

providing their policies and procedures; and the new site went live in February 2016. 

The procedures comprise guidance based on current legislation and up to date 

national policy and guidance, as well as also incorporating locally developed 

materials which are relevant to each of the 12 LSCBs. Each Board has its own site, 

which provides a ‘gateway’ to the shared consortium procedures, with the facility to 

house information specific to individual boards avoiding confusion for users.   

Materials will be updated twice yearly to ensure all guidance remains a current and 

relevant for practitioners. Boards will also be able to some of their own local 

information. 

http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/ or   www.swcpp.org.uk 

10.3 All multi-agency policies and procedures the LSCB approves are placed on the 

public website. We are mindful that poor oversight and assurance of implementation 

was a failing in the Rotheram Inquiry. As a result in 2015-16, the LSCB has 

implemented a dissemination process whereby all members of the Board, education 

establishments and providers are made aware of the new/revised policies and 

procedures; Commissioners and LSCB partners are then asked to confirm this 

dissemination with the LSCB / LSAB Business Support Manager. 

Section 10: Local Arrangements 

Page 112

http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/
http://www.swcpp.org.uk/


45 

 

 

 

 

10.4 The Council delivers its statutory duty through its Children’s Specialist Service and 

Children and Young People Strategy and Commissioning Service. The Child 

Protection Chairs and Independent Review Service sit within the commissioning side 

of the Directorate whilst operational teams such as the Children and Families 

Assessment and Intervention Team, who provide the first point of contact for anyone 

wishing to talk about a child or young person, sit within the Children’s Specialist 

Service area. If a child is disabled the Disabled Children Team provides contact, 

referral and initial response services for the hospital and for disabled children. The 

majority of teams are based at the Civic Centre in Keynsham with the exception of 

the Safeguarding Children Administration Team and CP Chairs based with the CP 

Conference room at the Bath city office – Lewis House. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



46 

 

 

 
 

 

11.1 All partners have a responsibility to act when they identify that a child, young person and 

/ or their family needs support. The LSCB is committed to supporting agencies to do 

this and in December 2015 approved a revised tool which helps agencies to be clear 

on the level of service intervention they can expect and the threshold for undertaking 

an assessment of children and young people.   

 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-

People/ChildProtection/threshold_for_assessment_2016v2.pdf 

 
11.2 The information provided in this section of the Annual Report details the activity that has 

taken place during the reporting period to support children and young people identified  

in need of a service intervention as identified in the threshold document. It starts with 

the  offer of ‘early help’ and the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) through to the 

number of children and young people we support through child protection arrangements  

and through being brought into the care to protect and keep them safe. Note throughout 

this section percentages have been rounded to the nearest whole number. 

11.3 Early Help - in order to meet its duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

in need, as set out in the Children’s Act 1989, B&NES Council works closely with local 

agencies to ensure that help is offered at the earliest point where children and  young 

people’s additional needs are emerging. The CAF is used in many cases as the multi-

agency assessment tool. This year 328 CAFs were completed which is a decline on 

previous three years (a peak of 501 last year as represented in the diagram 1). Whilst 

there continues to be good engagement from the voluntary sector and commissioned 

services this reduction is likely to be brought about by a number reasons including: 

 

 there is currently exploration into whether there is under-reporting of common 
assessment activity for example by universal and commissioned targeted services.  A 
discrepancy has been detected in the numbers of common assessments as reported 
through commissioning monitoring arrangements and those logged centrally with the 
Integrated Working team 

 a vacancy in the Assessment and Information Officer post between July and 
September 2015 meant that the Integrated Working Team could respond to common 
assessments, but that capacity to support the workforce in initiating them was reduced. 

 the multi-agency CAF quality assurance group has noted a simultaneous decline in the 
quality of common assessments, suggesting that managers do not take oversight of 
assessments or sign them off, and that there are little or no internal quality assurance 
processes within services/schools. Confusion around the role of the lead professional 
has also been corroborated by the second annual survey to seek family feedback, and 
noted by the LSCB for discussion and action in December 2015 

 a reduction in early years funding (Flying Start Plus via Children’s Centres) is leading 
to fewer assessments being completed to secure funding for individual children. This is 
coupled with the greater accessibility of two-year funding for children with SEN and/or 
on a low income 

 Education Care and Health Plans changed following the amendments to legislation in 
September 2014 and, in the interests of not duplicating assessment, where EHC plans 
are in progress, a CAF is not necessary 

Section 11: Summary of Activity in Relation to the 

Support and Interventions Provided for Children and 

Young People 

Page 114

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/threshold_for_assessment_2016v2.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/threshold_for_assessment_2016v2.pdf


47 

 

 

 the Integrated Working team has worked hard to ensure that children and families are 
not assessed where there is no need to do so. A key focus has been to ensure that 
where an up-to-date social care single assessment exists, a common assessment is 
not completed as well (e.g. to support a funding application). This may well be a 
contributory factor to the reduction in the SG15 indicator which measures conversion 
rates from common assessment to single assessments 

 restructures to teams and budget reductions (e.g Children’s Centres/Health Visitors) 
have meant that whilst proportions of CAFs completed by these teams have remained 
unchanged, overall numbers have reduced as teams have concentrated on new 
structures and ways of working. 

 

11.4    Diagram 1: Number of Common Assessments (CAFs) by Year and Quarter 
 
 

 
 
 

11.5 Health Visitors, Schools, Midwifery, Children’s Centre’s and Nurseries initiated the greatest 
numbers of common assessments, and there is a growing trend for jointly completed 
assessments giving a holistic view of a child’s strengths and needs. The need for parenting 
support and for parental mental health support feature most commonly as reasons for 
initiating the common assessment along with the need for improved housing (either due to 
location, condition or overcrowding). 

 

11.6 As in previous years, with a process which can be used by the entire children’s workforce, 
it remains a challenge to evidence the impact of assessments and subsequent planned 
interventions have made. However the information below provided by the Councils 
Integrated Working team goes some way to evidence this and sets out the percentage of 
improved outcomes of the CAFs received in 2015-16: 

Quarter 1: 63% showed an improved outcome 

Quarter 2: 67% showed an improved outcome 

Quarter 3: 81% showed an improved outcome 

Quarter 4: 80% showed an improved outcome 

11.7 Over the past three years we have seen a consistent figure of between 8-10% of CAF’s 
appropriately progressing to a Children in Need (CIN) or Child Protection (CP) assessment 
by Council Children Social Care, with the lowest figure seen in 2015-16 where the figure 

37 40 37 

49 

80 
74 

92 

114 
120 

96 100 

138 

152 

117 
112 

120 

92 

49 

98 
89 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of CAFs 

11/12

12/13

13/14

14/15

15/16

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

A
Fs

 

Page 115



48 

 

 

was close to 6.5% for most of the year. In the Ofsted report of Kensington and Chelsea 
there was a conversion rate of 15% which was felt to be good, thus demonstrating positive 
intervention at an early stage in B&NES. 

11.8   Early Help is also offered by a range of targeted support services using single agency 
assessments. This includes the Connecting Families team (Troubled Families initiative)  
and a range of internally and externally commissioned targeted support services delivering 
youth support and family support.  Work is taking place to ensure this activity is collected 
and will be reported. The first attempt to collate this additional Early Help activity was 
undertaken in quarter four of 2015-16 and showed 337 young people and 413 families in 
receipt of targeted support during the quarter 318 referrals for early help received by the 
whole range of preventative services. The work of these targeted support services has a 
positive impact on safeguarding children and young people and is reflected in section nine 
above. 

11.9 There has been no further progress locally or nationally in benchmarking the rates of 
common assessments across authorities. Early Help continues to remain a focus in 
B&NES with the development of the Multi-Agency Early Help Strategy and the Early Help 
Board (referenced earlier in the report).  

 

11.10 Contacts and Referrals to B&NES Council Childrens Specialist and Targeted Services – 

This Service is responsible for receiving, processing and assessing the contacts when 

there is a concern about a child or young person. The aforementioned threshold tool is 

applied and decision made as to whether the contact requires a referral into Childrens 

Specialist Services for action. The diagram below sets out the activity per month. 

11.11 Diagram 2: Number of Contacts per Month 2014 – 16 
 

 

 
 

11.12 The average number of contacts during 2015-16 is 113 with August, September and 
October bringing the average down. Were these months not included the average would 
be 122 per month. Education Services and Health Services (including School Nursing, 
RUH A&E, GPs and Health Visitors) making the most contacts, however in quarter four 
there was a rise in contacts from Housing agencies which reassures the Board that 
partners are alert and confident to reporting a contact. This is expected and in line with the 
LSCBs previous experience that the initial months following the school summer holidays 
tend to yield lower levels of referrals as schools evaluate emerging concerns with young 

122 
115 

127 

157 151 

130 

158 

109 

127 
114 

92 

127 

106 
115 

139 

117 

66 

98 
86 

136 
121 127 

108 

134 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
e

c-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

Contacts by month - trend over time  

Number of contacts by month Linear (Number of contacts by month )

Page 116



49 

 

 

people following the summer holiday period.  
 

11.13 Children Social Care Duty Team undertook a workshop with key referring agencies in 
January 2016 with the aim to improving the quality of information included within Contacts 
and Referrals into Duty. Anecdotal evidence is that the quality of the information shared by 
providers has improved with the threshold and possible type of intervention more clearly 
articulated. 

11.14 Diagram 3: Number of Referrals per Month (contacts which progress to single  
assessment) 

 
 

11.15 The referral information above shows the number of referrals per month over the last 

two years. The average for this period is 90 referrals per month however there was a spike 

during this period in June 2015 which is consistent with a number of other LA’s in the region 

and nationally. The Family Justice Board reported that both June and July 2015 

represented the all time highest numbers of care applications to court across the country.  

 

11.16 In comparison to 2014-15 CIN Census data (the most up to date national benchmarking 

information available – though a year out of date) the England per 10,000 referral rate is 

475.2 and for the South West region is 468.9. The rate for 2015-16 for B&NES is 294.6, 

significantly lower than national and regional figures but consistent with our 

demographic profile and with previous performance as demonstrated in 11.14 above. 

Nationally the referrals to Children’s Social Care have fallen in 2014-15 by 3%. 

 

11.17 The majority of referrals have come from Avon and Somerset Constabulary (these have 

increased in comparison to the previous year), Schools, other Council Services, health 

partners and from family members / relatives or carers. This is not dissimilar to the 

referrals from last year and is similar to that reported by the DfE in October 2015 for the 

period 2014-15 where 26.4% of national referrals were from the police, followed by 

15.4% from schools and 14.9% from health services.  

 

11.18 During the period Children’s Specialist Services has further managed to reduce the 

percentage of cases that are re-referred within 12 months of closure. The figure as 

steadily decreased over the last three years: 

79 80 

98 

123 

66 

93 

122 

61 65 

88 

64 

81 80 

95 

138 

109 

66 

108 

92 
103 

73 

98 

70 72 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
e

c-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

Referrals by month - trend over time 

No.of referrals Linear (No.of referrals)

Page 117



50 

 

 

- 2013 -14 it was 24.6% 

- 2014-15 it was 21.8% 

- 2015-16 it is 15.6% 

The reduction is encouraging and demonstrates that ‘the journey that services have 

made in being able to ensure that where families received support we are being more 

effective in being able to get this intervention right first time and reduce the repeat 

demand for services’ and the impact on families. (Divisional Director for Children, Young 

People and Families Division – Council, May 2016) 

 

11.19  Children in Need Interventions - there were 580 Children in Need (CIN) open to 

Children’s Specialist Services at the end of March 2016. When comparing the per 10,000 

averages, B&NES reported 632.2 whereas our statistical neighbours report 546 and 

national average is 674.4. Whilst in B&NES we are higher than our statistical neighbours 

we are lower than the national average and this is consistent with us prioritising early 

intervention throughout the Service. Our intervention around children in need has 

remained consistent with the previous year. 

 

11.20  Diagram 4: Breakdown of Children in Need by Age and Gender 
 

  
 

11.21 The breakdown of CIN cases by age shows a consistent involvement with children under 

the age of 10 yrs. This is in keeping with the desire of the LSCB to intervene at an early 

stage. It is also interesting to note the higher number of young boys open in the 11-15 

age group. This is also seen as positive as this is a cohort that is statistically more likely 

to come into care. Therefore early interventions with this group appears to be  positive 

and beneficial.  

11.22 Strategy Discussions- 653 strategy discussions were held during the reporting period. 

This reflects the increased child protection activity that characterizes much of the initial 

work in the first two quarters of the year as set out below.  

 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Unborn 0 to 5 6 to 10 11 to 15 16 to 20 DOB not
recorded

CIN - age and gender breakdown 

Male Female

Page 118



51 

 

 

11.23 Diagram 5: Percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 days of the 

start of the section 47 Enquiries which led to a Conference 

 

(Source: DfE information provided by Ofsted May 2016) 

 

The most recently available comparable data covers the 2014-15 but shows B&NES as 

being very much in line with both national and regional performance in relation to 

timeliness of ICPC albeit at a slightly reduced level from the previous year. Similarly 

there continues to national be a rise in section 47 enquiries 12% increase from 2013-14 

to 2014-15 and a 10% increase in ICPCs for the corresponding years. B&NES increase 

is more than this however is being monitored closely as stated below.  

11.24 Initial Child Protection Conferences - there have been a total of 347 Initial Child 

Protection Conferences (ICPC) during 2015 – 16. This increase has been of 

significant concern to both the LSCB and the Council, where spikes were reported in 

April, May, June, October and November 2015.  The LSCB and Council are aware 

this figure is out of alignment with the national picture and have monitored it closely. It 

is also out of alignment with the number of contacts and referrals described earlier. In 

January 2016 all decisions were scrutinised by the Councils Children Services 

Service Manager and we have now seen a reduction in the number of section 47’s 

progressing from Strategy Discussions to ICPC. This has enabled the per 10,000 

figure for Child Protection Plans to return to within appropriate levels. The per 10,000 

figure at the end of 2015-16 was 41.6 compared to the statistical neighbor figure of 

41.9.   

11.25 With regard to the number of unborn babies, children and young people on a Child 

Protection Plan (CPP) in B&NES during the period the number has increased in 

comparison to last year, with 135 new CPPs in place, last year there were 109. There 

were 151 children on a CPP at the end of March 2016 

11.26 Table 1: Number of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan on 31st March by Year. 

 

Year 2013 - 14 2014 - 15 2015-16 

Number subject to a CP 

plan in B&NES from last 

year’s Annual Report 

123 109 151 

 

11.27  As previously mentioned the spike in the number of children in the CP process was a 

concern to the LSCB and Council. In addition to scrutinising the decision making the 

Council also audited a proportion of CP cases that had been subject to a plan for under 
Page 119



52 

 

 

12 months and a further selection of cases that had gone to Initial CP Conference prior 

to 18.2.16.  This audit exercise concluded that some cases were not being actively 

worked which had led to an escalation of concern and which could have been prevented 

had a more active approach to intervention been undertaken. These issues have been 

raised with the Duty team, and the acting Service Manager and Team Manager have 

undertaken began to discuss and share these findings with the team at a recent team 

development day. In addition we have also added further training on using Chronologies 

and re-promoted the LSCB Unborn Baby Protocol with the team.   

 

11.28 Diagram 6: Number of Children and Young People on a Child Protection Plan by Age and 

Period 

 
 
11.29 The diagram above shows that over the two year period the age range of the children on 

plans is consistent. However for the last two quarters there has been a reduction in the 
number of unborn babies on a CPP. As a result of this change we asked a member of the 
Council Commissioning team to look into any change in practice that might be linked to 
this. There has been a slight increase in older children on a plan and we are identifying 
some of these as being at risk of CSE however not all children at risk of CSE are on a 
CPP and it is nationally recognised that the CP process is not always a good fit for these 
children. 

 
 
 
 Page 120



53 

 

 

 
 
11.30  Table  2: Lengths of Time Children are Subject to a Child Protection Plan at Time of Plan 

Closure 

 

Length of Period Children on a Plan 

2014 - 15 

Children on a Plan 

2015-16 

Lasted less than 3 months 11.7%  21.4% 

Lasting 3-6 months 10.9%  2.7%  

Lasting 6-12 months 35%  45.5% 

Lasting 12-18 months 18.2%  16.1% 

Lasting 18-24 months 19.7%  13.4% 

Lasting more than 24 months 4.4%  0.9% 

 

11.31 The activity demonstrates that less than 1% of children and young people are subject 

to a plan that lasts longer than two years. The spread of CPP’s by duration is broadly 

in line with the national and regional CIN Census data.  

11.32 When looking at the categories of abuse recorded for children on Plans the following 

information is recorded. Of note is that there is no sexual abuse cases recorded in 

quarter four however there are throughout the rest of the period.  We have looked in 

detail at emotional abuse cases and in 2016-17 will look more closely at our 

categorisation in terms of sexual abuse. The PPP sub-group took a snap shot look at 

Police data on child victims of serious sexual offences, this review confirmed that 

with the exception of a very small number of cases (which were subsequently dealt 

with) we could be confident that all cases were known to Children Social Care 

however we do intend to keep a watch on the categorization of sexual abuse and 

those children at risk of CSE who are not on a CP plan.  

 

11.33 Diagram 7: Recorded Categories of Abuse at Initial and Latest Child Protection Plan 

2015 - 16 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16 Q4 2015/16

CPPs started by quarter and initial category of abuse 

Multiple

Sexual abuse

Physical abuse

Neglect

Emotional

Page 121



54 

 

 

 

 

11.34 The Child Protection Chairs provide an annual report to the LSCB which captures the 

participation of families at conferences and is of particular interest to the LSCB. We 

await the 2015 - 16 report, however information from the 2014 - 15 report stated out of 

the 109 young people on a CP Plan: 

‘67 (62% of the total) used the Advocacy Service to complete a summary of their views, 
giving them a voice in the meeting, even though they did not necessarily wish to attend. 
17 young people did attend with their advocate. Five younger siblings also chose to use 
the Advocacy Service which is encouraging. Of the 42 who declined the Advocacy 
Service, eight young people attended a Conference without advocacy support, feeling 
confident that they could express their views. This progress is encouraging and the 
team will build on this and the use of feedback received from all service users to make 
Conferences enabling environments.’ (Page 8) 

The Councils Children Services is currently reviewing parental / family engagement in 

Conferences and hopes to have the review completed by December 2016. 

11.35 Looked After Children - On the 31st March 2016 there were 149 Looked After Children 

in B&NES; on average throughout the year there were 147. The diagram below outlines 

the number of children and young people whom are Looked After each quarter. The 

figure is higher than the previous year and slightly above the three year average of 145  

children looked after. This small increase is not in line with the larger increase in the 

number of children on a plan. Nationally ‘the number of looked after children has 

increased steadily over the past seven years…at March 2015, an increase of 1% 

compared to 21 March 2014.’ (DfE SFR 31/2015 October 2015) 

11.36 Diagram 8: Number of Looked After Children at End of Quarter 

 

 
 Page 122



55 

 

 

 
 

11.37 B&NES has a lower number of Looked After Children and young people than the England 

average as expected and is broadly similar to its statistical neighbours. The table below 

sets out how it compares. 

11.38 Table 3: Rate Per 10,000 Population of Looked After Children 
 

Comparator Areas 2013 - 14 2014 - 15 2015-16 

B&NES 44.7 39.1 43.8 

Statistical neighbours 42.6 44 Not available 

England 60 60 Not available 

 

11.39 Nationally over a third of Looked After Children are aged between 10 and 15 years 

(according to the DfE 2014-15 data). There has been a steady rise reported in the 

number of 10 years old and above who are looked after for a number of years however 

locally there has been a very slight decrease (213 for 2014-15 and 204 for 2015-16). 

Nationally the DfE report a fall in the last two years (2013-2015) in the number of one to 

four year olds looked after; however locally we are showing an increase from 2014-15 to 

2015-16 of 14.6% (157 2014-15 to 180 in 2015-16). The Divisional Director Council (May 

2016) reports:  

‘This is positive for B&NES as it is indicative of being able to identify concerns at a 

younger age and being more successful in both finding positive alternative permanent 

solutions for young people, as well as indicating that we are able to prevent more 

young people in the older age groups from having to come into foster care.’  

11.40 Diagram 9: Gender Breakdown of Looked After Children 

 

 

 

11.41 The data shows a slight reduction in the number of females in comparison to males. 

However the variation from previous years is broadly similar.  

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Q1, 14/15 Q2, 14/15 Q3, 14/15 Q4, 14/15 Q1, 15/16 Q2, 15/16 Q3, 15/16 Q4, 15/16

Gender breakdown of looked after children - trend over 
time 

Male Female

Page 123



56 

 

 

11.42 It remains the aspiration to reduce the numbers of older young people coming into foster-

care, and 15/16 saw a reduced number of young people in this age group entering the 

care system. The age profile of our LAC population is young than three years ago which 

is positive and indicative that we are finding solutions that enable more young people to 

return home or find alternative carers, thus reducing prolonged stays in foster-care.  

 
11.43 Diagram 10: Ethnicity of Children in Care as at 31.03.16 
 
 

 
 
11.44 The ethnicity of Children in Care is set out above; the number of Children in Care from 

BME backgrounds has decreased from the previous year. The percentages are as 
expected for the local population. The majority of children in care are White British. 
‘Nationally the majority of children looked after are from White British background similar to 
the general population of all children’ (page 3 DfE SFR 34/2015 October 2015). 

 

11.45 The Council has supported two unaccompanied asylum seekers; one of whom has been in 
care and has now reached 18. Nationally we have seen a 29% increase from 2013-14 to 
2014-15 in the number of children seeking asylum this figure will be higher for 2015-16 
and it is anticipated that B&NES will support more children. 

 

11.46 Two young Asian women were placed in care following the police being alerted under 
Modern Slavery processes.  
 

11.47 Children Specialist Services and the Independent Reviewing Services work together to 
ensure placements remain as stable as possible.  In 2015-16  92% of placements had less 
than 3 moves with 8% with 3 or more placements during the year.  

 
11.48 Out of the 149 Children in Care at the end of the reporting period 16 were placed outside 

of the adjacent authorities. The breakdown of location is as follows:  
Four children in residential schools 
Two children in residential care homes 
Two children in parent and baby units Page 124



57 

 

 

Four children in foster homes (eight placements over the year)  
One young person in a semi-independent placement 
Two children placed with kinship carers under Regulation 24 Placement with Family and 
Friends under the Children Act 1989 

 
11.49 Unfortunately we are unable to report the number of foster placements as the report has 

not been prepared from the Children’s case records; however this has been confirmed as 
a reporting priority for 2016-17.  

 

11.50 Diagram 11: Breakdown of Legal Status of Looked After Children at 31.03.16 
 

 
 

11.51 When comparing the legal status of our Looked After Children with the statistical 

neighbours and national benchmarking we see that only 6.7% of B&NES children 

were on interim Care Orders in comparison with 13% and 11% (respectively). 

However B&NES are more in line with the national figure for children on full Care 

Orders which stands at 49% rather than the 39% reported by our statistical 

neighbours. We are slightly higher than both in terms of the percentage of Placement 

Orders which is 9% for our statistical neighbours and 11% nationally. Finally we are in 

between the national figure for those accommodated under section 20  (29%) and our 

statistical neighbours 38%. The high percentage of Placement orders demonstrates 

the significant amount of adoption work that was undertaken last year. 

11.46 The Independent Reviewing Service has ensured reviews are carried out in a timely 
way. During this period we are reporting two figures, the national NI66 and the local 
one. 

 National NI66 reviews on time for children and young people in care for over a 
year for 2015-16 is 95.2% 

 Local NI66 review on time for children and young people in care (including 
those in care for less than a year) for 2015-16 is 93.3% 

 
NB these figures relate to Children in Care at the end of the period only. The location 
and time of the reviews has changed in accordance with children and young people’s 
wants. Page 125



58 

 

 

11.47 398 reviews were carried out during the year; children and young people are 
encouraged to participate in these and in 95% of cases some form of participation 
took place. Note good practice recommends not including children under the age of 
four in such reviews. 

11.48 The Independent Reviewing Officers have continued to raise concerns about the 

timeliness of social work reports in preparation for reviews and assessments which 

require updating. This has been escalated and Children’s Social Care is monitoring 

it. The IRO Service submits an Annual Report to the LSCB which outlines their work 

in more detail.  

11.49 Outcomes for Looked After Children 

11.50 During the year 66 children and young people left care, four of whom were adopted. There 
are an additional 11 children who are on the adoption pathway. 

11.57  During the period 91.5% of young people (aged 19, 20 and 21) leaving care have 

suitable and stable accommodation; this compares to 90.9% in 2014-15 and continues to 

demonstrate good outcomes for care leavers. This compares to 77% for statistical 

neighbours and 80.7% England average (source  DfE) 

11.58 66% of young people leaving care are in employment, education or training, this figure 

has increased in comparison to last year’s figure of 61%. This figure of 61% was in line 

with national benchmarking which the DfE state as 39% were not in education, 

employment or training for 2015. Whilst we do not have the DfE figure for 2016 we can 

assume we are above or in line with national performance.  

 

11.59  During the year there has been an increased focus on children missing from school, 

education and home and the CSE and Missing sub-group will look at triangulating 

this for assurance purposes in the 2015 - 16 business plan. Police notifications are 

routinely received and recorded. These figures are also reported to the 

CSE/Missing Sub-group. 

 
11.60 In March 2015 the DfE reported that 6% of children looked after were recorded as going 

missing from placement at least once during the year. The number that were away without 
authorisation was reported as 3%. Nearly half of these were children in secure units, 
children’s homes or hostels and were over the age of 16.   

 

 

 

12.1 The LSCB has not been subject to any external assessments itself during the period 
however a peer review of the quality of Local Authority supervision practice was 
undertaken by another Local Authority in June 2015. The feedback from the peer challenge 
team was very positive, and confirmed a good level of practice in ensuring tasks were 
undertaken and in terms of providing opportunities for staff to reflect on and be challenged 
in relation to their practice. In turn, two managers also undertook a peer review of CSE 
practice in a neighboring LA. This was received very positively, and the managers were 
complimented on the extent of their knowledge in this area.   

 

12.2 The Youth Offending Team were inspected by HMIP in February 2016 as part of 
their schedule of Short Quality Screening Inspections. This was positive and 
highlighted elements of good practice within the team as well as comments on the 
strength of report writing and thresholds.   

 

Section 12: External Assessments 

Page 126



59 

 

 

12.3 The LSCB was made aware of the National Child Protection Inspection Report and 

subsequent action plan produced by Avon and Somerset Constabulary and have asked 

for progress reports on this. The focus of these actions have assisted the creation of the 

regular CSE information sharing meetings that have also involved the West of England 

CSE Victim Identification and support project. In addition, the Inspection report has 

prompted constructive discussion about how to best ensure Police representation at 

LSCB sub-groups not just in the B&NES area but also across the Avon and Somerset 

region. These discussions will continue into 2016-17 with a view to find a balance 

between needing to ensure local representation as well avoiding duplication where 

issues are shared in common across a number of LSCBs. 
 

 

 
 

13.1   The LSCB is now one year into its three year Business Plan and many actions have    

been completed or are well underway. The original plan was developed last year 

and included a set of activity already scheduled for 2016-17, these remain in place, 

however during the year additional actions have been identified as outlined below. 

 
         Key Priority 1: The LSCB will co-ordinate a multi-agency approach to reducing harm to  

vulnerable Children and Young People. This will particularly focus on children and young  
people associated with the issues of:     

       Physical Abuse
    

       Neglect
    

       Sexual Abuse
    

       Child Sexual Exploitation 
   

       Children missing or absent
   

       E-Safety
 

   
       Self-harm / suicide

 
   

       Emotional well being
 

   
       Disabilities

 
   

       FGM
 

   
       Domestic Abuse

 
   

       Substance misuse 
 

   
       Mental health and link to domestic abuse and substance misuse 

         Radicalisation (Prevent and Channel)
          Slavery

           Harm associated with service provision (eg, mental health bed availability or provider failure)

       Children affected by parental offending
    

NEW Ensure issues identified in relation to e-safety in the 2015-16 schools self – 

assessment is followed up. 

NEW Implement and monitor the effectiveness of mental health protocol (CSC and 

AWP specific) and build upon this to incorporate additional multi-agency partners 

into the protocol 

NEW Gather assurance from the Children’s Commissioner and the Emotional Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy group (Children and Young People) that local arrangements 

are robust and meeting local needs 

NEW Monitor the categorization of sexual abuse cases and review CSE cases  

 

Key Priority 2: To increase the participation and involvement of children, young 

Section 13: Priorities for 2016 - 17 and Beyond 

Page 127



60 

 

 

people and parents/carers in service improvements and developments both: 

 ·       Experience of current services      

·       Aspirations for new ones 

NEW Map partners engagement work with young people in recruitment 

NEW Incorporate learning from SHEU survey 2015 into the work of the Board 

NEW Develop further arrangement to articulate the voice of the child in the work of 

the Board – work with the Participation Officer to do this  

 

Key Priority 3: Strengthening the LSCB’s evaluation and challenge of the 

effectiveness of individual agency safeguarding arrangements.    

NEW Gather the learning from joint audits in accordance with the OFSTED 

framework 

NEW Undertake multi-agency audit on children absent from school 

 

Key Priority 4: Sufficient and competent workforce to ensure Children and Young 

People are safe   

NEW Assurance that new LSCB E-Safety Strategy is incorporated in Multi agency 

training and all training in schools 

 

Key Priority 5: Continuous improvement of LSCB   

NEW LSCB induction to be reviewed in line with LSCB Terms of Reference (TOR) 

NEW Each Risk Owner to monitor progress on Risk Register and inform Business 

support manager. Sub Group chairs to review April 17 prior to June LSCB 

 

Section 14: Essential Information 
 

14.1 The Annual Report is published by the LSCB and has been contributed to and approved 

by all partner agencies. 

14.2 The Report is shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board, Childrens Trust Board, LSAB, 

Responsible Authorities Group (RAG) and Council Chief. 

 

14.3 The report can be made available in alternative formats as required and by contacting 

the Communications Coordinator by emailing Melanie_Hodgson@bathnes.gov.uk or 

ringing 01225 477983. 
 

Page 128

mailto:Melanie_Hodgson@bathnes.gov.uk


61 

 

 

 
 
 
 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-

People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf 

The Terms of Reference were updated at the June 2015 LSCB and reviewed in November. 

 

Appendix 1: LSCB Terms of Reference 

Page 129

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf


62 

 

 

Appendix 2: LSCB Members and Attendance 2015-16  
 

Name Agency Role 

1. Alison West  
(until Sept 2015) 

NHS England South Quality & Safety Manager 

2. Angela Vick Independent  Lay Member 

3. Ashley Ayre B&NES Council Director of People and Communities 

4. Bruce Laurence B&NES Council Director of Public Health 

5. Dami Howard B&NES Council LSCB/LSAB Business Support Manager 

6. David Gee CAFCASS Service Manager 

7. Dawn Clarke Banes NHS CCG Director of Nursing & Quality 

8. Donna Redman Banes NHS CCG Named GP 

9. Duncan Stanway Barnardo’s Assistant Director, Mids and SW 

10. Emma Hall (until January 
2016) 

Independent Lay Member 

11. Dr Fiona Finlay Sirona care and health  Designated Doctor 

12. Helen Blanchard RUH NHS Trust Director of Nursing 

13. Jackie Deas B&NES Council Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children & QA 

14. Jenny Daly RUH NHS Trust Named Nurse Safeguarding 

15. Jenny Theed Sirona care and health Director of Operations 

16. Judy Lye-Forster Bath College Director of Learning  

17. Kevin Day National Probation Service Senior Probation Officer 

18. Lesley Hutchinson  B&NES Council Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 

19. Liz Ball Project 28 Coordinator 

20. Liz Spencer National Probation Service Head of SW National Probation Service 

21. Mark Everett Writhlington School Head Teacher: Secondary Heads Representative 

22. (Cllr) Michael Evans B&NES Council Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

23. Mick Dixon/Neil Liddington Avon Fire & Rescue Associate LSCB Member 

24. Mel Argles (From March 
2016) 

B&NES Council Principal Social Worker Children and Families 

25. Mel Holt (until June 2015) B&NES Council Principal Social Worker Children and Families 

26. Michelle Maguire Oxford Health Head of Service 

27. Mike Bowden B&NES Council Director for CYP and Health Strategy and 
Commissioning 

28. Nicky Smith St Nicholas CofE Primary School Head Teacher: Primary Heads Representative 

29. Rachel Williams Avon and Somerset Constabulary Detective Superintendent, Head of PPU 

P
age 130



63 

 

 

30. Reg Pengelly Independent Independent Chair 

31. Richard Baldwin B&NES Council Divisional Director Targeted and Specialist services  

32. Roz Lambert VCS CYPN   First Steps - Voluntary Sector rep 

33. Sally Churchyard B&NES Council Youth Offending Service 11-19 Prevention Service Manager 

34. Sarah Thompson  SWAST Safeguarding Manager 

35. Sarah Warne (from 
December 2015) 

NHS England South Safeguarding Lead Nurse 

36. Simon Hester SWAST Named  Professional for Safeguarding  

37. Sophia Swatton (until Dec 
15) 

Banes NHS CCG Designated Nurse Safeguarding 

38. Dr William  Bruce-Jones AWP (Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership Trust) 

Clinical Director 

 
  

P
age 131



64 

 

 

LSCB Attendance by Agency 

Name June  2015 Sept  2015 Dec 2015 March 2016 

Avon Fire & Rescue     

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership Trust     

Avon and Somerset Constabulary     

B&NES Council Commissioning Children and Young 
People Strategy and Commissioning 

    

B&NES Council Public  Health     

B&NES Council Social Care     

B&NES Council YOS     

Banes NHS CCG/Designated Nurse       

Barnardo’s     

CAFCASS     

Bath College      

Designated Doctor      

Executive Lead Member     

Housing Representative     

Lay Members      

Named GP     

National Probation Service     

NHS England South     

Oxford Health     

Primary Head Representative     

Royal United Hospital     

Secondary Head Representative     

Sirona care and health     

SWASFT     

Voluntary Sector Rep - CYPN     

 
The above indicates representation only, which is not always from the designated lead from each agency. 

P
age 132



65 

65 

 

 

 
 

Serious Case Review sub group 

Member Agency 

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council (Chair) 

Fiona Finlay Sirona care and health 

Jennifer Daly RUH 

Richard Baldwin B&NES Council 

Rachel Williams Avon & Somerset Constabulary 

Sophia Swatton (left Dec 2015) Banes NHS CCG 

 

Policy Procedures and Performance sub group 

Member Agency 

Mike Bowden B&NES Council (Chair)  

Caroline Dowson B&NES Council 

Chrissie Hardman Sirona care and health 

Dami Howard B&NES Council 

Jackie Deas B&NES Council 

Jennifer Daly RUH 

Jill Chart Sirona care and health 

Jon Peyton Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership NHS Trust 

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council 

Mel Argles B&NES Council 

Richard Baldwin B&NES Council 

Simon Eames Avon and Somerset Constabulary 

Sophia Swatton (left Dec 2015) Banes NHS CCG 

Val Janson Banes NHS CCG 

 

CSE and Missing sub group 

Member Agency 

Richard Baldwin  B&NES Council 

Becky Lewis Barnado’s 

Cathryn Humphries B&NES Council 

Carl McMurtry Curo 

Charlotte Leason Avon and Somerset Constabulary 

Dr Donna Redman Banes NHS CCG 

Ian Read Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership NHS Trust 

Jamie Luck Mentoring Plus 

Judy Lye-Forster Bath College 

Jenny Daly RUH 

Liz Bryan Project 28 

Lorraine Beasley Hayesfield Academy 

Mandy Round Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Mel Argles B&NES Council 

Rachel Allen-Ringham B&NES Council 

Sally Churchyard B&NES Council 

Sophia Swatton (left Dec 2015) Banes NHS CCG 

Trina Shane B&NES Council 

 
 
 

LSCB Sub group members 

Page 133



66 

66 

 

 

 
 
 

Communications sub group 

Member Agency 

Richard Baldwin  B&NES Council (Chair) 

Dami Howard (from Nov 15) B&NES Council 

Jonathan Mercer B&NES Council 

Judy Lye-Forster Bath College 

Mel Argles B&NES Council 

Mel Hodgson B&NES Council 

Jen Russell (from Dec 2015) B&NES Council 

Judy Lye-Forster  City of Bath College 

Sarah McCluskey (until June 2015) B&NES Council 

Member of Youth Forum TBC 

 
 
 

Training and Workforce Development sub-group 

Member Agency 

Sophia Swatton (until Dec 2015) BaNES CCG   (Chair) 

Mel Argles  B&NES Council (Chair) 

Isobel Sanderson Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Jenny Daly RUH 

Jill Chart Sirona care and health 

Judy Lye-Forster Bath College 

Kevin Clark B&NES Council 

Kitty Crowther B&NES Council 

Lena Higginson B&NES Council 

Liz Spencer National Probation Service  

Mandy Round Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Mel Argles B&NES Council 

Nick Quine Avon and Somerset Constabulary 

Paula Lockyer RUH 

Philip Rhodes Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Partnership NHS Trust 

Roz Lambert First Steps Children’s Centres & 
Family Services 

Theresa Hallett Bath College 

Tracey Pike Youth Connect 

Judy Lye-Forster Bath College 

Tracey Pike B&NES Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



67 

67 

 

 

 

Professional Practice sub group 

Member Agency 

Duncan Stanway Barnardo’s (Chair) 

Charlotte Leason Avon and Somerset Constabulary 

Claire Williamson 
 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health  
Partnership NHS Trust 

Hilary Marcer Sirona care and health 

Jackie Deas B&NES Council 

Jill Chart Sirona care and health 

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council 

Lisa Miller Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Sally Churchyard B&NES Council 

Sara Willis B&NES Council 

Sophia Swatton Banes NHS CCG 

Trina Shane B&NES Council 

 
 

Children in Care & Quality Assurance sub group 

Member Agency 

Jackie Deas B&NES Council (Chair) 

Chris Weston B&NES Council 

Bev Coles B&NES Council 

Carla Cooper B&NES Council 

Jackie Wrench Sirona care and health 

Lisa Miller Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Louise Nichols Oxford Health - CAMHS 

Lynda Williams Off The Record 

Mike Gorman B&NES Council 

Pete Campbell B&NES Council 

Rosie Hodgson/Tamsin 
Cowls/Amanda Hamilton 
Radford/Ruth Loughridge 

B&NES Council 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 135



68 

68 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 136



69 

69 

 

 

 

 

 2015 
- 16 Budget Actuals 

Income 

B&NES Council 51,823 51,823 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary 9,003 9,200 

Banes NHS CCG 20,102 20,102 

National Probation Service 3,153 3,153 

CAFCASS 550 550 

Community Rehabilitation Company 0 1,576 

Avon Fire and Rescue 1,000 1,000 

SWCPP Manual Contributions 0 33,833 

Fees and Charges/Training Income 5,120 8,035 

Misc. Contributions 650 4,246 

Carry Forward 51,439 73,274 

Totals 142,840 206,792 

 

Expenditure 

Staff salaries (Business Manager) 13,300 10,215 

Travel / Car Parking 179 1,027 

Printing / Design 39 833 

Independent Chair 19,186 14,290 

Training (including organisation 

and delivery) 

39,787 55,593 

MASH Programme Board 0 5,000 

SWCPP Manual 0 35,000 

Other Expenses 2,052 23,382 

Carry Forward 68,297 0 

Totals 142,840 142,340 

 0 (Balanced) 64,452 (Net Under 
Spend) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3: Budget 2015 - 16 

Page 137



70 

70 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 

Evaluation of LSCB Inter-agency Child 
Protection: Standard and LSCB Inter-
agency Child Protection: Advanced 

(April 2015 – March 2016) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 4: Training Information 

Page 138



71 

71 

 

 

 
Introduction 

 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is responsible for ensuring that 
people who work with children are appropriately trained to understand normal 
childhood development and to recognise and act on potential signs of abuse and 
neglect at the earliest opportunity. The LSCB also needs to review and evaluate the 
quality, scope and effectiveness of inter-agency training to ensure it is meeting local 
needs.  
Training for inter-agency work in safeguarding and protecting children and young 
people is intended to promote better outcomes by fostering: 

• More effective and integrated services at both the strategic and individual 

case level; 

• Improved communication and information sharing between professionals, 

including a common understanding of key terms, definitions and thresholds 

for action; 

• Effective working relationships, including an ability to work in multi-disciplinary 

groups or teams; 

• Sound child focused assessments and decision-making; and 

• Learning from Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) and reviews of child deaths 

Research undertaken in 2009 for the Department of Children, Schools and Families 
and the Department of Health indicates that professionals have found that inter-
agency training is highly effective in helping them to understand their respective 
roles and responsibilities, the procedures of agencies when safeguarding children, 
and in promoting a shared understanding of assessment and decisions-making in 
practice. Participants also valued the shared learning environment and experienced 
an increase in confidence when working with other agencies and a greater respect 
for such colleagues (Carpenter et al, 2009) 
This report specifically reviews feedback from the LSCB Inter-agency Child 
Protection Training:  Standard, with contributions from 318 delegates and LSCB 
Inter-agency Child Protection Training:  Advanced, with contributions from 167 
delegates covering the period April 2015- March 2016.  However, the evaluations 
received on all courses offered through the LSCB training programme throughout the 
aforementioned period will be used to inform the ongoing development needs of the 
training audience.  
 

  

Page 139



72 

72 

 

 

 
Context:  Training and Workforce Development Sub-

group (T&WD Sg) 
 

Programme Development 
The T&WD Sg is responsible for evaluating the training which it provides in order to 
ensure that it meets the LSCB’s statutory functions and to respond to national and 
local issues.  
The following courses will be evaluated in detail: 
Standard Inter-agency Child Protection - This one day course aims to promote 
and improve the inter-agency approach and response to Child Protection issues. 
Delegates have the opportunity to develop their knowledge around child protection 
issues and the processes involved. They will explore with colleagues from other 
organisations the challenges and benefits of working in a multi-agency system.  The 
course includes identifying child protection concerns, understanding how to make a 
referral, the process of information sharing and understanding roles and 
responsibilities in relation to safeguarding children.  
Advanced Inter-agency Child Protection - This is a two day course focusing on a 
multi-agency approach and response to Children at significant risk of harm.  The 
Advanced Inter-agency Child Protection course is for staff with particular 
responsibilities in relation to safeguarding children and young people and as a result 
will be contributing to section 47 enquiries, taking part in child protection conferences 
and core groups and/or working with complex cases. Delegates have the opportunity 
to develop their knowledge of participating in statutory activities such as S.47 
discussions and child protection conferences, alongside developing a deeper 
understanding of the challenges of working with ‘stuck or resistant’ families where 
there may be issues of disguised compliance.  
Data will also be provided for all other courses provided under the LSCB training 
plan.    
 

Training Delivery 
The LSCB employs a Training Coordinator who is managed by B&NES Children’s 
Services Training & Development Manager. By agreement, the Training & 
Development Manager oversees the development and delivery of the LSCB training 
programme and makes provision for the effective administration, evaluation and 
quality assurance of the programmes courses. The LSCB Training Coordinator is 
responsible for the development, and in many cases the delivery, of courses, 
frequently co- facilitating sessions with colleagues from health, education, the police 
or social care.  
The Methods and approaches employed in the training delivered through the LSCB 
training programme ensures that a variety of adult learning styles are catered for to 
help participants fully engage in the training.  The range of techniques used also aids 
the greatest understanding of course material to be gained and for this to be 
transferred into daily practice by delegates.  (See below for examples using Honey 
and Mumford). 
 
 
 

Page 140



73 

73 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Training Standards  
All Local Safeguarding Children Board training is delivered against the following 
principles: 

 Child Centred All training reflects that the welfare of the child is paramount 
and that it incorporates and actively promotes ‘children’s rights’, ‘children’s 
voice’ and their ‘needs’ 

 Partnership with Parents and Carers All training recognises and actively 
promotes the need for working in partnership and engaging with parents and 
carers. The training recognises the ‘family’ as a whole when safeguarding 
children and young people. 

 Diversity All training is informed and governed by equal opportunities and 
reflects the diversity and cultural needs of the individuals and organisations, 
within Bath & North East Somerset, that have responsibilities for safeguarding 
and promoting the wellbeing of children 

 Accessibility All individuals who work with children, young people and/or 
their carers in the statutory, voluntary and independent sectors have access 
to the training 

 Interagency Collaboration All training promotes the need for interagency 

working, bringing together people and organisations, to effectively safeguard 

children from harm 

Learning 
style 
▼ 

Attributes  Activities  

Activist Activists are those people who learn by 
doing.  

 problem solving 
 group discussion 
 competitions 

Pragmatist These people need to be able to see 
how to put the learning into practice in 
the real world.  

 time to think about how to 
apply learning in reality 

 case studies 
 problem solving 
 discussion 

Reflector These people learn by observing and 
thinking about what happened. They 
may avoid leaping in and prefer to 
watch from the sidelines.   

 Paired/ Small group discussions 
 time out 
 observing activities 
 feedback from others 

Theorist These learners like to understand the 
theory behind the actions. They need 
models, concepts and facts in order to 
engage in the learning process.  

 models 
 statistics 
 stories 
 quotes 
 background information 
 applying theories 

Page 141



74 

74 

 

 

 Evidence Based All training will be ‘evidence based’ containing the latest 

research, reflective practice and the ‘lessons learned’ on a local and a 

national level. Wherever possible the training will incorporate the views of 

service users. 

 Evaluation All training is responsive to identified local needs and will be 

subject to regular rigorous review and evaluation  

Adapted from PIAT Sustaining quality: Standards for Interagency Child Protection Training and Developments 

 
Evaluation & Quality Assurance 

 

Through its Training & Workforce Development Sub-group, the LSCB is required to 
evaluate the provision and quality of both single and multi-agency training, ensuring 
that it is provided within individual organisations, and checking that training is 
reaching all relevant staff. 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring and Evaluation of Inter-agency training  
 

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of multi-agency training in Bath and North East 
Somerset, a variety of methods are employed to achieve four goals: 

 Ensure the learning outcomes for each course are met, and reflect evidence 

based ‘best practice’ that keeps the child or young person in focus. 

 Ensure the continual evaluation by LSCB Training Manager to ensure courses 

are meeting the needs of staff, with transparent overview and accountability to 

the LSCB training and workforce development sub group. 

 Ensure that evaluations inform the planning and development of future 

training 

 Ensure that messages from training are being embedded in practice. 

 

Methods of Evaluation 
All courses advertise the learning outcomes expected from participants by the end of 
the course.  As recommended in the DCSF Research Report ‘Outcomes of 
Interagency Training to Safeguarding Children: Final Report, evaluation forms used 
in B&NES on half day, full day or two day courses remind attendees of those 
learning outcomes and delegates are asked to scale pre and post course their 
confidence in these areas to assess the effectiveness of the training in addressing 
the identified aims and objectives on the day, with space for additional comments.   If 
a common theme emerges around objectives not being met this will trigger a review 
of the course content/ delivery style so that adjustments can be made. 
Research into the effectiveness of inter-agency training suggests that for participants 
to gain the most from training they need to be able to make direct links to their own 
practice, and consider how the knowledge gained in training can improve their 
practice (Research in Practice (2012) Training Transfer: - getting learning into 
practice. Darlington Trust).  It is recognised that there can be a number of barriers for 

Page 142



75 

75 

 

 

delegates in making this training transfer, including their organisational structure, 
their leadership ethos and other practical considerations such as workload.  It is 
therefore recognised that delegate’s managers play an important role in promoting 
positive professional practice and in embedding knowledge from training.  All 
delegates are therefore invited at the end of training to consider an action plan for 
changing their behaviour in the workplace, and thinking through the impact that this 
change will have on the children and young people that they work with.  Further work 
is being undertaken regarding the longer term impact the Standard Child Protection 
training has on practice through the development of a longitudinal evaluation project 
within the team.  The original feedback forms completed by the delegate is returned 
to them after a period of three months, with the request that they rate their 
confidence once more to help understand how effective the training has been over a 
longer term.  The original evaluation form is also sent to the delegates manager with 
a set questions requesting information about the impact attending the training has 
had on the delegates practice.  
 
 
This project is in its infancy and as such to date it has only been possible to gain 
feedback from two courses. The information gained in this project will be used to 
produce a statistical and qualitative report which will help provide further evidence 
about whether the programme has or hasn’t achieved the intended learning. Follow 
up evaluations undertaken in this manner can also capture additional and 
unanticipated benefits as well as identify barriers which prevent delegates using their 
acquired skills and knowledge, which is essential in designing and developing future 
courses. 
Quality assurance on trainers practice is undertaken through consideration of the 
evaluation forms received from training courses and also through sessions being 
independently observed by a third person.  The findings from the session observed 
are fedback to the trainer with an action plan being developed to address any gaps 
in provision / delivery identified.  
 

Standard Child Protection Course Evaluations. 
19 courses with information collated from 318 delegates was considered for the 
quantitate evaluation undertaken against the learning outcomes.  For the Qualitative 
evaluation undertaken a selection of three courses were chosen at random with 
information being collated from 56 delegates. The information provided is an 
indication of the qualitative data received which is used to inform the development 
and delivery of future courses. 
The standard course is evaluated against seven key learning outcomes: 
Delegates are asked to score their confidence against these seven learning 
outcomes, prior to the start of the course, and once again at the end.  This provides 
an indication of learning which has occurred during the training program.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



76 

76 

 

 

Questions 

Before 
Level of 

Confidence  

After    
Level of 

Confidence  

1 to 5 1 to 5 

1 
I understand the definitions and types of child abuse, including 
child sexual exploitation and their impact on children 

 
      3.5 

 
4.9 

2 
I am able to recognise and respond to safeguarding and child 
protection concerns appropriately 

3.4 4.7 

3 
I am aware of the ‘’early help’’ offer in B&NES and the 
importance of consent based, multi-agency planning. 

2.4 4.6 

4 
I am aware of the child protection processes and how key 
agencies work together to identify and meet the needs of 
children where there are safeguarding concerns. 

3.1 4.6 

5 
I am aware of the impact that domestic abuse, substance 
misuse and parental mental health can have on parenting 
capacity. 

3.8 4.7 

6 
I am aware of what is meant by superficial/disguised compliance 
and the importance of family history and functioning. 

2.5 4.3 

7 
I am aware of the Information Sharing Guidance (2008), and 
when/where it is appropriate and important to share information. 

2.8 4.6 

  3.1 4.6 

 
Whilst there were individual variations between scoring on courses, the overall feedback followed a 
very similar pattern, whereby the individual’s confidence level following training increased.

Page 144



77 

 

 

I understand the definitions and types of child
abuse, including child sexual exploitation and

their impact on children

I am able to recognise and respond to
safeguarding and child protection concerns

appropriately

I am aware of the “early help” offer in B&NES 
and the importance of consent based, multi-

agency planning 

I am aware of the child protection process
and how key agencies work together to

identif

I am aware of the impact that domestic
abuse, substance misuse and parental mental

healt

I am aware of what is meant by
superficial/disguised compliance and the

importance of family history and functioning.

I am aware of the Information Sharing
Guidance (2008), and when/ where it is

appropriate and important to share
information

Before

After

P
age 145



78 

78 

 

 

 

Analysis of Qualitative data: 
 

The following areas are a summary of the comments provided by the delegates in the evaluation 
forms at the end of the course.  The five questions allow the delegate to answer without preset 
restriction. 

1. What did you gain most from this training session? 
 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 
responses 

Understanding signs, symptoms and risk 
factors of abuse 

10 

General understanding of safeguarding – 
raising knowledge and awareness  

17 

When and how to make a referral to social 
care 

6 

Interagency learning 9 

Understanding roles and practice of other 
agencies 

3 

Understanding legislation, policies and best 
practice 

9 

Understanding of individual children’s need, 
the importance of hearing the child’s voice 
and receiving disclosures 

3 

Understanding the early help offer 6 

 

2. How are you going to use this knowledge to improve 

your practice 
 

Summarised Comments 
Number of Delegate 
responses 

I will have confidence in identifying signs and 
symptoms of abuse 

8 

I will have confidence in responding to safeguarding 
issues presented 

8 

I will have confidence in discussing safeguarding 
issues with other professionals 

6 

I will have confidence when raising concerns with 
families 

3 

Page 146



79 

79 

 

 

I will have confidence in appropriately following CP 
procedures and the referral process 

7 

I will consider the early help offer for the families with 
whom I currently work 

4 

I understand how to respond to and record 
disclosures. 

4 

I am aware of different services for families. 3 

I will ensure polices and procedures are 
implemented. 

4 

 

3. How will you know that your practice has improved?  
 

Summarised Content 
Number of delegates 
responses 

Request practice reviewed / feedback from 
colleagues 

4 

Reflective discussions taking place in supervision 2 

I will notice more signs of risk 2 

Improved inter-agency work 5 

make referrals as necessary / improved referrals 5 

More offers of early help made 2 

Child's voice will be evident in work 4 

Feel more confident 5 

Feedback from children and young people 3 

 

4. How will the children & young people you are working with know? 
 

Summarised Content 
Number of delegate 
responses 

Children and young people will be confident to share 
information / make disclosures 

8 

There will be improved communication with children 
and families 

7 

I will write clear reports 1 

I will provide support / services required 6 

Improved interagency work 2 

Children and young people will understand the work 
undertaken and will be central to the process 

1 Page 147



80 

80 

 

 

A trusting relationship will be established 5 

The needs of children and young people will be 
addressed. 

3 

 

5. Any additional comments about today’s training? 
 

Summarised Content 
Number of delegates 
responses 

Excellent/ Informative/ Useful Course 9 

 
Personal praise for trainer 

6 

Well presented / structured / clear delivery/ easy 
to understand 

6 

Good mix of exercises / learning styles 4 

Lots of information provided 5 

Helpful to discuss situations with colleagues from 
other agencies 

5 

Intense but useful / enjoyable 3 

Too much information provided around law / 
policies 

1 

Highlighted complexities of CP process 1 

Clarity required regarding Mental Capacity 1 

More variety of information needed for those 
attending the course as a fresher. 

1 

 
Advanced Child Protection Course Evaluations. 

10 courses with information collated from 167 delegates was considered for the quantitate 
evaluation undertaken against the learning outcomes.  For the Qualitative evaluation undertaken a 
selection of three courses were chosen at random with information being collated from 50 
delegates. The information provided is an indication of the qualitative data received which is used 
to inform the development and delivery of future courses. 
The Advanced course is evaluated against seven key learning outcomes: 
Delegates are asked to score their confidence against these seven learning outcomes, prior to the 
start of the course, and once again at the end.  This provides an indication of learning which has 
occurred during the training program.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



81 

81 

 

 

Questions 

Before 
Level of 

Confidence  

After    
Level of 

Confidence  

1 to 5 1 to 5 

1 
I am aware of the “early help” offer in B&NES and the 
importance of consent based, multi-agency planning and the 
thresholds for referral to social care 

3.2 4.6 

2 

I understand the process by which enquires and investigations 
(S.47) are made when there are concerns about significant 
harm, and how agencies work together to address and manage 
such concerns. 

2.7 4.8 

3 
Talking with a child or young person who is making a disclosure, 
and respond appropriately. 

3.4 4.8 

4 
To work with partner agencies as well as children and families to 
understand children, young people, and families daily life 
experiences. 

3.6 4.8 

5 

I am able to recognise ‘families who are resistant to change', the 
potential impact on practice, and consider interventions for work 
and strategies to support practitioners when working with such 
families. 

3.1 4.5 

6 
I understand what is expected of professionals and their agency 
in relation to child protection conferences and the importance of 
inter-agency communication 

3.3 4.7 

7 

I am confident in using evidence based practice, and the 
assessment framework, in exercising their professional 
judgement regarding a child's needs, parental capacity to meet 
those needs and the impact of family and environmental factors. 

2.9 4.5 

  3.2 4.7  

Whilst there were individual variations between scoring on courses, the overall feedback followed a very similar 
pattern, whereby the individual’s confidence level following training increased. 

 
 

Page 149



82 

 

 

 
 
 
 

I am aware of the “early help” 
offer in B&NES and the 

importance of consent based, 
multi-agency planning and 

the thresholds for referral to 
social care 

I understand the process by
which enquires and

investigations (S.47) are
made when there are

concerns about significant
harm, and how agencies work

together to address and
manage such concerns.

Talking with a child or young
person who is making a
disclosure, and respond

appropriately.

To work with partner
agencies as well as children
and families to understand
children, young people, and

families daily life experiences.

I am able to recognise 
‘families who are resistant to 
change', the potential impact 

on practice, and consider 
interventions for work and 

strategies to support 
practitioners when working 

with such families. 

I understand what is
expected of professionals and

their agency in relation to
child protection conferences
and the importance of inter-

agency communication

I am confident in using
evidence based practice, and
the assessment framework, in
exercising their professional

judgement regarding a child's
needs, parental capacity to
meet those needs and the

impact of family and…

Before

AfterP
age 150



83 

83 

 

 

 
Analysis of Qualitative data: 

The following areas are a summary of the comments provided by the delegates in the evaluation 
forms at the end of the course.  The five questions allow the delegate to answer without preset 
restriction. 
 

1. What did you gain most from this training session? 
 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 
responses 

Interagency learning 6 

Understanding the CP process 9 

Raising knowledge and awareness 6 

Understanding roles and practice of other agencies 10 

Understanding legislation, policies and best practice 7 

Gained confidence in my role 4 

Understanding of individual children’s needs and the 
importance of hearing the child’s voice 

3 

Understanding signs of abuse and risk factors, 
including CSE. 

5 

 

2. How are you going to use this knowledge to improve your practice 

 

Summarised Comments 
Number of Delegate 
responses 

Review our policy & procedures 2 

Better awareness of safeguarding & referral process 18 

Confidence to pursue concerns 2 

Feedback to staff/colleagues 13 

Identify where CAF's are appropriate 4 

Linking of services/info sharing 5 

 
 
 

Page 151



84 

84 

 

 

 
 

3. How will you know that your practice has improved?  

Summarised Content 
Number of delegates 
responses 

Greater knowledge and confidence in following CP 
procedures 

13 

Ability to spot the signs of different abuse, able to 
make better judgement 

5 

feedback and confidence to act 11 

Through supervision 3 

Through improved information sharing 3 

Alert to possible CP particularly when working with 
Adults 

1 

Families will receive Early Help/Social Care 1 

Pro Active in making referrals 3 

 

4. How will the children & young people you are working with know? 
 

Summarised Content 
Number of delegate 
responses 

They will feel more confident regarding my skills and 
knowledge 

9 

Feel they will know through discussion 1 

I will respond for them, they will be protected in a 
better way 

7 

I will be able to safeguard them if needed 4 

Through planning & delivering programmes for 
young people 

1 

Impact on learning – emotional wellbeing 1 

Positive relationships with families & children 1 

 

5. Any additional comments about today’s training? 

 

Summarised Content 
Number of delegates 
responses 

Great training, a great facilitator/ well delivered 
and informative 

28 

Great slides, well-paced 2 

Page 152



85 

85 

 

 

Good mix of agencies 11 

Great materials ie, booklet 1 

Police presentation well delivered and 
informative 

4 

Improved understanding/confidence 3 

 
 
Training measured against training standards 

Training Standards  
All Local Safeguarding Children Board training is delivered against the following principles: 
1) Child Centred All training reflects that the welfare of the child is paramount and that it 

incorporates and actively promotes ‘children’s rights’, ‘children’s voice’ and their ‘needs’ 

The training courses use a variety of techniques to ensure the needs of the child and the 
paramountcy principle remain central to the learning undertaken, including hearing individual 
children’s stories, recognising the importance of relationship building with young people, providing 
techniques on receiving information from children and confirming the importance of using 
observation. 
 
The evaluation forms also ask a specific question about how children and young people will know 
that a delegates practice has improved, ensuring that all delegates consider the situation from the 
perspective of a young person. 
 
Qualitative feedback received has evidenced the child centred nature of the training.  Positive 
comments were received about maintaining focus on the child. “treat each child as an individual”,  
“a greater understanding of good practice, especially around keeping the child’s voice as key to 
safeguarding”, “..always consider the child’s voice and impact on the children’s daily lives”  
Additionally delegates have shared how they will work differently to build upon the learning gained 
in this area for example “[children] will have better outcomes and be at the core of all planning”. 
 
 

2) Partnership with Parents and Carers All training recognises and actively promotes the need 
for working in partnership and engaging with parents and carers. The training recognises the 
‘family’ as a whole when safeguarding children and young people. 

 
The training courses explore the relationships held between professionals and parents and carers 
in different working contexts from early help through to child protection.  Within each of these 
situations focus is given to the importance of working in partnership with families for the most 
positive outcomes to be achieved. The importance of working in partnership with families is 
promoted and how effective working relationships can be maintained whilst exploring difficult or 
challenging topics with parents / carers including issues of disguised compliance. 

 
Quantitate feedback has shown the training has provided delegates with an increased level of 
confidence when considering the impact of the ‘toxic trio” on parenting capacity and issues of 
disguised compliance. Additionally delegates have fedback that their levels of confidence have 
grown in recognising ‘families who are resistant to change' and the potential strategies available 
when working with “resistant” families. 

 
Qualitative feedback received has evidenced the impact the training has on delegates 
understanding of the importance of partnership working, and the impact this will have on their Page 153



86 

86 

 

 

practice. “positive better relationships with families and children”, “a broader perspective on the 
whole picture”, “new awareness of parent’s and children’s’ actions”. 
  
3) Diversity All training is informed and governed by equal opportunities and reflects the diversity 

and cultural needs of the individuals and organisations, within Bath & North East Somerset, 
that have responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of children 

 
LSCB training is available to statutory, voluntary and independent agencies which helps the 
demographic of Banes to be represented within course attendance. Work is also undertaken to 
raise awareness in the wider community with information being distributed about safeguarding 
issues and how each individual can contribute to safeguarding children and promoting their 
welfare.  

 
Course content is governed by equal opportunities and designed to reflect diversity issues. 
Exercises used help delegates examine the impact of their individual values base and cultural 
norms. Case studies are used which reflect different cultural needs and consideration is given to 
the importance of anti-oppressive practice when working with children and families. 

 
 

4) Accessibility All individuals who work with children, young people and/or their carers in the 
statutory, voluntary and independent sectors have access to the training 

 

As stated above LSCB training is available to statutory, voluntary and independent agencies.  
Strong representation from all these sectors is gained on the training courses provided, as 
demonstrated from the three courses chosen at random: 
 
Attendance for Inter-agency Advanced Child Protection Training: 
 
  

18th May 2015  

Sector Health Social Care Education Leisure Early Years 

Number of 
delegates  

4 3 3 1 2 

 
15th September 2015 

Sector Health Social 
Care 

Education Strategic Youth 
Work 

Pastoral 
Care 

Early 
Years 

Number 
of 
delegates  

2 1 8 1 1 1 1 

 
20th January 2016 

Sector Health Social 
Care 

Education Youth 
Work 

Early 
Years 

Personal 
Advisor 

Police Other 

Number 
of 
delegates  

3 1 7 1 2 1 1 1 

 
 
 

5) Interagency Collaboration All training promotes the need for interagency working, bringing 

together people and organisations, to effectively safeguard children from harm 

The training courses delivered are designed for multi-agency audiences with group work and Page 154



87 

87 

 

 

exercises requiring delegates to discuss issues with their colleagues from other agencies and take 
into consideration their differing role, remit and processes.  To ensure the multi- agency approach 
is completely embedded within the training experience the facilitators / guest speakers are 
representative of different organisations.  This aids open discussion and helps consider issues 
from a number of different perspectives. These conversations and the learning shared from 
Serious Case Reviews within the training highlights the serious consequences that can occur 
when agencies work in isolation and underlines the importance of an interagency approach. 
Qualitative feedback received has evidenced the positive outcomes gained by the interagency 
collaboration with this being cited as one of the most important elements of learning from training.  
“Great to see and hear from a variety of roles…” “Great mixture of roles within the learning group”, 
“I feel I have improved my understanding of how agencies work together”, “very helpful to hear 
other agencies views and perspectives”.  

 

6) Evidence Based All training will be ‘evidence based’ containing the latest research, reflective 

practice and the ‘lessons learned’ on a local and a national level. Wherever possible the 

training will incorporate the views of service users. 

The content of the training course is regularly appraised and reviewed to ensure it contains up to 
date information, changes to legislation, practice and policy.  As demonstrated in the new 
information shared on the training courses regarding child sexual exploitation, radicalisation, 
FGM, e- safety and current social media practices which present physical and emotional risks to 
young people.  
 
7) Evaluation All training is responsive to identified local needs and will be subject to regular 

rigorous review and evaluation  

The LSCB training plan is informed by the priorities identified in the Annual report and Work 
programme.  Consequently the training programme is designed to meet the evolving needs and 
learning requirements of the workforce in addition to the core offer.  
Each delegate is asked to complete an evaluation form prior to the commencement of training and 
after its completion.  The qualitative and quantitative data gained through this process is collated 
and used to inform the future development of training and the delivery of the trainers.  
The questions posed within the evaluation forms are specifically aimed to help delegates think 
about action plans / learning goals post training to ensure focus is given to the outcomes rather 
than output when considering the impact of the training on practice.  
The longitudinal study currently being developed within the team again evidences the commitment 
held to the needs of the workforce, the learning undertaken and the ongoing impact of the skills 
and knowledge gained. 
Observations undertaken on trainers are used to identify any gaps in their skills and knowledge 
base so the necessary support can be provided to enable these to be addressed. 
The different evaluation approaches used when measuring the training delivered ensures that 
both the quality of the training (and if it has met people’s learning needs and other requirements) 
are considered as well as the impact the training has had on practice. 
  

Page 155



88 

88 

 

 

Training delivery:   1st April 2015 - 31st March 2016 

The Headlines (excluding single agency training): 
83 Interagency training courses offered (including 6 one hour WRAP workshops) 
1441 Interagency training placers made available 
1185 Interagency training places filed 
794 Professionals trained 
 
Courses run by LSCB training co-ordinator or co- facilitated with colleagues from health, 
education, the police or social care. 
 

Course Title 
Number of 

Sessions run 
Duration of course Delegates attended 

LSCB Standard 
interagency 

Child Protection  
19 7hrs 318 

LSCB Advanced 
CP 

10 14hrs 167 

CP and 
Disability 

1 14 hrs 
2 (course was co 
run with S Glos) 

Critically 
Curious 

Conversations 
1 7 hrs 10 

Domestic Abuse 2 7 hrs 33 

Fabricated 
induced illness 

1 4 hrs 13 

Group work 
facilitation and 
training skills 

1 7 hrs 4 

Neglect 2 7 hrs 16 

Serious Case 
Review 

Workshop 
0 2 hrs cancelled 

Rapid response 1 7 hrs 18 

Safer 
Recruitment 

2 7 hrs 27 

Parental 
Substance 

Abuse 
safeguarding 

CP 

1 7 27 

Toxic Trio 2 7 hrs 29 

Page 156



89 

89 

 

 

Working with 
Hostile and 
Aggressive 
Behaviours 

4 14 hrs 23 

 
Single Agency Training provided by LSCB training co-ordinator or co- facilitated with colleagues 
from health, education, the police or social care. 
 

Organisation / 
Sector 

Course title Number of 
sessions run 

Delegates attended 

 
Foster Carers 
 

 
Child protection 

 
2 

 
22 

 
General 
Practitioners 
 

 
Thresholds & 
Referrals 
 

 
1 

 
12 

 
Gloucester 
Council 
 

 
Toxic Trio 

 
2 

 
39 

 
HERS Teachers 
 

 
Child protection 

 
1 

 
14 

 
Library Staff 
 

 
Child protection 

 
5 

 
65 

 
Paulton Infants 
& Marksbury 
Primary 
 

 
Child protection 

 
1 

 
40 

 
Prior Park 
School 
 

 
Child protection 

 
1 

 
19 

 
Southside 
 

 
Child protection 

 
1 

 
19 

 
Writhlington 
 

 
Child protection 

 
1 

 
6 

 
DHI 
 

 
Child protection & 
Thresholds 
 

 
1 

 
22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 157



90 

90 

 

 

Courses Run by Integrated Working Team 
 

Assessment 
and Analysis 

Workshop 
2 0 

Cancelled due to 
facilitator ill health 

CAF  3 3.5 hrs 35 

Hearing and 
recording the 

voice of a child 
1 2 hrs 11 

Initiating and 
recording 
difficult 

conversations 
workshops 

2 2 hrs 21 

Lead 
Professional 
and Team 

around the Child 

2 4 hrs 15 

Understanding 
the Cycle of 

Change 
1 2 hrs 6 

 
Courses run by a commissioned trainer 
 

 
Introduction to 
CSE   

2 3.5 hrs 33 

CSE – Skills for 
practice 

5 7 hrs 97 

CSE – Virtual 
Team 

5 7 hours 
Bookings managed 
through the willow 

project 

CSE – Working 
with Parents 

and CSE 
1 7 hrs 14 

CSE -Advanced 1 7 hrs 8 

E-Safety 2 3.5 hrs 40 

Stakeholders 
event (CSE) 

1 7 hrs 84 

WRAP 6 
1 hr 

 
 

93 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 158



91 

91 

 

 

 

Agency Code  No. Of Delegates  

    

 ASC 27 

CSC 203 

E 174 

EY 73 

H 213 Key:   

O 5 ASC Adult Social Care 

P 38 CSC Children's Social Care 

VIP 47 E Education 

Y 15 EY Early Years 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

3% 

25% 

22% 
9% 

27% 

1% 

5% 

6% 

2% 

Training by Agency 

ASC

CSC

E

EY

H

O

P

VIP

Y

0

50

100

150

200

250

ASC CSC E EY H O P VIP Y

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

D
e

le
ga

te
s 

 

Agency Codes  

Page 159



92 

92 

 

 

 
 

LSCB Stakeholders Event 26th January 2016 Guildhall, Bath. 
 

The Stakeholders event focusing on the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation was attended by 84 
delegates, with the following agencies / organisations being represented on the day: 
 

Sector Health Social 
care  

Educatio
n 

Commission
ing 

Voluntary 
organisati
on 

Police Other/ 
Role 
not 
specifi
ed 

No of 
delegate
s 

19 41 8 2 2 1 11 

  
The feedback gained from the day was overwhelmingly positive. Delegates shared that they found 
it very useful to have an update on the work that has been undertaken with regard to this topic 
and were invested in supporting further developments taking place over the next year.  The 
responses gained about the individual speakers and performances that occurred throughout the 
day evidenced that the information was well received with delegates expressing that they found 
the presentations very informative, knowledgeable and thought provoking.  Although it is of note 
that several evaluation forms stated that it would have been beneficial for additional time to be 
given to some speakers to enable a greater level of learning to have been shared. 
 
 The greatest level of negative feedback received about the event did not relate to the 
organisation, structure or content of the day, but practical issues relating to the temperature in the 
venue and some difficulties with the acoustics within the room. 
 
 The following areas are a summary of the comments provided by the delegates in the evaluation 
forms completed at the end of the event. 

 
1. Key Note speaker: Alyas Karmani – Working alongside Young People at risk. 

 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 

 responses 

Inspirational speaker 15 

Challenges with sound system 4 

Knowledgeable 13 

Would like to have seen more of the presentation 10 

Excellent presentation 6 
Page 160



93 

93 

 

 

2. CSE knowledge and overview of local processes, including: Willow Project,  
Police role and Barnardo’s 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 

 responses 

Informative 9 

Good to hear progress and updates 5 

Speed of delivery hard to follow 2 

Would have liked handouts to support presentation 2 

Good information and knowledge provided 5 

Good variety of practitioners/agencies presenting 3 

More time and input on some of the topics 

 would have been helpful 

2 

Too many PowerPoints 1 

Slightly confusing 1 

 
3. Theatre interactive session: Loud Mouth 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate  

responses 

Powerful 10 

Would be good to use in Schools and  

youth clubs/ should be rolled out further 

10 

Overall excellent response about session 17 

Professional Actors 2 

Thought provoking  3 

In depth CSE knowledge demonstrated 2 

 
4. Forum discussion and Stakeholder Feedback Session 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 

 responses 

Good discussion activity to mix and share ideas  

and information from all multi-agencies, helps to go forward 

11 

Very good and very useful 8 

Everyone really engaged – allowed interesting  

discussions 

4 

Page 161



94 

94 

 

 

Confusing questions 1 

Wanted longer 1 

Long activity at the end of a long day 1 

 
5. Any other comments 

 

Summarised Comments Number of delegate 

 responses 

Very good day – useful and informative  17 

Venue had poor heating and acoustics 2 

Continue this event 1 

Thank you 3 

Request made for Sexual health as a main topic 1 

Wider mix of professionals would 
have been beneficial 

1 

 

Page 162



95 

95 

 

 

 

 

Avon and Somerset Constabulary 

Brief Outline of Agency Function: 
To provide professional policing services, working with partner agencies, including services to and for 
children and young people, in order to keep them safe from harm and where necessary prevent their 
offending or reoffending. This includes working to prevent children from becoming the victims of crime, 
investigating crimes against children, bringing perpetrators to justice and managing offenders, and includes 
the Statutory Duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004. 

Achievements during 2015-2016: (in bullet points including training and awareness 
raising activity) 

Examples of achievements include: 

• We have increased the number of Specialist Child Abuse Investigators Development 
Programme (SCAIDP) trained officers from 114 to 146, and a further 67 officers are 
programmed to be trained over the next 12 months. 

• We invited the College of Policing to undertake a Peer Review of our response to CSE, 
to help inform its further development. Importantly, the Peer Review Team found that our 
assessment of our strengths and areas for development matched their findings, providing 
strong evidence of a clear understanding within the Force of the current position, and an ability 
for honest and objective self-assessment. 

• Our successes in: 

1) Raised awareness of the vulnerabilities and warning signs of CSE; 

2) Improved information sharing;  

3) The creation of pathways to investigate before a victim discloses; and  

4) Diligent investigations seeking to identify all associated victims and suspects are reflected 
in the significant increases in the volume of recorded CSE related crimes, to 282 crimes 
Force-wide in 2015/16, rising by 147% compared with the previous 12 months 

• having led a successful partnership bid for Home Office Innovation Funding, the 
resulting two year West of England CSE Victim Identification and Support Service delivered in 
2015/16: 

− direct specialist support and intervention to 207 children in Avon & Somerset, identified 
as experiencing child sexual exploitation 

− training to 938 members of the children’s workforce across Avon & Somerset, 43 in 
BaNES, often delivered as a “train the trainer” package 

− following the extensive CSE training reported last year, the College of Policing CSE Peer 

Appendix 5: Partner Reports 

Page 163



96 

96 

 

 

Review found that frontline staff understand the precursor signs of CSE and that the staff they 
spoke with seemed generally well-prepared 

• at end of the year we introduced with partners a multi-agency CSE Strategic 
(Intelligence and Response) Network for the Avon and Somerset area. Its purpose is to 
support the identification and effective response to the most complex child sexual exploitation 
cases that may be operating across LSCB area boundaries.  

 
Challenges: 

• working with five upper-tier local authorities, each with their own thresholds and differing 

approaches, meeting the expectations of five LSCBs, each with their own infrastructure of sub-

groups and associated demands, in a context of declining budgets 

• increasing demand through rising numbers of reported child protection crimes, in a context 

of declining budgets 

• mainstreaming the future funding of the invaluable CSE victim support worker services. 

 

What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents / carers?: 

• More children have been safeguarded and protected from harm or from further harm 

• More perpetrators of child abuse have been brought to justice. 

 

 

Objectives for 2015-16: 

In partnership with other agencies, Avon & Somerset Constabulary’s objectives for the protection 

of children are: 

 

1. Prevent children from becoming victims of child abuse 

 

2. Where children do become victims, ensure they are recognised as such, are protected from 

further harm, and are given the support they need to help them remain safe and to deal with the 

physical, emotional and psychological consequences of the abuse 

 

3. Bring perpetrators of child abuse to justice and prevent them reoffending through robust 

offender management 

 

Avon & Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership 

Brief Outline of Agency Function: 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust provides mental health services, 
including talking therapies, to adults of all ages in the B&NES area who have mental illness. 
These include inpatient services, community services, and a range of services working with 
primary care and acute hospitals to assess and support the care of people with mental health 
problems there. 

Achievements 

2015/2016 has seen a significant amount of activity to improve safeguarding children practice 
in the Trust. This has included: 

• Introducing and delivering a strategy to ensure adult practitioners routinely listen and see 
children, and of considering the lived experience of the child in the family being worked 
with Page 164



97 

97 

 

 

• Understand the signs that children may be at risk of FGM or Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) 

• Delivering and recording regular supervision to all staff, including safeguarding 
supervision 

• Updating Trust safeguarding children assessment tools and  guidance for practitioners 

• Developing and extending access to Health s136 suites for children of all ages 

• Improving training rates, and delivering extended safeguarding training on domestic    
abuse and Prevent to practitioners 

• Introducing a system to quality assure child protection  

• Updating the joint protocol to develop a Protocol for Joint Working across Adult Mental 
Health, Primary Health and Children’s Services 

• Actively supporting the support development of a MASH in B&NES 

• Jointly delivering the Stepping Stones group with Children’s Services to provide support 
and guidance to parents with mental health issues. 

Challenges 

There have been challenges during 2015/2016, including: 

• Ensuring that there is the appropriate capacity in operational and safeguarding specialist 
teams to support best practice at a time of rising safeguarding activity 

• Managing an increased number of S136 detentions of children, and ensuring 
appropriately skilled staff and a child friendly environment  

• Capturing data on child protection referrals so they can be quality assured 

What difference is there for children, young people, parents /carers? 

Evidence of changed experience for children, young people, and parents /carers includes: 

• Parents and carers using adult mental health services have access to better trained staff 
who have had regular safeguarding supervision 

• A far lower number of children are detained in police custody 

• Staff better understand the risks to children from FGM, CSE and the need to consider 
their lived day to day experience  

• Multi- agency and Trust audits of child protection conference/review report reports 
demonstrated a significantly improved provision and high quality of reports. 

Objectives for 2016-2017   

Current developed objectives for 2016-2017 include: 

• Work to improve the functioning of electronic records systems to ensure better and 
consistent recording of safeguarding children cases, and improved management 
oversight of cases 

• Improving the quality of Safeguarding supervision received by staff 

• Review of safeguarding children training and update training, including Prevent training 

• Developing staff understanding of Human trafficking/Modern Day slavery pathways 
Page 165



98 

98 

 

 

• Increase safeguarding specialist capacity to support operational staff and the interfaces 
with other agencies/organisations and the B&NES LSCB. 

• Embedding and assuring the use of the Protocol for Joint Working across Adult Mental 
Health, Primary Health and Children’s Services in practice 

• Implementation of a bi-monthly interface meeting between AWP B&NES and children’s 
services, to discuss complex cases and promote better joint working. 

 Joint protocol 
Bath & North East Somerset (BaNES) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

 
 
 

 
 
Brief outline of Agency Function 
Barnardo’s has been involved in 3 areas of work in B&NES: 

1. Child Sexual Exploitation. Barnardo’s BASE (Barnardo’s Against Sexual Exploitation) 
project has been commissioned to work across B&NES to provide support to children who 
are at high risk of being sexually exploited or have been sexually exploited.   

2. Child Protection auditing work.  Barnardo’s play a role in auditing Child Protection 
conferences and Child Protection Plans that last for over 15 months, making 
recommendations on cases and supporting the improved use of the right category of 
Neglect or Abuse for children on Child Protection Plans. 

3. Supervision of Community Based Social Work Assessments.  Barnardo’s provide 
independent supervision of Social Work assessments that are used when B&NES Council 
is considering taking action to bring a child into care.  This ensures all options have been 
explored and that there is independent scrutiny of Council decisions. 

 
Achievements 

 We have supported 19 young people and have worked with them to reduce their 
vulnerability to being exploited, to raise their awareness of their rights and how abusers 
work to exploit children and to improve their health.  This work has involved close liaison 
with a range of other professionals, including Social Workers, health professionals and the 
Police. 

 Another part of our work to tackle child sexual exploitation is training the children’s 
workforce so they recognise when a child is at risk of exploitation more quickly and respond 
in the most helpful ways.  Over the last year, we have trained 43 professionals in B&NES 
and have also spoken at the LSCB Conference which focussed on child sexual 
exploitation. 

 Independent scrutiny of B&NES Council decisions regarding bringing a child into care. 
 
Challenges 

That more children who are facing sexual exploitation are being identified is good news.  
However, we are starting to reach our capacity and are working with partners to support 
better responses to children at risk of CSE, to prevent them ever needing the support from 
BASE.   
 
 
 

Page 166



99 

99 

 

 

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents /carers? 
 Of the 19 young people we have worked with, 11 have made progress in 5 of the areas that 

we have worked with them on to keep them safer.   
 Professionals are spotting CSE much more quickly in B&NES, with more children be 

recognised as facing exploitation.  This has been the aim of our training programme. 
 
Objectives for 16-17 

BASE remains commissioned to support victims of CSE until end of March 2017.  We plan 
to continue delivering high quality care and support to children facing CSE and to secure 
funding to continue the work beyond this year. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Brief Outline of Agency Function 
The Council is responsible for delivering the legal frameworks to support and protect unborn 
babies, children and young people. The Council is also responsible for the strategic 
commissioning of services to ensure an appropriate range of services are available and delivered 
to a high standard to meet the social care needs of children and young people. The Council (in 
accordance with its partnership with the CCG) is responsible for commissioning children health 
services. The Public Health Division within the Council are also responsible for commissioning 
services and setting the strategic direction. Finally the Council is responsible for coordinating the 
LSCB, the LSAB and the RAG and for ensuring smooth effective oversight across the Boards. 
 
Achievements During 2015-16 
In addition to delivering a substantial amount of the work included within the Annual Report the 
Council has: 

 Chaired and coordinated 6 out of the 7 LSCB sub groups 

 Led the work on Prevent (including the prevent training group) 

 Chaired the MASH Project Board 

 Chaired the joint LSCB / LSAB FGM Task and Finish group 

 Commissioned case reviews and undertaken a number of internal audits to understand 
case activity 

 Commissioned the South West Child Protection Procedures (SWCPP) and chair the 
Editorial Board 

 Represented the Board at CDOP 

 Taken the lead in writing a significant proportion of the LSCB policies and procedures 

 Delivered its statutory duties and maintained a strong focus on Early Help 

 Reviewed the safeguarding content in all contracts and revised the safeguarding annual 
audit tool 

 Provided training and forums for a wide range of agencies and workforce staff 
Page 167



100 

100 

 

 

 Appointed a joint LSCB / LSAB Business Support Manager 

 Expanded the Willow Project and continued to refresh the CSE strategy 
 
Challenges 

 The transition from one client record system to another has been a challenge but has now 
settled, data reporting is improving but has been limited during the last two quarters 

 There has been a number of recruitment drives however as is the case nationally we have 
relied more on agency staff this period (the number of agency staff remains low in 
comparison to other areas but by its nature reduces the stability and consistency of teams) 

 Delivered significant savings in accordance with the reduction in public funding 
 
What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents/carers 

 Improved early identification of children at risk of CSE and support to children we suspect 
are at risk of CSE 

 Improved access to childrens emotional and mental health services 

 Continued to ensure children are safe and looked after and provided more robust 
assurance for LSCB that our policies, procedures, contractual and service delivery 
arrangements are helping to effectively safeguard children and young people. 

 Continued to undertake annual safeguarding visits to all commissioned services 
 
Objectives for 16-17 

 Implement the Early Help Strategy 

 Ensure the LSCB Business Plan is achieved 

 Implement the MASH 

 Have a new arrangement in place for the involvement of parents / families in CPP 

 Continue to develop the work with CSE and review service delivery options 

 Deliver Your Care Your Way objectives 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Brief Outline of Agency Function 
CCG’s are statutory NHS bodies with a range of statutory duties, including safeguarding children. 
CCG’s are responsible for commissioning most hospital and community healthcare services for 
their local community. CCG’s need to assure themselves that these organisations have effective 
safeguarding arrangements in place that comply with all statutory guidance related to 
safeguarding children. The NHS England (NHSE) ‘safeguarding vulnerable people in the NHS – 
accountability and assurance framework’ (updated, 2015), sets out clearly the safeguarding roles, 
duties and responsibilities of all organisations commissioning NHS health and social care which 
the CCG works to 

Page 168



101 

101 

 

 

The Director of Nursing and Quality is the CCG Board Lead for Safeguarding. There is a clear line 

of accountability for safeguarding to the CCG Board, properly reflected in the CCG governance 

arrangements.  The CCG employ a Designated Nurse, a Named GP and have a service level 

agreement (SLA) for the Designated Doctor and Nurse for Looked After Children. 

 
Achievements during 2015-16 (including training & awareness raising activity) 
• Achieved compliance with section 11 Children Act 2004 which fulfils part of the legal duty to 

monitor the effectiveness of local safeguarding arrangements. Actions met as per plan 

• Refreshed safeguarding children standards and key performance indicators in all CCG 

contracts for all providers. In recognition that many of the health services commissioned are 

also commissioned by neighbouring CCG’s, the designated nurses from Bristol, South 

Gloucestershire, North Somerset and Wiltshire and BaNES have met and agreed one set of 

standards (with only minimal local additions), this should simplify the task for providers 

• Throughout the year the Designated Nurse has met with smaller providers to provide guidance 

on how to evidence their compliance with the safeguarding children standards 

• Designated nurse represented health system at LSCB subgroups  

• Funded one year project to ascertain the need for IDVA services in the RUH. This has since 

been extended with additional funding from Public Health B&NES and Wiltshire due to positive 

outcomes reported  

• Provided joint funding between NHS BaNES CCG & PCC for IRIS Programme (for general 

practice) 

• Increased sessions of named GP. The named GP has proven to be invaluable in supporting 

colleagues in General Practice and improving the experience of vulnerable children and 

families. 

• Evening training sessions have been provided for GPs attending BGPERT meetings and a 

safeguarding e-newsletter is being sent to GPs on a quarterly basis. 

• The Named GP and the Designated Nurse and Doctor (CCG safeguarding children team) 

attend the NHS England Area Team (AT) safeguarding children network and have contributed 

to establishing clear guidance for general practice regarding safeguarding children training 

requirements 

• The Designated Doctor was a member of the RCPCH Working Group for ‘The Physical Signs 

of Child Sexual Abuse’ which was published in 2015.  

• Arranged leadership development days for designated and named professionals 

• Provided safeguarding supervision training for safeguarding leads within provider 

organisations 

• Revised ToR and membership of Safeguarding Children Health Professionals Network 

• Facilitated GP practice Safeguarding Children Leads Network 

• Facilitated joint Safeguarding Network for Safeguarding Lead Professionals and GP 

safeguarding.  

• Introduced monthly induction and training sessions provided by the Designated Nurse 

Safeguarding Children and the Adult Safeguarding Lead for all new CCG members of staff 

• Strengthened joint working between children and adult safeguarding services 

• Established an agreement that the NHS BaNES CCG Designated Nurse would attend the 

NHS 111 contract/quality review meeting on a quarterly basis to support the review of 

safeguarding arrangements on behalf of the seven CCG’s that make up the Avon, Gloucester 

and Wiltshire (AGW).  This commenced August 2015, in order to review quarter one of the 

2015/16 contract Page 169



102 

102 

 

 

• The CCG funded supervision training for supervisors over the past year to support providers 

achieve this requirement, and supervision training took place in June 2015 and September 

2015. The Designated Nurse continues to offer regular supervision for Named Nurses of key 

Providers and the LAC Designated Nurse. Supervision is also available for small providers. 

The Designated Doctor has written a supervision policy and is developing a safeguarding 

information resource pack for paediatricians. There are monthly peer review meetings for 

paediatricians, and some joint sessions with colleagues from the radiology department and the 

sexual health service 

 
Challenges 
• Over sight of contracts where BaNES CCG is not the lead commissioner 

• Securing engagement of all GP practices with IRIS project. 

• Arrangements to secure assurance of CAMHS and AWP safeguarding arrangements needs to 

be agreed between designated nurses in the relevant CCG’s 

What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents/carers 
 Health providers are required to meet the Safeguarding Children Standards to ensure that 

children are kept safe. The ten core Safeguarding Children Standards are: 

1. Governance and Commitment to Safeguarding Children 

2. Policy, Procedures and Guidelines 

3. Appropriate Training, Skills and Competences 

4. Effective Supervision and Reflective Practice 

5. Effective Multi-Agency Working 

6. Reporting Serious Incidents 

7. Engaging in Serious Case Reviews 

8. Safe Recruitment and Retention of Staff 

9. Managing Safeguarding Children Allegations Against Members of Staff 

10. Engaging Children and their Families 

 
 The CCG now has a complete safeguarding children team to provide the strategic lead across 

the local health community, influencing local thinking and practice. 

 The networks provide an opportunity for safeguarding children leads across the 

health community to work together and share experiences 
 The CQC action plan provides an opportunity to address highlighted areas of practice that 

need improving and good progress has been made delivering the actions required 

 
Objectives for 2016-17 
 New Designated Nurse took up post in April 2016. A review of activity and actions required will 

be undertaken by the team.   

 Co-commissioning arrangements of primary care were introduced in April 2015. The CCG 

need to ensure that the GP services commissioned continue to have effective safeguarding 

arrangements. 

 Continue to monitor health providers safeguarding children arrangements and compliance of 

the safeguarding children standards and performance indicators 

 Continue to monitor health provider action plans resulting from the CQC review (June 2014) 

 Ensure that providers are aware of their responsibilities regarding child sexual exploitation 

(CSE) and female genital mutilation (FGM) and domestic violence 

 Monitor the IRIS and IDVA project. Page 170



103 

103 

 

 

 

 
Brief Outline of Agency Function: 

Bath College is committed to promoting and ensuring the safeguarding of all children, 
young people and vulnerable adults from harm whatever, their age, gender, race, disability, 
language, religion/belief and/or sexual orientation. 

 
Achievements during 2015-2016:  

• Successfully merging with Norton Radstock College to become one - Bath College. 
• Ensuring that all staff are up to date with their Safeguarding Continuing Professional 

Development including Safeguarding Level 1 Refresher training and Keeping Children Safe 
in Education Update (July 2015). In addition, ensuring the Duty Safeguarding Team 
including the Senior Child Protection Person and the Safeguarding Link Governor is up to 
date with their BANES Advanced Child Protection training, and FGM, CSE, Mindfulness, 
Suicide Prevention, and Toxic Trio. 

• Training over 600 staff in face to face sessions on the Prevent Agenda and rolling out a 
comprehensive Tutorial scheme of work which incorporates work with students on Prevent 
and Fundamental British Values, as well as continued work on a large range of relevant 
welfare and health topics i.e. Mental Health, World Heart Day, Stop Smoking, New Year’s 
Resolutions/Healthy Eating and Motivation Breakfast Club, Young Carer’s Day, Healthy 
Relationships, Sexual Health, Blue Tuesday Anti-Bullying Awareness, Movember, Drugs 
and Alcohol Awareness, Facial Palsy Awareness, Free Wellbeing Breakfast and 
Sponsored Well-being Walk.   

 
Challenges: 

• The merger with Norton Radstock College, ensuring full parity of our comprehensive offer 
of welfare support across the new Bath College.  

• Reduced funding both within the FE sector around welfare and cuts in welfare services 
within the external agencies sectors i.e. Sirona Care and Health. 

 
What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / carers?  

Keeping children, young people and vulnerable adults free from harm. 
 
Objectives for 2016-17: 

1. Continued focus on providing an outstanding welfare service to the Bath College student 
community. 

2. Continue to build relationships around partnership working with BANES, and other 
authorities. 

3. Increase our partnership working with the Carer’s Centre Bath, Young Carers Association 
and Young Parent Groups to support the student cohort. 

4. Continue to cascade the Fundamental British Values Agenda and further embed the 
Prevent Agenda to Governors, Senior Leaders, Students’ Union, Subcontractors, all staff 
and all students in 2016/17 and beyond. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 171



104 

104 

 

 

   
Brief Outline of Agency Function. 

 The Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass) looks after the 
interests of children involved in family proceedings. It is independent of the courts and 
social services, but works under the rules of the Family Court and legislation to work with 
children and their families, and then advise the courts on what is considered to be in the 
best interests of individual children. 

 Cafcass is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Ministry of 

Justice.  

Achievements 

 Safeguarding checks are undertaken and a Cafcass view on issues of risk are sent , in 
writing, to the Courts on every child in Private law cases prior to the first hearing. 

 Cafcass continues to fund Separated Parents Information Programmes for parents in 
Private law who are in dispute & in Courts. 

 Cafcass funds Alcohol & Substance Hair Strand Testing  of Parents in Private Law at the 
direction of the courts. This was a local pilot which has been rolled out nationally. 

 Child exploitation Area Ambassadors and Team Champions are in place & there is active 
local & national prioritisation of practice focus. 

 Cafcass locally, is part of the pilot of a telephone based  Separated Parents in Dispute 
Service which is available to parents before they go to Court in order to provide advice & 
signposting for safe resolution of disputes. 

 

Challenges 

 Significant increases in demand. 
 There has been a significant increases in Public Law ( Care ) applications within this area & 

nationally & the challenge is for Cafcass to make  certain that every child who is considered 
to be suffering significant harm has an allocated Guardian who has the time and availability 
to ensure that  their voice is heard and their best interests  are served. 

 There has been a significant increase in the number of Private Law  applications in which 
either one or both of the parents are not legally represented and this can create delay for 
children . Cafcass is piloting different methods to support both out of court solutions & short 
turn over reporting to courts. 

 A key part of Cafcass work  is to enable the appropriate involvement of children in the court 
proceedings that are about them.  Subject to their age and level of understanding, this 
involves ensuring that children are aware of the proceedings and have the opportunity to 
participate in them or otherwise contribute to them .The challenge is to provide options 
which are child centred but also meet the expectations of the Courts & within timescales. 

 

What difference has your achievements made. 

 Increasing use of Cafcass Toolkit to capture the voice of the child for the Court. 
 Increased awareness & training in respect of child exploitation in all its forms . 
 Safeguarding assessments are completed for all children within Public & Private Law 

Proceedings. 
 Diversity data is now recorded on all parties & collated nationally in order to inform service 

developments. Page 172

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-justice
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-justice


105 

105 

 

 

Objectives 2016-2017 

 To ensure that all children in Court  cases have their safety , their voice & their needs 
represented to the courts in the most appropriate way. 

 To support courts in reducing the length of time and delay for children in proceedings & to 
meet the requirements of the Public Law Outline. 

 To continue to support pilot schemes which provide parents with out of court pathways to 
resolve disputes safely for children. 

 To continue to develop practice awareness in respect of child exploitation. 
 

Children and Young People Voluntary Sector Representative 

Roz Lambert – CEO, First Steps (Bath) 

Brief Outline of Agency Function 

My role on the LCSB is to ensure that Voluntary Sector groups working with children and young 

people in B&NES have a voice on the LSCB (support and challenge), and are aware of the policies 

and processes agreed by the board. 

Achievements 

Over the year 3 of the 4 meetings have been attended and all the policies and processes have 

been disseminated to the Children and Young People’s Voluntary Sector Network as has learning 

from talks given by Associate Members.    Also the sector now has use of the Safer Network (now 

hosted on the NSPCC web site) for a selection of safeguarding tools and resources designed for 

use by the voluntary sector.   I met with Harriet Bosnell, Director of Health, Care and Support at 

Curo to deepen links with housing associations for First Steps and Children’s Centres and to 

support her new appointment onto the LSCB.    

Challenges 

To ensure that the Information Sharing Protocol is operated in a way that facilitates the sharing of 

information amongst partner agencies at the Early Help level. 

The difference achievements have made to children, young people, parents /carers? 

By ensuring that the voluntary sector in B&NES remains up to date and aware of the local 

safeguarding issues, processes and policy this in turn ensures that local services remain effective in 

their protection of children.    

Objectives for 16-17 

To ensure that information sharing does not become a barrier to partnership working between 

statutory and voluntary sector organisation.   

To continue to ensure that the Voluntary Sector remains informed of safeguarding policy and 

procedure 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



106 

106 

 

 

  CURO 
Brief outline of agency function 

Curo is a not-for-profit housing and support organisation based in Bath, providing affordable 
homes and high quality care and support services across the West of England. We manage 
nearly 13,000 homes and are building hundreds of new homes every year. Our enablement and 
independent lives service provides support up to 3,000 vulnerable adults each week.  

We provide a diverse range of services including Step-down from Hospital, a Wellbeing House 
and national-award-winning Independent Living Service. We offer housing and support to young 
people through a variety of services.  

Achievements 
 Curo take a multi-agency approach with partner agencies to tackle child sexual exploitation 

(CSE). 
 We have been actively involved in Operation Brooke. 

Curo participate in a multitude of BSCB meetings for information-sharing and for the safety of 
our customers. 

 In 2016 we rolled out safeguarding e-learning across our organisation including to all our 
customer-facing Response Team colleagues. 
 

Challenges 
 The locations of our projects are known as they have been running for many years. 
 Social media is making it easier to contact vulnerable people. 
 
What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents /carers? 
 
 Providing safer homes for vulnerable homeless people. 
 Involving young people in improving their awareness of potential perpetrators. 
 
Objectives for 16-17 

 Working with our organisational development team to apply CSE training consistently into 
future programmes for cross Curo learning. 

 Improve information sharing for the safety of all our customers. 
 Specialist training for all staff on specific issues such as female genital mutilation and modern 

slavery. 
 

                    
 

Dragonfly Education Trust 
Brief Outline of Agency Function 
 

We recognise our moral and statutory responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare of all 
students. To protect children from maltreatment, prevent the impairment of children’s health or 
development and ensure that all our students grow up in circumstances consistent with the 
provision of safe and effective care; taking action to enable all our students to have the best 
outcomes. We endeavour to provide a safe and welcoming environment where children are Page 174



107 

107 

 

 

respected and valued. We are alert to the signs of abuse and neglect and follow our 
procedures to ensure that children receive effective support, protection and justice. We 
recognise that the welfare of the child is paramount and that all children, regardless of age, 
gender, ability, culture, race, language, religion or sexual identity, have equal rights to 
protection. That all staff have an equal responsibility to act on any suspicion or disclosure that 
may suggest a child is at risk of harm and that students and staff involved in child protection 
issues will receive appropriate support. 

 
Achievements during 2015-2016 

 Successful opening of the Mendip Studio School and expansion of the Dragonfly Education 
Trust.  

 Ensuring that all new staff complete an induction process, which includes relevant safeguarding 
training.  

 The appointment of additional personnel to the school’s student welfare team to further support 
students.  

 Close working relationship with Youth Connect, an exclusive advisor working in the school 3 
days of the week.  

 Continuing professional development of all staff including safeguarding level 1 refresher 
training and Keeping Children Safe in Education (July 2015).  

 Level 2 Child Protection training for members of Senior leadership team and Pastoral staff.  
 Ensuring Safeguarding team have required level of training, updating Level 3 training, train the 

trainers.  
 Attending WRAP Prevent training sessions. 
 Delivering PREVENT training to all staff within the school.  
 Updating the Child Protection Policy to include revised guidance on Keeping Children Safe in 

Education (July 2015).  
 All members of SLT have undergone Safer Recruitment Training.  
 Employment of Relate school counsellor. 
 Development of PSHE, standalone days and assembly package to include Mental Health, 

Healthy Eating, Healthy relationships, Sexual Health, Anti Bullying awareness, Substance and 
Alcohol abuse.  

 
Challenges 
 The establishment of the MAT has required coordination of safeguarding and welfare provision 

across two schools.  
 Reduction of school funding and that of external agencies has meant a re-evaluation of 

services at the same time the level of provision is not reduced.  
 

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents and 
carers? 

 Providing the necessary support to students and families to keep children, young people and 
vulnerable families to keep them safe and free from harm.  

 
Objectives for 2016-17 

 Development of the student services provision within the Dragonfly Education Trust.  
 The continue to provide the necessary support to students and families to keep children, young 

people and vulnerable families to keep them safe and free from harm.  
 Additional input from Youth Connect within the school.  
 To continue the comprehensive training that staff within the trust receive. 
 To further enhance the provision of the promotion of British Values agenda and further promote 

the Prevent agenda to all members of the school community.  
 To continue to develop our role as an Attachment Aware school and imbed the use of Thrive 

assessment in signposting the correct support for students. Page 175



108 

108 

 

 

 
 
Brief Outline of Agency Function 
The National Probation Service was formed from 02 June 2014.  Our Local Delivery Unit is the 
Somerset Cluster, made up of Bath and North East Somerset, Somerset and North Somerset. 
The Role of the National Probation Service is to supervise High Risk of Harm offenders and 
MAPPA offenders, provide advice and reports to the courts, deliver the Victim Contact service to 
the victims of serious sexual and violent offenders, provide Approved Premises, provide the 
Probation staff within Public Sector prisons. We have our Safeguarding duties to Children and to 
Adults, and provide attendance at MARACs in relation to our nominated cases. We are also 
represented on the Local Criminal Justice Board, the Transforming Summary Justice Board and 
all other statutory partnerships. 
 
Achievements 
We have successfully recruited Probation Officers and Administrative staff to work in our locations 
and are now fully staffed in accordance with our current operating model. A new operating model 
is currently under consultation with staff and unions, and the implementation of that will begin in 
June.  We are managing to both recruit and retain staff, and build strong committed and dedicated 
teams.  We have reduced the levels of sickness in our delivery unit. 
 
Five members of staff have been successful in completing the qualification to become a Probation 
Officer and they are all working in the area.  
 
We will be able to continue to provide NPS Probation Officers to the Youth Offending Service, and 
we await the outcome of the Youth Justice Review. 
 
The Somerset Local Delivery Unit has participated in an NPS divisional safeguarding children 
review, where we have completed self-assessment and been peer reviewed. We received very 
positive feedback from the Divisional lead - Head of Public Protection in this respect, and the 
leadership of the team managers was particularly noted. 
 
The NPS and MAPPA have worked well with the Chair of the Local Children's Safeguarding 
Board to review learning points from a MAPPA Serious Case Review, and we will take feedback 
on Safeguarding as a theme in our MAPPA Annual Report for this year. 
 
National NPS Safeguarding Guidance has been produced and circulated. 
 
We continue to place the highest priority on our public protection work, and protecting past and 
potential victims.  
 
Challenges 
Maintaining our 100% attendance at all the Partnership Boards will be a challenge given our likely 
level of resources in the future. We are also unable to support all the sub groups of the Board, 
although we do prioritise different elements in different areas according to the priorities in those 
areas.  
 
We will also need to work even more closely with our partners on information sharing and 
communication, to ensure that information is shared both ways to enable us to deliver our 
objectives successfully. 
 

Page 176



109 

109 

 

 

Alignment of a national view on thresholds will also assist us, as we could be making referrals 
across the country. In addition, the NPS is likely to issue its own guidance to staff on thresholds 
for referral and information sharing, and so it will be important to cross reference this with local 
guidance to ensure consistency and common understandings. 
 
We have had to have difficult discussions about our funding support to a number of our statutory 
partners, due to the reduced allocations in the budget, as the Ministry of Justice is not a 'ring - 
fenced' Government department, we have to play our part in delivering year on year savings, and 
also efficiency savings. 
 
What difference have we made to children, young people, and parents/carers? 
We have been proactive in liaising with and informing Children’s' Services about potential risks to 
children and areas of need. We have also liaised to ensure that Children’s' Services are aware of 
our involvement and that we have informed about new information or offences. We have 
participated in Conferences and Working Together to meet the needs of children in the best 
interests of children.  For the critical few of the children who pose the highest risk we have 
supported the MAPPA process.  
 
We continue to carry out our role by working with high risk of harm sexual and violent offenders in 
order to reduce the harm they may create and to prevent future victims. We do this by working 
closely with the Police, the Prison Service and partner agencies. 
 
Objectives 2016-17 
Our objectives are set nationally for the NPS, but locally we would hope to be able to improve our 
recording of safeguarding referrals in order to track and record the outcomes, receipt of outcome 
letters, and produce management information.  We also hope to hold an internal audit of 
Safeguarding Referrals.  We will be holding an audit of Level 1 MAPPA cases, where we will have 
an opportunity to look at inter agency working.  There will also be area wide MAPPA Audits to 
which the standing members including Childrens' Services standing members, will be invited.   
 
We shall implement the further national guidance when received as the National Probation 
Service work on consistency in safeguarding continues via a nationally led group. 
 
In terms of Attendance at Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, Liz Spencer is the nominated 
representative at strategic leadership level, and Kevin Day is the approved deputy for Bath and 
North East Somerset, Andy Harris for North Somerset and Claire Evans or Angela Powell for 
Somerset.  If necessary, one of these managers could cover in another local authority area if 
required.  Some Board meetings are scheduled either for the same day or at the same time as 
other leadership or partnership meetings, and so deputies will often be required.  The NPS overall 
commitment to the Safeguarding of children in this area remains a significant and high priority. 
 
In relation to the Child Sexual Exploitation sub group, we have a newly nominated NPS 
representative, Emily Denne, who is also the YOS Probation Officer. 
 
 

 
NHSE England South Central Team  
Brief Outline of Agency Function 
NHS England (NHSE), as with all other NHS bodies has a statutory duty to ensure that it makes 
arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people, and vulnerable 
adults. From a safeguarding assurance responsibility perspective, NHSE South Central team 
ensures it is appropriately engaged in the Local Safeguarding Boards and any local arrangements 

Page 177



110 

110 

 

 

for safeguarding both adults and children, including effective mechanisms for LSCBs, SABs and 
health and wellbeing boards to raise concerns about the engagement and leadership of the local 
NHS if indicated. This work is in line with the duties and approach set out within the NHS England 
Safeguarding Policy (2015). 
The NHSE Safeguarding function for both adults and children is placed within the Nursing 
Directorate which holds an oversight role for Safeguarding, Quality and Patient Experience across 
the South Central Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) NHS System. 
Safeguarding is a key element when ensuring the quality and safety of services directly 
commissioned by NHSE and those services commissioned by the CCGs.  CCG plans are 
scrutinised for assurance around safeguarding responsibilities for example compliance with 
legislation and guidance including the Intercollegiate training guidance  , the Mental Capacity Act, 
PREVENT and mandatory reporting, FGM and mandatory reporting, effective engagement with 
both adult and children safeguarding boards and learning from incidents or serious cases. A key 
focus of assurance is how well CCGs deliver improved services, maintain and improve quality, 
and ensure better outcomes for patients. This includes progress in delivering key Mandate 
requirements and NHS Constitution standards, and ensuring that they are meeting standards for 
all aspects of quality including safeguarding.   
Achievements in 2015/16 
NHSE has during 2015, updated and published a new edition of Safeguarding Vulnerable People 
in the NHS – Accountability and Assurance Framework, and updated guidance on Managing 
Allegations against Staff.   
A safeguarding audit tool has been developed to assess safeguarding practice in Primary Care 
and this will be rolled out to during 2016 and analysed to identify good practice to be shared and 
any gaps where extra support may be needed. 
The South Central team hosts an active Safeguarding Network quarterly, for designated nurses, 
doctors, Named GPs and safeguarding leads.  This is a forum for sharing good practice, 
identifying concerns, responding to consultations, disseminating information and identifying issues 
to be escalated to the National Safeguarding Steering Group.  Learning includes best practice 
lessons specific for health services such as lessons from the Bradbury and Saville investigations.  
The South Central Team host regular PREVENT workshops in the BGSW area to promote good 
practice and compliance with the governments anti radicalisation strategy. 
 Challenges 
The key challenge for the NHSE South Central Nursing team is satisfactorily servicing our 
geographical area with a limited resource s of personnel. The South Central Area consists of 14 
CCG’s from Gloucestershire to Buckinghamshire. This effectively equates to 14 LSCB’s to 
meaningfully engage with. This is currently done via an informed risk approach based on 
regulatory ratings and CCG/Health representation; alongside any location specific issues such as 
CSE or FGM concerns.  
During 2015/16 the team faced capacity restrictions due to an organisational restructure and 
delays in recruiting into key posts. In December 2015 a new Assistant Director of Nursing 
responsible for safeguarding was appointed and also the NHSE lead nurse for Safeguarding post 
was also appointed to. This gives much needed capacity to deliver the required organisational 
functions. 
What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents /carers? 
Our work contributes to public assurance that safeguarding services within the health system are 
subject to due oversight and direction. The dissemination of key learning, best practice directives 
and the benefits of professional networking and support contribute to the quality of health service 
safeguarding within the region. 
Objectives for 2016-17 
To deliver NHSE statutory responsibilities for safeguarding children ensuring that national and 
local legislation and guidance are incorporated as core business 
National Priorities: 

 FGM 

 CSE Page 178



111 

111 

 

 

 PREVENT 

 Migrant vulnerable children & young people 

 Care Act 2014 

 Modern Slavery 

Local Priorities: 
 Learning from  SCR’s & DHR’s 

 Safeguarding Boards presence  

  Promoting Level 4 training  within South Central  health system 

 
Brief Outline of Agency Function  
 

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust provides a fully comprehensive child and adolescent mental 
health service (CAMHS) for young people under 18 years old in Bath and North East Somerset. 
Our services include; 

 Primary CAMHS for those young people with a mild to moderate mental health need 
requiring a brief intervention 

 Specialist CAMHS for more severe mental health needs requiring longer term/intensive 
interventions for children/young people and their families 

 Outreach work – for those requiring additional support across 7 days a week in the 
community 

 Emergency assessments – working closely with acute Hospitals and the Police where 
young people require immediate assessment 24/7 

 Inpatient services at our acute psychiatric unit for adolescents in Swindon 
 Family Assessment and Safeguarding Service (FASS) for those few families where there 

are concerns of maltreatment and children are subject to a child protection plan. 
 Safeguarding Children is inherent to all of CAMHS contact with children, young people and 

their families and Oxford Health NHS Trust have well established processes to ensure that 
Safeguarding Children is a key priority in the practice of every single member of the Trust.  

 
Achievements 

 During 2015/16, in partnership with secondary schools, we developed an emotional 
resilience school hubs pilot to bring together the skills of teaching/pastoral staff, school 
nurses and school counsellors with CAMHS practitioners to create a hub of support within 
schools for young people.  This project is currently being evaluated for further 
commissioning. 

 In June 2015, we launched a Flexible Transitions Service for young people turning 18 
years old who do not meet the threshold for adult mental health services, but require 
additional extended support from CAMHS to support them with their mental health and 
wellbeing beyond their 18th birthday.  This pilot is also being evaluated.  Young people who 
have experienced the service have told us how much they have valued this extended 
support at such a critical stage as they move to adult life.   

 During 2015/16 the Outreach Service has worked collaboratively with Adult Mental Health 
Services in providing an extended Early Intervention Service for young people at risk of and 
presenting signs of early psychosis.  The service is intended to identify those young people 
at risk and to provide support and monitoring to the young person and their parents.  
CAMHS and AMHS have jointly provided training into schools in addition to raising 
awareness and providing guidance and signposting for young people identified as needing 
an early intervention. 

 In 2015, CAMHS and adult mental health services established Transitions Clinics to ensure 
those young people in their 17th year with ongoing mental health needs were fully 

Page 179



112 

112 

 

 

supported in their move to adult care.  The clinics provide regular opportunities to discuss 
and consult on cases ensuring that care planning is well informed and the young person’s 
risk are minimised through a formal handover within the Care Programme Approach. 

 CAMHS have very established partnerships with children and young people in developing 
services and resources in CAMHS.  Once again this year, our young people have made a 
huge impact in increasing knowledge about mental health through their highly commended 
work with Banes secondary schools.  Their resource pack which has been used in training 
can be accessed via this 
link:http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-
People/ChildProtection/lscb_annual_report_2014-15_and_business_plan_2015-18.pdf 

 Safeguarding Children Supervision is now established and available to all CAMHS 
Clinicians within BANES. This is provided in a group setting and is also available on an ad 
hoc basis for all staff during office hours, irrespective of their role. Safeguarding is also a 
standing agenda for all team meetings. Safeguarding Children Supervision  is in addition to 
Clinical and Management Supervision. 

 
Challenges 
In August 2015, NHS England published guidance for developing CAMHS nationally, linked to a 5 
year investment plan.  There is wide recognition that the gap between services for young people 
with mental health need, and funding has widened.  The CAMHS Tranformation agenda is aimed 
at reducing those inequalities.  In Banes, two particular areas of need are a matter of concern: 
 
Deliberate Self Harm 
In Banes, there has been a year on year increase in presentations of deliberate self harm.  Many 
young people (but not all) present themselves at the Royal United Hospital where they receive 
urgent medical care and a mental health assessment as part of an agreed protocol.  The follow 
data to January 2016, highlights this year on year increase in emergency presentations: 
 
 

Column1 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

January  12 12 20 20 24 

February 17 14 22 10 
 March 12 13 12 20 
 April 7 12 13 16 
 May 27 15 14 19 
 June 10 19 12 31 
 July 13 22 17 21 
 August 7 11 9 8 
 September 8 13 13 14 
 October 6 16 28 21 
 November 11 15 24 23 
 December 6 15 13 13 
 

      Totals 136 177 197 216 
       

       

Page 180

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_annual_report_2014-15_and_business_plan_2015-18.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_annual_report_2014-15_and_business_plan_2015-18.pdf


113 

113 

 

 

 
 
Many more, present within schools, at GP surgeries and to other professionals including CAMHS.  
The multi-agency guidelines for professionals working with children and young people who self-
harm were launched by the LSCB in 2015.  This remains a high level of concern across all 
agencies working with young people.  Through CAMHS Transformation Plans, there is a clear 
intention for CAMHS to work with professional colleagues to improve confidence and competence 
in supporting young people wherever they seek help.   
 
The planning of care for children and young people who self harm has safeguarding children as a 
key area when considering the level of risk and harm. Management overview on all open cases 
provides an additional layer of supervision to keep risk and harm at the forefront of assessment. 
 
Eating Disorders 
Nationally, the incidence of eating disorders is also increasing year on year.  B&NES is no 
exception.  Five year funding has been committed to improving access and waiting time standards 
for all young people as soon as a potential eating disorder is identified.  Banes, Swindon and 
Wiltshire CCGs have joined up with CAMHS to create a specialist service to ensure full adherence 
to the new access and waiting time standards, increase the range of treatment and support for 
young people and their families, and reduce the need for inpatient admissions.  Throughout 
2016/17, the new service will be launched will also incorporate self referral for young people and 
their families. 
 
The concerns of significant harm to children and young people with Eating Disorders is well 
known, not least because of the increased risk of death and the need for families to participate 
fully in the ongoing support of the young person. Safeguarding Children is a key component of the 
planning of the care of these young people. 
 
Workforce 
Nationally, recruitment and retention is a major challenge for all providers.  Employing staff with 
the right values, skills and experience remains one of the major challenges in the year ahead. 
 
The appointment of an experienced Senior Named Nurse Safeguarding Children will ensure that 
training, supervision and support for CAMHS staff is consistent and developed to skill up the 
CAMHS teams. A planned and audited service will ensure that the teams develop. Governance 
processes are in place to ensure that CAMHS is compliant with section 11 requirements and that 
evidence is provided to demonstrate this. 
What difference have we made? 
In September 2015, CAMHS were inspected by the Care Quality Commission as part of a Trust 
wide review involving over 100 inspectors.  They formally reported that CAMHS were rated as 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2012

2013

2014

2015

Page 181



114 

114 

 

 

‘Good’ across all areas except the Caring domain which they rated as ‘Outstanding’.  The report 
stated: 
Are services caring? 
We rated caring as outstanding because: 
• The workforce were positive about the young people and their 
families at every stage, even when dealing with difficult and 
challenging issues. 
• Young people and their families and carers who used the 
service were effusive in their praise for the staff. 
• Staff were highly motivated to offer care that met what young 
people wanted. Relationships between people who use the 
service and their families and carers and staff were very 
positive. 
• We observed consistently positive interactions with young 
people and their families. This was reflected in how staff spoke 
about young people and their situations when they were not 
present as well. 
• Other agencies who worked with the services commented on 
the positive nature of staff. 
• Young people were involved in their care and also the design of 
service delivery and were valued for their voice by staff. 
 
Activity 2015/16 
 

 

 
 
Objectives for 2016 – 2017 
During 2016/17, Oxford Health CAMHS are fully committed to working with partners to deliver 
system wide transformation for children and young people with mental health needs.  This will 
require detailed planning and collaboration across the entire children’s workforce to maximise the 
targeted investment to improve mental health services. 
 
 
We are also committed to ensuring B&NES young people with eating disorders receive an 
outstanding service which ensures their outcomes are amongst the best in the country.  Banes 
CAMHS eating disorders service for young people is already cited nationally as a model of good 
practice.  This will be further enhanced by faster access to assessment by increasing clinic 
capacity, specialist training for staff, self-referral and multi-family therapy. 

Page 182



115 

115 

 

 

The development of identification and working with children and young people who are at risk of, 
or experiencing Child Sexual Exploitation and exploitation generally, is a key objective for the next 
financial year 
 
The Named Nurse and Named Doctor Safeguarding Children will run a series of workshops 
across the Swindon, Wiltshire and BANES areas to distribute key messages from local and 
national reviews, developing a practical action plan for each area to look at recommendations. 
 

 

 

Brief Outline of Agency Function 
The Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust provides acute treatment and care 
for a catchment population of around 500,000 people in Bath, and the surrounding towns 
and villages in North East Somerset and Western Wiltshire. 
The Trust provides 565 beds and a comprehensive range of acute services including medicine 
and surgery, services for women and children, accident and emergency services and 
diagnostic and clinical support services. 
The Trust employs around 5,488 staff, some of whom also provide outpatient, diagnostic and 
some day case surgery services at local community hospitals in Bath and North East 
Somerset, Somerset and Wiltshire. This fulfils part of the Trust's aim to provide high quality 
care to people in their local communities. 

 
The hospital provides healthcare to the population served by four Clinical 
Commissioning Groups: 
 Bath and North East Somerset CCG 
 Wiltshire CCG 
 Somerset CCG 
 South Gloucestershire CCG 

 
Examples of achievements during 2015/16 include: 
 Increased capacity of the Safeguarding Children Team to ensure that the organisation 

meets its responsibility to safeguard unborn babies/children and young people. 
 Established a safeguarding team within the Trust; children and adult teams are 

collocated and provide a single point of contact for all safeguarding enquires. 
 Achieved 90% compliance for safeguarding children Level 1 and Level 3 training; 

increased Level 2 compliance to 76%. 

 Arranged BaNES LSCB child sexual exploitation specialist training for staff who work 

in Genito Urinary Medicine, Emergency Department and Pediatrics to increase 

knowledge and awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation. 

 In conjunction with the Adult Safeguarding Team developed Level two mandatory 

safeguarding training day that incorporates safeguarding children, safeguarding adults, 

MCA, DA awareness, learning disabilities, prevent and information about female 

genital mutilation. 

 Implemented Independent Domestic Abuse Advisor project within the Trust. 

 Trained fifteen additional staff to facilitate safeguarding children group supervision. 
 The Child Protection Policy has been rewritten and replaced by the Safeguarding 

Children policy, the revised policy incorporates additional LSCB and national 
requirements, new sections included; 

o Child Sexual Exploitation 
o Female Genital Mutilation Page 183



116 

116 

 

 

o Human Trafficking 
o Domestic Abuse 
o Children with Disabilities 
o Bruising in Children 
o Private Fostering 
o Safeguarding Children Escalation Process 
o Managing Allegations Against Staff Process 
o Statutory Guidance on Information Sharing 
 The Safeguarding Children Supervision Policy, Domestic Abuse Policy, Safeguarding 

Children Escalation Policy and Managing Allegations against Staff Policy have all been 
revised. The Domestic Abuse Affecting Staff Policy, Female Genital Mutilation Policy and 
Bruising in Children Policy have been written and published. 

 
Challenges: 
 Ability to reach all clinical staff to ensure awareness of new requirements or learning or 

developments. 
 Implementing safeguarding children supervision. 

 
What differences have your achievements made to children, young people, and 

parents/carers: 

Keeping children, young people and vulnerable adults free from harm. 

 

Objectives for 2016/17: 
 Implement 1-1 safeguarding supervision within Maternity Services. 
 Achieve Level 2 compliance. 
 Implement Child Protection Information System. 

 

 
 
  The Sirona care & health Board holds their responsibilities for safeguarding for both children and 
adults as a high priority; the board receives and discusses a quarterly report about Safeguarding 
Children from the Named Nurse for Safeguarding, and an annual report and presentation about 
the work of the safeguarding team and Sirona services to safeguard and protect children. The 
Board has a Safeguarding Children and Adults Champion and a Safeguarding Lead Director who 
is also the Director of Nursing Operations. 
Operational matters relating to Safeguarding Children are discussed at the Children’s Leads 
Meeting at which Safeguarding Children is a standing item on the agenda. Safeguarding Children 
policies and guidelines are discussed and signed off at this meeting. 
 
Sirona care and health is represented on the B&NES Local Safeguarding Children Board by the 
Head of Children’s Services. The Head of Children’s Services also attends the Policy Procedures 
and Performance sub group The Named Nurse for Safeguarding attends the Professional Practice 
Group and the Learning and Development Sub-group (recently combined with Safeguarding 
Adults and chaired by Sirona’s Director of Operations.The Named Nurse, Professional Lead for 
Social Work and the Head of Children’s Services have continued to work with the Professional 
Development Facilitator to develop and update the Safeguarding Training Plan for Sirona. 
 
Level 3 training is delivered face to face and this year has mainly been delivered by members of 
staff attending multi-agency LSCB training. All children’s services health staff are required to 
attend Level 3 safeguarding Children training yearly. The multi-agency trainer reports that Sirona 
staff members always arrive on time, participate fully, are ready to learn and are not distracted by Page 184



117 

117 

 

 

work commitments. She reports they add to the multiagency dimension of the training and have 
found the multiagency nature of the training beneficial. 

The safeguarding team have actively contributed to multi agency training, delivering the health 
component of the 2 day multi-agency training. The named nurse continues to develop and deliver 
the one day neglect training with the B&NES LSCB multi-agency trainer twice a year. The named 
doctor and deputy named nurse delivered a half day on fabricated and induced illness.  

The Sirona Safeguarding Children Champions Network Meeting helps to spread learning through 
from the LSCB and national and local learning to front line staff and for them to have the 
opportunity to feed back issues which are affecting their ability to safeguard children on the 
ground. The meetings have been well attended and there has been good participation and 
discussion at the meetings. 

The named nurse for safeguarding, designated nurse for LAC, Named Doctor and Designated 
Doctor attended a Leadership day arranged by the Designated nurse for B&NES, and a workshop 
day on Creating an Environment for Professional Growth and Development in Safeguarding with 
other named and designated professionals working within health providers in BANES. These gave 
the opportunity to reflect on and plan how we could develop learning and support for each other. 

Supervision within Sirona is balanced with a degree of challenge to ensure that common failures 
highlighted in serious case reviews are not repeated. These include focussing on adult’s issues 
and losing sight of the child, poor communication and information sharing, drift, ignoring important 
historical information, avoiding raising concerns and being assertive when parents are aggressive 
or avoidant, and not following basic procedure.  

The safeguarding team and community paediatricians regularly take part in strategy discussions 
to ensure the assessment of risk has a health component and opinion. This enables the decision 
as to whether the threshold for section 47 has been met to be better informed and analysed. The 
community paediatricians took part in 114 B&NES strategy discussions and the named nurse 
team have taken part in more than 240 B&NES strategy discussions or meetings.  

The Bruising in Children Protocol was adopted by the LSCB at the beginning of the year. The 
knowledge of this protocol has been checked at supervision with health visitors but the embedding 
of its use in practice is not consistent. We plan to run workshops in September 2016 to help to 
embed its use and to open these to staff in Children’s Centres and local settings. 

Sirona care & health follows the NHS safe recruitment standards, including for all voluntary 
members of staff, regardless of their celebrity status.  Sirona audits whether we are meeting the 
safer recruitment standards. Sirona has a clear statement of the organisation’s responsibility 
towards children in all job adverts, and there is a clause in the contract of employment requiring 
staff to raise any concerns, and the obligation to act on any concerns in relation to safeguarding 
children is covered at induction. Recruitment training continued in 2015-6 to ensure those 
members of staff responsible for recruitment are fully trained. 

The quality of our service’s interaction with children and young people is key to keeping them 
safe. 
Through their quarterly and annual reporting system our services demonstrate through case 
studies and audit the quality of their interactions with families and their recording of the voice of 
the child. 
Themed audit of reports to conference in 2015-16 for the Professional Practice subgroup of the 
LSCB has highlighted that where the health practitioner knows the child, the child’s voice has 
been well reflected by health visitors and school nurses with some excellent reflections of the 
child’s voice in individual reports.  
 Page 185



118 

118 

 

 

We have recently re-audited the quality of referrals to social care and seen marked improvement 
in the voice and daily life experience of the child since the last audit, with examples of exemplary 
practice. This is encouraging as it is an area we have spent considerable time and energy on in 
training and supervision.  

  

    

 

 

 Brief outline of agency function 

The SWAST Safeguarding Team provides advice, training, ad hoc supervision and support to 
all frontline and support staff across the trust area. There 3 Named Professionals that 
individually cover each of the 3 trust localities. They each directly report to the Head of 
Safeguarding - Sarah Thompson   

To give an idea of the number of referral submitted across the trust area see the chart below 

 

Achievements in 2015-16 (re safeguarding and CP) 

Achievements this year 
 Analysis and Review of Referral Process for efficiency and Demand Management. 
 Development of a standardised audit tool to review 40 randomised cases. 
 Risk assessment of the referral process. 
 Delegation of whole team to triage role due to long term absence of the Triager. Page 186



119 

119 

 

 

 Positive letter of support from Safeguarding Board for 111 CQC inspection 
 Positive verbal feedback from 111 CQC inspection. 
 IMR/SAR/DHR completed despite capacity issues. 
 Recruitment to the administration position – referral triage processor to commence May 

1 2016. 
 First module of the NHS England Safeguarding Leadership course at Taunton 

completed by Named Professional North. 
 TOR and Workplan for NASG (National Ambulance Safeguarding Group) agreed March 

2016. 
 Managing Allegations Policy updated and agreed at SOG. 
 Prevent Policy agreed at SOG (Safeguarding Operational Group). 
 PTS training quality assured and completed for all PTS (patient transport staff). 
 Quality Assurance of CFR Safeguarding Training 
 Positive action from North CDOP meetings including facilitating SWASFT Macmillan 

Nurses under the Palliative Care Response Times 
 Facilitated OO abstraction to join Glos Safeguarding Fire Subgroup to look at joint 

working on hoarding 
 Named Professional East achieved The Award in Education & Training enhancing the 

Service Training portfolio 
 All team members received half day Emotional Resilience Training 
 Quality Audit of Referrals with the 111 Service 
 Production of an ‘OO pack’ for use by all Operational Officers related to Safeguarding by 

West Named Professional. 
 SOP (Standard Operating Procedure) agreed for all frontline staff in relation to Child 

Death produced by Named Professional West.  
 Launch of trust wide Welfare Service for staff – The Staying Well Service – 400 staff 

seen in first 5 months. 

 Challenges 

The increase in referral rate reveals a steady growth in the referral rate in an 18 month period 
with a significant rate of growth in the last 5 months. The general growth rate is most likely 
explained by improvement in safeguarding awareness by operational staff, the ease of access 
to safeguarding referral process through ePCR roll-out and changes in statutory duties (The 
Care Act). 

This has led to a greater demand on the safeguarding team to triage and process the referrals 

What difference have your achievements made for children, young people, parents /carers? 

Some examples of good practice where a change in practice has been instigated are: 

Bespoke training undertaken by Head of Safeguarding where a pocket of cases re leaving a 
child on scene with a potentially neglectful adult. Front line staff are now reminded to call 
Police to scene where severe neglect is suspected. 

Staff in 111 hubs had training in early detection of sepsis due to theme of late detection 

Following a Child Death Named professionals request the PCR ( patient car record ) 
immediately to see if there are any immediate concerns that may not be known to other 
agencies. A statement is now carried at the time of the child death on scene by the OO and 
the frontline crew so that welfare of crew and environmental factors are included.  

 Objectives for 2016-2017   
 Respond to the imminent CQC Inspection – June 6 2016 
 Secure 2 seconded posts to permanent positions 
 Increase capacity of safeguarding referral process 

Page 187



120 

120 

 

 

       St Nicholas CE Primary School 

Brief Outline of Agency Function 

At St Nicholas we have a strong commitment to safeguarding all children. We also have a strong 

commitment to early intervention and help in the hope that we can support families and avoid the 

children going into child protection. Our commitment to children’s wellbeing includes mental 

health, we have a counselling service in our school two days per week which is both long term 

(twelve children at any one time, ad-hoc counselling for children who book slots – universal offer). 

Achievements during 2015-16 

 A strong relationship with Radstock Nursery which is connected to the children’s centre. 

This allows for strong ‘get set’ work and for early discussions regarding vulnerable families. 

Our involvement in the REAL (Early literacy) project has allowed us to encourage our more 

vulnerable parents into school to work with their children. 

 Achievement for all and structured conversations (half an hour per child). This again has 

helped us encourage vulnerable families to be more involved in their children’s education. It 

has helped staff to better understand these families and the challenges they face. 

 Staff are very committed to safeguarding and keep excellent notes always ensuring that 

they report immediately – no-one is worried about the reactions of parents and we continue 

to have good relationships with all our CP cases despite being very forthright and honest at 

CP meetings.  

Challenges: 

 The numbers of cases of domestic violence. Not all women report and many hover just 

below threshold, we believe there are many unreported cases. 

 The numbers of vulnerable families and the case load of CP/CHIN/TAC and TAF. 

 Continuing to finance our family intervention manager four days a week. 

 Levels of aggression from parents. 

 The numbers of cancelled meetings that eat into our diaries and impact our supply budget. 

 Cuts to services and the ever growing expectation that we will do all referrals including 

those to paediatric services. 

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / carers?  
 Some vulnerable families are more involved in their children’s education 

 Early help helps families to access help and support before the situation deteriorates to 

needing social service intervention. 

  
Objectives for 2016-17: 

 Increased partnership working with both our Early years feeders and the main secondary 

we feed to so there are better transitions. 

 Increased Parental Engagement 

 Loud mouth to present their Domestic Violence programme to KS2 

 NSPCC to present their ‘Speak Out Stay Safe’ programme to all pupils Page 188



121 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Theme Opportunity Relevance Progress in 2015/16 Work needed to progress in 2016/17 

Communications • Joint 

safeguarding 
advice to public 
/ professionals 
e.g. via media / 
newsletters 

• Joint 

conferences / 
workshops 

• Develop 
opportunities 
for joint 
participation 
activity 

• Smarter use of 
budget 

 

 

 

 

• Relevant to 
“Think Family”, 
Young carers, 
DVA, disabled 
children and 
adults, carers. 

• LSCB has adopted 
Key Messages from 
the Chair to 
disseminate 
information from Board 
meeting. 

• Collaboration on joint 
LSCB/LSAB website 

• LSCB/LSAB adopted 
same process for 
producing a six 
monthly Newsletter, 
directed by the Board 
and edited by Comms 
group and Council 
Communications lead. 

 

 

• Launching new website 

• Coordinated publicity of website launch 

• 2017-18 have joint Newsletter and Chair’s  Key 
Messages 

• Sharing sub group minutes across the Boards eg 
Policy/QA/Training/Communications 

 

Appendix 6: B&NES LSAB / LSCB JOINT WORKING 2015- 2016 

P
age 189



122 

 

 

Theme Opportunity Relevance Progress in 2015/16 Work needed to progress in 2016/17 

Quality Assurance • Shared audits 
where VA and 
Children are 
relevant 

 

• Relevant to DVA, 
Substance / 
alcohol abuse, 
mental health 
(adult and child) 

• Voice of  adult/child 

• Evidencing 

quality 
 

 

• One multi agency joint 

case review has taken 

place 

• Council Commissioning 

have developed a 

streamlined 

safeguarding toolkit 

for adults and 

children. 

• Both Boards adopting 
same format for Board 
Assurance 
Framework, Risk 
Register and 
Challenge Log 

 

• Opportunity to collaborate more effectively 

• Shared learning on process of QA 

• Joint audits on occasion 
using a range of methodology’s to audit cases where 
there might be shared learning 

• Quality audits and information governance 

 

P
age 190



123 

 

 

Theme Opportunity Relevance Progress in 2015/16 Work needed to progress in 2016/17 

Policy and 
Procedures 

• Assure 
guidance for 
adults does not 
bring conflict 
with guidance 
for children 

(&vice versa) 

• Assure guidance 
is consistent 
across both 
Boards and 
service type 

• Assurance and QA 
exercise to be 

undertaken 

• Policy and Procedure 
lists held for both 
LSCB/LSAB by 
Business Support 
Manager 

• LSCB has developed a 
Risk Register in same 
format as LSAB 

• Information Sharing 
Protocols now in place 
for both Boards 
(legislation made it too 
difficult to share a 
protocol) 

• Both have same 
dissemination process 
in place. 

• Development of joint Sexual Exploitation Policy 

• Development of Joint MCA Policy Statement 

• Development of joint FGM policy 

• Consider Joint Consent Policy 

• Develop joint Dispute Resolution Policy for 
LSCB/LSAB 

•  

Training • Actively look for 
opportunities 
for bring 
appropriate 

aspects 

of training 
together (i.e. 
convergence) 

• ‘Think Family’ 
approach 

• Challenge generic 
perceptions of 

safeguarding 

• Both Boards approved 

joint T&WFD sub 

group for 1 year 

• Joint sub group to be 

piloted from April 2016 

• Looking at 

opportunities for 

shared 

learning/training 

• Signs of Concern/ 
vulnerability 

• Information sharing 
 

• MCA/DOLS Coordinator to train Children’s Services 

staff 

• LSCB trainers to support LSAB level 2 training re 

‘Think Family’ 

•  Continue joint training at Level 2 

•  Joint work would help to disseminate info on 
specialist     training.  

•  Look at developing easier routes to specialist training 

•  Use of champions to promote knowledge and 
learning 

•  Engagement with professionals who need to be 
made aware of relevance to their area of work 

• Linking training to relevant services. 

• Joint training on DV and substance misuse 

P
age 191



124 

 

 

 Theme Opportunity Relevance Progress in 2015/16 Work needed to progress in 2016/17 

Exchangin
g 
Information 

• Improved early 
identification of 
risk and referral 

 

 

 

 

 
 

• Joint Planning -
- Annual Joint 
Business 
Development 
Session 

• Joint 

development 
of MASH for 
this 

• Joint working group 
in operation and 
MASH due to 
operate from Sept 

2016 

 Formation of a joint 
FGM task and finish 

group 

 

• Joint Development 
Session in April 
2015 looking at 
opportunities for 
collaboration. 

Joint MASH to go live in September 2016  

IRIS 

CPIS system to be implemented across health services 

Culture change in terms of how agencies share information. 

Perpetrators – information and how we share it 

Feedback from referrals 

Strategy minutes 

 

 

• Next Joint Development Session planned for October 2016 

 
 
Across all themes: 

• Less confusing for the public and professionals if there is more shared work 

• Better use of resources, less duplication 

• Improve knowledge and skills across sub groups of both Boards 

 

P
age 192



125 

125 

 

 

 

 
 

Available on B&NES public website 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-

People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf 

 
 

 

 
 

The LSCB adopted a three year Business Plan from September 2015 to March 2018. This is 
monitored by the Sub Group Chairs prior to the Board and reported on at each Board meeting. 

The latest version is then made available on the public website: 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-
safeguarding-children-board 

 

The Board’s priorities for 2016-17 have been described in Section 13 of this Annual Report. 

Appendix 8: LSCB Business Plan 2015-18 

Appendix 7: LSCB Business Plan outturn 2015 - 16 

Page 193

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 2015 – 2016 

Executive Summary 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2016 

 

 

Page 195



2 
 

1. The Role of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 

B&NES LSCB is a statutory (though independent) Board established under the 

Children Act 2004 (Section 13) and the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Regulations 2006. It is independently chaired and consists of senior representatives 

of all the principle stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young 

people across the area.  

The Terms of Reference for the LSCB are available on the LSCB web page and are 

due for review in 2016-17: 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-

People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf 

As the LSCB for B&NES, we are responsible for coordinating and monitoring the 

work of agencies, especially but not exclusively those providing services to children 

and families, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. In doing so the 

Board:  

• Promotes and supports activities that protect children and young people from 

significant harm and the continuing risk of harm; 

• Works to raise awareness within the wider community, including statutory, 

voluntary and independent agencies, about how everybody can contribute to 

safeguarding children and promoting their welfare. 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business 

2. The Work of the LSCB 

 

The work of the LSCB includes but is not limited to: 

•Taking the lead to ensure that agencies work well together to safeguard children 

and young people. 

•Ensuring that all organisations comply with their duty to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children and young people. 

•Coordinating and delivering multi-agency safeguarding children training. 

•Promoting and publishing multi-agency child protection and safeguarding policies 

and procedures. 

•Commissioning Serious Case Reviews and multi-agency audits so that we learn 

what we need to improve in terms of the work that we carry out with children, young 

people and families. 

•Overseeing multi-agency learning events and conferences so that good practice is 

shared. 

•Playing a key role in ensuring and monitoring that recommendations from 

inspections and reviews about safeguarding children are carried through. 

Page 196

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference_updated_26.11.15.pdf


3 
 

•Working alongside other committees/boards such as the Children’s Trust Board, 

Local Safeguarding Adults Board and the Health & Wellbeing Board to ensure that 

work to safeguard children is co-ordinated. 

 

3. The Sub-Groups of the LSCB 

The LSCB has seven sub-groups as set out below. The Terms of Reference for each 
of the sub-groups are available on the LSCB web page:  

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-
protection/local-safeguarding-children-board 

 

 
 

 Each sub group reports progress on the Board’s Business Plan on a 

quarterly basis and contributes to the Chair’s Agenda Setting meeting. Each 

sub-group has a duty to challenge practice within the partnership where it 

identifies issues of concern. 

 The full Annual Report 2015-16 lists the key achievements, challenges and 

priorities for each sub group in 2016-17. The report is available on the LSCB 

website http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-

families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board 

 The LSCB adopted a three year Business Plan from September 2015 to 

March 2018. This is monitored by the Sub Group Chairs prior to the Board 

and reported on at each Board meeting. 

 The year-end report is available on the public website: 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-
Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-
18_updated_march_16_final.pdf 

LSCB SCR sub group 

CSE and Missing 
sub group 

Communications 
sub group 

Training and 
Workforce 

Development sub 
group Children in Care 

Quality Assurance 
sub group 

Professional 
Practice sub 

group 

Policy, Procedure 
and Performance 

sub group 

Page 197

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-children-board
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/lscb_business_plan_2015-18_updated_march_16_final.pdf


4 
 

 

Page 198



5 
 

LSCB Stakeholder Day 

Due to the continued high profile of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) within the media 
and within our own professional responsibilities and focus on ‘getting it right’, the 
LSCB felt that it was important for this to be the focus of LSCB Stakeholder Event 
which took place in January 2016.   
 
It was attended by 84 delegates representing the following agencies / organisations: 
Health; Social Care; Education; Commissioning; Police and Voluntary Organisations. 
The feedback gained from the day was overwhelmingly good suggesting that it had 
been a challenging but positive event. Delegates shared that they found it very 
useful to have an update on the work that has been undertaken with regard to this 
topic and were invested in supporting further developments taking place over the 
next year.  The responses gained about the individual speakers and performances 
that occurred throughout the day evidenced that the information was well received 
with delegates expressing that they found the presentations very informative, 
knowledgeable and thought provoking.  Although it is of note that several evaluation 
forms stated that it would have been beneficial for additional time to be given to 
some speakers to enable a greater level of learning to have been shared. 
 
The day consisted of speakers and presentations to focus on why and how young 
males can be at risk/prone to violence, CSE knowledge and overview of local 
processes, including: Willow Project, the Police role and Barnardo’s BASE project; 
and a stark theatre dramatisation of how young women are groomed and exploited. 

    Following the use of this short drama piece, NHS England commissioned a further 

six sessions of this production to use within its own training programmes in 2016-17. 

 
4. Outcomes 

 

 Like many other Local Authorities (LAs), in B&NES we have seen a rise in Child 

Protection activity with an increase from 109 children on a CP plan on 31st 

March 2015 to 151 at 31 March 2016. Work is ongoing to scrutinise decision-

making and ensure that plans are effectively actioned and reviewed. It is 

encouraging that there has been a reduction in re-referrals within 12 months of 

the closure of a plan; and that less than 1% of plans have been in place for over 

two years. 

 There has been some reduction in the number of Common Assessment 

Framework (CAFs) – but there is a pragmatic approach to use of alternative 

assessments and data on successful outcomes from CAFs is encouragingly 

positive, with a low rate of conversion to CP referrals. 

 Overall rates of contacts and referrals to children’s social care have remained 

steady. 

 At the end of March 2015 there were 580 Children in Need and 149 Looked 

After. 

 The LSCB has also: 

a) Welcomed both a primary and secondary Head Teacher to the Board 

where they have made a valuable contribution. 

Page 199



6 
 

b) Further strengthened the links between the LSCB and the Local 

Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) through having the same independent 

chair for both Boards and the appointment of a joint Business Manager for 

both Boards. 

c) Undertaken Section 11 themed audits of CSE and of training. 

d) Developed the Board’s risk register and progressed a new web-site which 

will be shared with the LSAB and is due to go live in 2016-17. 

e) Adopted the local Early Help Strategy. 

f) Worked to support the implementation of the multi-agency Willow Project 

working with young people at risk of CSE locally. 

g) Held a development workshop for all partners on FGM and progressed 

joint working with the LSAB. We have also provided a number of training 

sessions on PREVENT in partnership with the Community Safety team 

and the LSAB. 

 

h) Continued to undertake multi-agency audits. The Professional Practice 

sub- group now takes a themed focus and cases are debated by a range 

of   agencies/ professionals. Learning is shared with managers and good 

practice is recognised through letters of appreciation to individuals who 

have contributed to positive outcomes. The Chair of this group is an 

independent consultant from Barnardo’s. 

i) Updated a range of policies, training and guidance in accordance with the 

requirements of Working Together 2015 and developed more robust 

systems for monitoring dissemination of policies and procedures. 

j) Challenged Children’s Social Care services on the categorisation of Child 

Protection Plans – given a high proportion identified as Emotional Abuse 

and very low numbers under Sexual Abuse. Audit work has led to action 

planning and improvements in practice in this area, although it remains 

under scrutiny. 

k) Used a 360 degree feedback system to feed back on the performance of 

the Independent Chair with an annual multi-agency ‘Challenge and 

Review’ Panel.  

l) Endorsed the initiation of a significant safeguarding investigation relating 

to a local primary school, following an unprecedented volume of concerns 

voiced by parents and others. 

 
m) Safeguarding Training - Delivered 83 Interagency safeguarding training 

courses (including 6 one hour WRAP workshops) 
1441 Interagency training placers made available and 1185 filled 
794 Professionals trained 

 
 The LSCB faces a number of current and future Challenges/Areas for  
   Development:   

Page 200



7 
 

a) In accordance with other LSCBs the resourcing and financing of the Board 

remains tight and pressured. All partner agencies experience similar 

pressures on funding, and organisational change creates the potential for 

additional pressures if funding is determined at a national or sub-regional 

level rather than recognising historic local contributions. This will require 

ongoing monitoring and management. 

 

b) Recruitment and retention of social work staff remains a challenge, although 

B&NES generally fares better than many authorities. A range of initiatives 

has been put in place by the service to mitigate this. 

c) We welcome the current Ofsted focus on the quality of LSCBs and their role 

in challenging partner agencies to work more closely when addressing 

Safeguarding issues. However, the uncertainty of timing of an inspection and 

the multiple and evolving inspection frameworks brings an additional 

pressure to the capacity of Board members alongside a full and packed 

agenda. 

d) Ongoing work to develop and implement a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

for children and adults. 

e) Working across boundaries in collaboration with other agencies responding 

to CSE activity and prosecutions/SCRs. 

 

 

5. Engagement with Children & Young People 

Both the Member of the B&NES Youth Parliament (MYP) and the Deputy (DMYP) 

now attend the LSCB Communications sub-group and have been developing the 

young people’s LSCB webpages.  

The Senior In Care Council (SICC) commissioned by B&NES Council and run by 

Off The Record is very proactive. Over the last year their achievements have 

included: 

 Delivering a presentation to the Virtual School celebration evening. 

 Delivering a workshop to the Junior in Care Council (JICC) to inspire and   

support them to transition up to the Senior Group. 

Page 201



8 
 

 Delivering a workshop on what makes a good Social Worker – this led to 

the design of a diagram illustrating ‘What makes a good Social Worker’ 

which is included on B&NES Council’s recruitment page. 

 Developing of a Training Resource pack to support “Young People to take 

part in the recruitment process”. 

 Refreshing the Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy  

 Refreshing the Service User Engagement Framework. 

 Creating of a page about the SICC for the Looked After Children Packs 

which each young person receives when they go into care. 

 Providing questions for interviews and scored the answers for the following 

Posts, Service Manager for Safeguarding Outcomes, Looked-After. 

Children’s Nurse Role, LSCB/LSAB Business Support Manager, Child 

Protection Chair and Independent Reviewing Officer.  

 Having some fun creating a podcast with local radio station Somer Valley 

FM, broadcast in Nov 2015. The podcast covered personal stories and 

busting some ‘myths’ about what it’s like being in care. These were funded 

by Bath Virtual School and Bath Spa University and will be developed for 

use in training for Social Workers, Teachers and other Health and Social 

Care Professionals.  

 

6. Independent Chair’s Closing Summary 

 

As the Independent Chair of the LSCB, I would point out 

the continued priority of the Board’s efforts in support of 

early help and prevention.  The data indicates that the 

support needs of many children and families are met early 

enough to reduce the likelihood of child protection 

arrangements.  Furthermore, there is strong evidence that 

children’s lives have improved because of this early and 

focused work. 

  

I am especially delighted with the response to our recent assessment of the 

effectiveness of safeguarding in schools/college. Every school/college in Bath 

and North East Somerset responded and thus far, our analysis of the data 

provided indicates that they all take safeguarding very seriously and that 

appropriate arrangements are in place.  

   

Public finances continue to be pressured across every agency associated with 

the LSCB. I am mindful of the substantial pressure to reduce contributions 

both financial and in terms of people, to the LSCB by member agencies. I 

wish to record my appreciation of those agencies that have resisted the 

temptation to withdraw resources. It is essential, now more than ever that the 

LSCB continues to monitor and coordinate safeguarding and protection for the 

most vulnerable in our communities. 

Page 202



Promote and support activities that protect children and young people from significant harm and the continuing risk of harm;

Safeguarding is everyone’s business.

Red: Off Target; Amber: On Target; Green: Complete

As the Local Safeguarding Children Board for Bath and North East Somerset we will coordinate and monitor the work of agencies, especially but 

not exclusively those providing services to children and families, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

In doing so the Board will: 

Work to raise awareness within the wider community, including statutory, voluntary and independent agencies, about how everybody can 

contribute to safeguarding children and promoting their welfare.

P
age 203



Business Plan 2015-18

Updated March 2016

•       Physical Abuse

•       Neglect

•       Sexual Abuse

•       Child Sexual Exploitation 

•       Children missing or absent

•       E-Safety

•       Self harm / suicide

•       Emotional well being

•       Disabilities

•       FGM

•       Domestic Abuse

•       Substance misuse 

•       Mental health and link to domestic abuse and substance misuse 

•       Radicalisation (Prevent and Channel)

•       Slavery

•       Harm associated with service provision (eg, mental health bed availability or provider failure)

•       Children affected by parental offending

1.    Robust arrangements which identify and support children and young people at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation

Outcomes

5.    Implementation of Early Help Strategy to identify and support children and young people at risk of harm  

The LSCB will co-ordinate a multi-agency approach to reducing harm to vulnerable Children and Young People. This will particularly focus on 

children and young people associated with the issues of:

2.    Qualitative and quantitative information and intelligence is evident in service improvements

3.    Children’s workforce have a common understanding of issues, evidence based decision making, actions, sharing concerns and evaluations

4.    Development of multi-agency information sharing arrangements to ensure services are provided at the earliest opportunity

Key Priority 1 

P
age 204



Issue Sub group or Lead Actions for 2015-16 Completion Date Progress (RAG)

PPPG Review and update 

existing Policy

End of Nov 15 Update Dec 15: Revised E-Safety Strategy presented to 

LSCB for approval in Dec 15

PPPG NEW Ensure 2015-16 

schools self - assessment 

picks up any e-safety 

issues (ensure feedback 

from pupil parliaments is 

included)

Jun-16 Meeting planned with LSCB Schools rep to design new 

self-assessment in Sept 15

Update March 16: E-safety added to audits which have 

now been returned and sample visits being undertaken 

before final report completed. 

2.     Put in place new 

Prevent and Channel 

responsibilities

Divisonal 

Director/Head of 

Safeguarding & QA

Implement and assure that 

new statutory 

responsibilities are in place

Mar-16 New arrangement have been established and approved 

by LSCB / LSAB and RAG

A task and finish group has been established to look at 

the training needs of the stakeholders in line with the 

Prevent action plan; funding has been secured for a 

trainer to work across B&NES and South Glos

3.     Monitor progress of 

Multi-Agency Safeguarding 

Hub project

MASH Project Board Implement a MASH Sep-16 Update Mar 16:Draft model and project plan in place; 

progress is being made with four task and finish groups 

in place. Next Board meeting is 29th Feb 2016.

1.     Gather assurance on e-

safety arrangements  

P
age 205



Continue to look at the 

data, pursue timeliness 

and review Protocol 

arrangements in 2015-16 

Mar-16 CSE / Missing Data now incorporated into quarterly 

performance report for specialist services

Receive a report from the 

CSE and Missing Sub 

Group on the effectiveness 

of these arrangements

Dec-16 Timeliness of receiving the missing information from the 

Police is an issue and Police are taking action.                       

Update Dec 15: Compass Team now undertaking 

Return Home Interviews (RHI) - review Dec 2016

5.     Deliver CSE action plan 

(ensure Willow Project is 

effectively functioning, 

strengthen links with 

schools and sexual health 

and review and refine 

strategy and protocol)

CSE Group Ensure arrangements 

outlined in the plan are 

effective and understood 

by all staff

Reviewed annually – 

March 2016

Action plan in place and monitored routinely at the sub 

group – new actions added as required

Stakeholder event in Jan 2016 focus on CSE.                   

Update Dec 15: Review of Willow Project undertaken in 

October. Team working effectively - and actions 

identified to ensure further improvements.

6.     Implement and monitor 

effectiveness of mental 

health protocol (CSC and 

AWP specific)

 

NEW incorporate additional 

multi-agency partners into 

the protocol

PPPG Finalise and approve the 

Protocol and disseminate

Nov-15 Update Dec 15: draft shared and approved by PPPG; 

agreed to include more agencies in the document and 

review in 12 months

PPPG NEW Review protocol and 

include additional partners

Dec-16 Not due

PPPG Undertake an audit to 

ensure it is effectively 

audited – add to PPG audit 

plan

2016-17 Not due

4.     Gather assurance on 

the effectiveness of missing 

from home, care and school 

arrangements

PPPG

CSE Group

 

CSE Group

P
age 206



7.     NEW Assurance from 

Children’s commissioner 

and the Emotional Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy 

group (Children and Young 

People) that local 

arrangements are robust 

and meeting local needs

PPPG Update report from the 

lead commissioner on the 

effectiveness (including 

reference on access to 

mental health beds are 

available)

Dec-15 Update Dec 15; Action plan in place and monitored 

routinely by the Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy group 

Report to LSCB in Dec 15

8.     Progress targeted work 

with drug and alcohol 

agencies, mental health and 

domestic abuse services – 

seek assurance that 

effective co-ordinated work 

is in place

PPPG Work with services and 

commissioners to improve 

data – in line with contract 

renewal times

Jun-16 Update March 16: This needs harnessing and will be 

the focus of the next meeting and will report back in 

June 16.

PPPG Monitor data and 

undertake  audit of cases 

where families are affected 

by Toxic Trio

Dec-16 Not due

9.     Progress work with the 

Self Harm and Suicide 

Prevention groups consider 

the best mechanism to 

raise awareness of risks 

with low level ligatures

TWFD Set up process to ensure 

learning and 

recommendations from the 

self harm and suicide 

prevention groups inform 

and are included in LSCB 

multi-agency training

Jun-16 Update March 16: the former chair of the LSCB Training 

and Workforce Development sub group is a member of 

the SH and SP groups and fedback requirements 

however this needs formalising.

P
age 207



10.  Continue to monitor the 

transition of children to adult 

services

PPPG Receive update report from 

commissioning and 

Transitions leads

Dec-15 Update Mar 16: Report presented to the Board for 

update

Contract signed July 

15

Contract with Signis signed; agreement with other LAs in 

regard to the management of the procedures and editing 

of content has been sent for comment; first contract 

review date to be agreed.                                       

First review Dec 15

Refresh in June 16          

Update December 15: Editorial Board has now met and 

agreed priorities for the SWCPP.

Update March 16: new website went 'live' on 5th Feb 

16.

12.  Finalise Early Help 

Strategy

PPPG 

Comms Group

Draft of the EH Strategy to 

come to the LSCB for 

September 2015

Early Help Board will 

continue to meet in 

conjunction with all Early 

Help partners.

Nov-15 Update Dec 15: Early Help Strategy completed in 

November and will be launched in January 2016.

Update March 16: Strategy launched in January.

PPPG Continue to monitor impact 

of Early Help services 

On going Update March 16: Early help is monitored routinely at 

PPPG. Strategy Action plan to be monitored once in 

place.

13.  Implement task and 

finish group to address 

needs of children and young 

people affected by parental 

imprisonment (in line with 

iHop presentation Dec 14)

CAPI The LSCB has received 

information from I-Hop and 

the services that are 

delivered locally to families. 

Jul-16 Update Dec 15: Initial meeting of agencies has now 

taken place.TOR has been agreed and an initial 

mapping exercise has been undertaken. £1000 funding 

agreed.

Update March 16: The i-HOP training is scheduled for 7 

March. A leaflet and poster has been produced, 

providing information for parents, carers and 

grandparents and links are being established with the 

Prison Service.

11.  On-going liaison with 

South West Child 

Protection Procedures and 

arrangements going 

forwards

RB

P
age 208



14.  Gather assurance on 

safeguarding issues for 

children and young people 

with disabilities

PPG Facilitate the audit and 

feedback findings to 

improve practice where 

needed

Mar-16 Update Dec 15: Re-audit planned for spring 2016. 

Undertook an audit back in Jan 2015 – measure of 

reassurance but process hindered the effectiveness of 

this. 

Update March 16: Update timetable following review of 

PPG and other QA processes.

15.  Assurance that the 

above areas are included in 

LSCB multi-agency training

TWFD Review training 

programmes to ensure all 

areas are covered

Dec-15 Update Dec 15:  All areas covered across the different 

courses at awareness and specialist levels - with the 

exception of Slavery, which is currently under 

development

P
age 209



•       Experience of current services 

•       Aspirations for new ones

1.  Agencies learn and demonstrate change in practice from experience of young  people

2.    Children and parents report that they feel more engaged in the Child Protection Process

3.    Children and parents contribute to the development and improvement of services

4.    Children experience good seamless arrangements between services regardless of their different level of need or the risk

5.    Childrens views are clearly articulated in assessments, plans and reviews 

6.    LSCB partners demonstrate reflective feedback from and to Children and Young People and their parents and care

Issue Sub group or Lead Action Completion Date Progress (RAG)

PPPG Request confirmation from 

Vol Sector Network that 

providers have 

disseminated WT2015

Mar-16 WT2015 disseminating with a formal request for 

confirmation being sought.

Update March 16:  Distributed to VSC groups via 

Children and Young People’s Network

Comms Group

TWFD

Sep-15 All training packages has been updated to include 

reference to WT2015 and the child friendly version

LSCB members have discussed in detail changes

1.     Seek assurance that 

new child friendly Working 

Together guidance is 

disseminated

Key Priority 2

To increase the participation and involvement of children, young people and parents/carers in service improvements and developments both:

Outcomes

P
age 210



PPPG Request confirmation from 

the In Care Council (group 

of young people in care) 

that the most vulnerable 

young people have 

received WT2015

Mar-16 Scheduled Children’s Commissioning report to PPPG in 

Feb 16

Update March 16: taken to PPPG

• On B&NES LSCB webpage

• On Participation webpage

• Distributed to members of In Care Council

• Distributed to Designated Safeguarding Leads

• Sent to PSHE lead to consider as possible 

development for  PSHE Safeguarding Lesson

PPPG Request confirmation from 

Board members this has 

been actioned. 

Dec-16 Not due

PPG Audit cases Feb-16 Update Dec 15:Carried out two audits on the 'Voice of 

the Child' over the last 15 months and have noted 

significant improvements; next one diarised for Feb16

Update March 16: PPG audited Voice of the Child in its 

February 2016 meeting, looking at four Child Protection 

Conferences.  PPG was re-assured that there was 

evidence of the children being listened, non verbal 

communication being understood and plans being 

informed by the Voice of the Child

PPPG Childrens Commissioner to 

provide annual assurance 

on uptake of advocacy

Jun-16 Not due

2.     Continue to seek 

assurance from IRO, CP 

chairs, Children Specialist 

Services, Off the Record 

Advocacy Service and other 

agencies that children, 

young people and parents 

are invited and supported to 

participate in meetings – 

seek their views on their 

experience 

P
age 211



PPPG IRO report to ensure 

reference participation 

Jun-16 Not due

PPPG CP Chair report to ensure 

reference participation

Sep-16 Not due

Comms Group Continued liaison with the 

Participation Officer in 

relation to how the views of 

young people are 

represented

Jun-16 Update March 16: Representation of young person on 

Communications sub group

Participation Officer on the group

Comms Group Discussion with all LSCB 

members on the potential 

for involvement of young 

people in their recruitment 

to safeguarding posts

Jun-16 Update March 16: Council Policy outlining methods of 

engagement with young people in the recruitment of 

posts in place. Detailed report on Council engagement 

reported at the Board

NEW

Divsional Director

Mapping Exercise  on 

partners engagement work 

with young people in 

recruitment

Dec-16

PPPG Report from Childrens 

Commissioning on 

activities around 

engagement and 

recruitment

Mar-16 Update March 2016: Report went to PPPG in Feb 16 

and assurance given. For info at March LSCB. Business 

plan updated above.

4.     Commence work with 

the e-teams to develop new 

materials

Comms Group New materials for working 

with young people to be 

disseminated

Dec-16 Update March 16: Materials are curerently being 

developed by members of the CSE group

5.     Development of further 

children and young people 

friendly communication 

strands eg, potential for 

Facebook, Twitter, You 

Tube etc to communicate 

messages

Comms Group Website being relaunched 

and will include facilities to 

have community space 

engagement

Sept 16 Update Dec 15: LSCB have agreed shared website with 

LSAB. Initial meetings scheduled to build and agree 

content.

Update March 16: work ongoing regarding the content 

and format. Hoping for 'go live' in late spring/summer

3.     Continue to engage 

support of young people in 

stakeholder events and in 

recruitment of staff

P
age 212



6. NEW Incorporate 

learning from SHEU - 

how??

Outcome

2.    Audit tool is generic to services operating across region

3.    Improved number and quality of section 11 returns

4.    Continuity of attendance and participation from members attending

5.    Effective challenge between LSCB Board members

Issue Sub group or Lead Action Completion Date Progress (RAG)

1.     Continue to undertake 

multi-agency audits and 

provide feedback 

(specifically review school 

and GP engagement; re 

audit categorisations of 

abuse; CSE cases; joint 

audit with LSAB sub-group 

– specific focus on 

procedure throughout)

PPG Develop a programme of 

themes to review across 

the life of the business plan 

in line with LSCB priorities

Jun-15 2015-16 Audit schedule completed 

Key Priority 3

Strengthening the LSCB’s evaluation and challenge of the effectiveness of individual agency safeguarding arrangements

1.    Safeguarding standards of section 11 are embedded across the workforce effectively and ensure that all Commissioning is using the same 

standards

P
age 213



2.     New Gather the 

learning from joint audits in 

accordance with the 

OFSTED framework

PPG Assess the potential to 

undertake joint audits

Mar-16 Update March 16: process to be agreed once QA 

process review finalised

3.     Ensure Section 11 sub-

regional mini audits for 

2014-15 are completed, 

analysed and responded to 

PPPG Receive reports from mini 

audits

Mar-16 Update Dec 15: CSE audit is being circulated for 

completion having been considered by CSE and Missing 

Sub Group. Training mini audit has been to the LSCB. 

Met with West of England LSCBs to discuss a proposal 

for future audit arrangements. 

Update March 16: CSE audit on the agenda for 

discussion. A group to work together to provide 

individual feedback to each partner.

4. New seek assurance on 

private fostering numbers

PPPG and LSCB 

Chair

Receive update report on 

private fostering numbers

Jun-16 Report received at LSCB and PPPG – issue with private 

fostering numbers being higher than expected to be 

followed up

Update March 16:  New date requested (original date 

was Dec 15)

5.     Ensure that findings 

from lessons learned from 

reviews are reported and 

actions to improve 

effectiveness are addressed 

PPG Provide bi-annual reports 

to the LSCB; feedback to 

individual staff and 

agencies; share findings 

with Training and 

Development Sub group

On going These actions are routinely carried out – notes of 

meetings are recorded; LSCB receives reports

6.     Assurance from SCR 

sub-group that single 

agency action plans from 

SCR have all been 

completed

SCR Group Confirmation required that 

all have been completed

Dec-15 Update Dec 15: All single agency action plans 

completed.

7.     Assurance that Section 

11 action plans for 2014-15 

have been signed off and 

completed

PPPG Ensure via the full section 

11 audit in 2015-16 that all 

previous actions have been 

completed

Sep-16 Update March 16: Full section 11 audit planned for May  

in line with other LAs.

P
age 214



8.     Review effectiveness 

of partners challenge at CP 

Conferences

PPG Identify cases where 

challenge has been made 

at CP Conference and 

audit impact and 

effectiveness of the 

challenge

Jun-16 Not commenced currently

9.     Audit adult care 

commissioned services 

responses where there are 

CP concerns

PPG Conduct audits Jun-16 Not commenced but have identified that the mental 

health protocol will be launched early in the 2016 if not 

before and this audit will look at mental health in the first 

instance when the protocol has bedded in.

Update March 16: part of  themed reviews and QA of 

CP Conferences and have commented on practice of 

adult service agencies.

10. New:Multi-agency audit  

– children absent from 

school

PPPG Conduct Audit Jun-16 Audit proposal approved at Dec LSCB. To feedback at 

March LSCB.

Update March 16: Moved to June agenda

11.  Understand the 

assurance mechanisms 

commissioners have in 

place for safeguarding 

children and young people 

in contracts

PPPG Receive a report from 

CCG, NHS England and 

Council on assurance 

mechanisms

Mar-16 Update March 16: It has been agreed that this is the 

subject of the LSCB Business Development session in 

April; safegaurding toolkit for commissioning and 

contracts developed by B&NES Council

12.  Banes NHS CCG and 

B&NES Council to ensure 

standardised contractual 

requirements are included 

in all contracts

PPPG Evidence of contract 

content on safeguarding 

and safer recruitment 

requirements

Mar-16 Update March 16:  Contractual content has been 

standardised as far as possible taking fully into account 

CCG content as well - ready for roll out in Council 

contracts in April 16. 

P
age 215



1.    Evidence of learning across the partnership collectively and individual agencies from the Learning and Improvement Strategy

3.    Training sub-group ensure LSCB training meets the current and emerging need of the workforce

4.    LSCB is assured that single agency training is appropriate to needs

Issue Sub group or Lead Action Completion Date Progress (RAG)

To ensure all member 

agencies have an 

appropriate understanding 

of the changes 

incorporated within 

WT2015

Discussed at June LSCB

Review dissemination of 

LSCB Key Messages to 

organisations outside of 

LSCB

PPPG New contracts to include 

reference to WT2015

Sep-15 Confirmation from Council Business Support team that 

all new contracts have amended wording; all existing 

contracts contain a clause requiring the provider to be 

aware of all new guidance and work in accordance with 

this

Key Priority 4

Sufficient and competent workforce to ensure Children and Young People are safe

Outcome

1.     Disseminate Working 

Together to Safeguard 

Children 2015 and other 

recent reports / guidance 

documents

Comms Group Jun-15

2.    Staff are trained and developed at appropriate level and knowledge to enable them to be effective in their work to keep children safe

P
age 216



2.     Assurance that 

nationally identified areas of 

abuse are included in all 

staff training eg, modern 

slavery, trafficking, FGM 

and CSE

TWFD Review current training and 

ensure these areas are 

included in LSCB multi-

agency training; where not 

covered develop 

programme accordingly

Sep-15 Update Dec 15:  Link to FGM Home Office E-Learning 

package on LSCB website.  Comprehensive package of 

CSE training in place.   Looking to develop training  with 

LSAB regarding modern slavery and trafficking 

Update March 16: Discussion scheduled for 1st March 

to look at modern slavery and honour based violence

3.     Develop electronic 

training booking record 

management system to 

improve quality of 

information to provide 

assurance of multi-agency 

training

TWFD Review booking system 

and develop plan to 

address issues

Dec-15 Update Dec 15: Electronic booking system in place and 

storage of delegate information

4.     Assure that schools 

are complying with 

minimum safeguarding 

training requirements 

issued in Mar 2015

PPPG Review school self-

assessment to ensure this 

areas is addressed to 

enable assurance to be 

provided

Mar-16 Update Dec 15: Revised school audit is in place, 

requires final amendments and circulation.

Update March 16: training incorporated in audit which is 

now returned and sample visits taking place prior to 

completing full report

Develop a quality 

framework for single 

agency training

Mar-16 The learning outcomes for single agency training are 

included in the LSCB Training Strategy

Develop ‘train the trainer’ 

training 

Mar-16 Update March 16: train the trainer course planned in 

Sept 16

Support Peer Audit for 

single agency training

Dec-16

5.     Ensure single agency 

training is an appropriate 

standard

TWFD

P
age 217



6.     Assurance that Prevent 

training is available to all 

agencies

Prevent Board Establish a Prevent training 

task and finish group and 

implement training plan

Mar-16 Update Dec 15: Prevent training sub group convened, 

matrix and prioritisation of agencies to be trained. 

Training resource identified. Series of training events 

held; WRAP awareness training to schools DSLs taking 

place in Nov and Dec; Train the Trainer WRAP session 

set for Dec 7th being shared with South Glos.

Update March 16: WRAP sessions are well established 

and 2 more due for all staff in March.

7. NEW Assurance that new 

LSCB E-Safety Strategy is 

incorporated in Multi agency 

training and all training in 

schools

TWFD Review training to ensure 

that reference is made to 

new policy to support 

objective 1.1 above

Jun-16 Update Dec 15: added to business plan due to 

challenge from CTB to LSCB. T&WFD and training team 

are aware of addition.

Update March 16: Planning for Esafety Strategy to be 

incorporated into future training.

8.     Confirm collaborative 

arrangements with LSAB 

Training and Development 

sub group to enable an 

effective and efficient 

response to learning by 

agreeing joint training 

where appropriate

TWFD Set up meeting with LSAB 

Training and Development 

representatives to review 

existing training 

programmes 

Oct-15 Update Dec 15: Meeting booked for 15th December 

Update Jan 16 : Follow up meeting planned for March 

2016.  LSCB/LSAB to pilot joint training sub group from 

May, proposal going to both Boards in March (1st for 

(LSCB). 

TWFD Develop opportunities to 

join courses

Mar-16 Update Dec 15:  - looking at Slavery, Trafficking and 

FGM.

Update March 16: Meeting booked in March to develop 

further.

P
age 218



Continuous improvement of LSCB

1.    LSCB is graded as at least ‘good’ against Ofsted/CQC expectations

2.    LSCB has a high profile and is seen as effective in both quality assurance and driving improvement in safeguarding 

3.    Clear, complementary role and relationship with other strategic boards that increases effectiveness and efficacy

4.    Formalised joint working arrangements with the LSAB

Issue Sub group or Lead Action Completion Date Progress (RAG)

1.     Review LSCB and sub-

group Terms of Reference – 

seize opportunity for joint 

working with LSAB sub-

groups

All sub groups and 

LSCB

All revised Terms of 

Reference to be shared 

with LSCB – ensure LSAB 

arrangements have been 

considered

Sep-16 Update Dec 15: All sub groups have revised and PPG to 

revise in Jan 16

New standardised format devised November 2015

Update March 16: PPG to be updated once review of 

group takes place. LSCB can then be reviewed re any 

changes.

NEW

LSCB induction to be 

reviwed in line with LSCB 

TOR 

Business Support 

Manager

Revised Induction pack to 

be resent to all members to 

sign up to the member 

agreement

Dec-16

2.     Assess effectiveness 

of Thematic Reviews 

LSCB Questionnaire to be 

completed and analysis 

shared with LSCB 

Sep-15 Update Dec 15: Agreed to continue with themed reviews 

and set the next three themes; questionnaires returned 

from a number of agencies.

Key Priority 5

Outcome  

P
age 219



PPPG Overview report on good 

LSCB inspection reports

Jun-16 Update Dec 15: Scheduled for reporting amended time 

scale

Update March 16: Ofsted inspection outcomes are 

routinely reported across the Council, however a more 

systematic approach to sharing and learning from these 

is required. 

Ofsted Inspection 

Preparation Officer 

LSCB Business 

Support  Manager

RAG rate LSCB against 

Ofsted grade descriptors

Dec-15  Update Dec 15: report to be discussed with the Board - 

have moved the timescale for this and the item above as 

needed to assess ourselves and then look at others.

4.     Develop new LSCB 

website and consider 

opportunity to link with 

LSAB 

Comms Group In conjunction with the 

LSAB we will develop a 

shared website and also 

allow for separate content 

relating to Children and 

Adults

Jun-16 Demonstration of website capability scheduled for 

August 2015

Update March 16: joint website to go live, date 

anticipated in the summer

5.     Develop systematic 

method for reviewing, 

disseminating and 

monitoring implementation 

of multi-agency policy and 

procedures (initial priority to 

review against FGM, 

Working Together 2015)

PPPG Develop and pilot method Mar-16 Developing method with FGM at LSCB Business 

Development session in Oct 15

Update March 16: All policies are now sent out to all 

LSCB members and dissimenation confirmation lists are 

maintained but responses are often poor. Agreed at 

LSCB that new policies will be sent on a monthly basis 

to aid this.

3.     Analyse feedback from 

other LSCB Ofsted 

inspection reports to identify 

areas for improvement for 

the LSCB

P
age 220



6.     Review Information 

Sharing Guidance

PPPG Work with SW LSCBs to 

review guidance document

Mar-16 Update March 16: New policy approved by PPPG and 

on the March LSCB agenda for information. Minor 

amendments were made and sent to LSCB members by 

email for consultation before finalising the policy now on 

LSCB website.

7.     Clarify arrangements 

for identifying and writing 

new policy, protocols, 

materials etc 

LSCB Business 

Support  Manager

Set out arrangements for 

LSCB

Dec-15 Update Dec 15: Prepared a list of all policies and 

procedures and is being discussed at next PPPG 

meeting. Front sheet for policies now in place.

Update March 16: New process agreed at PPPG in 

February for the writing and reviweing of all policies and 

protocols.

8.     Secure and induct lay 

members, schools and 

housing representatives to 

LSCB and sub-groups

LSCB Chair Lay members joining LSCB in Sept 15 induction meeting 

scheduled

Induction for Curo member scheduled.

Comms Group Produce information Reviewed and developed a suite of information leaflets 

which have been distributed

Article in the Connect magazine which goes to every 

household in the LA

PPPG Review information from 

schools audit and correlate 

with Council data

Jun-16 Update Dec 15: this is in hand but not complete - revise 

date to Mar 16 - LSCB confirmed agreement

Update March 16: date revised again to June 16

PPPG Continue to monitor the 

number of private fostering 

arrangements

On going

10.  Review Chair’s 

performance

Strategic Director

Council Chief 

Executive

Implement Chair Review 

Panel with 360 feedback

Dec-15 Update Dec 15: questionnaires completed by LSCB 

members, Chairs appraisal scheduled in Dec 15 Update 

Mar 16: This took place in Feb 16

11.  Review activity data in 

order to provide assurance 

that children are 

safeguarded 

PPPG Take a closer look at the 

age of Looked After 

children in comparison to 

other areas to understand 

if B&NES is an outlier and 

if so why

01/06/2016 Update March 16: New date agreed

9.     Gather assurance on 

Private Fostering 

arrangements

P
age 221



PPPG Generate data on 

children’s ethnicity, 

disability  and gender for 

those on CP plans and 

Looked After for next years 

report

Jun-16 Not due

PPPG Triangulate serious sexual 

offences data with Avon 

and Somerset 

Constabulary

Mar-16 Update Dec 15: Initial update provided at PPPG in Aug 

15. 

Follow up verbal report provided in Nov 15; 18 months 

cases were considered, new system to be implement for 

monthly check on the data between the Police and CSC. 

Update March 16: work required to progress 

triangulation of information on child perpetrators of SSOs

12.  Develop stronger links 

with other Boards

LSCB Chair Attend other Boards as 

appropriate (RAG, 

H&WBB, CTB etc)

Mar-16 LSCB chair is also chair of the LSAB

Meets bi annually with the PCC

13.  Review safeguarding 

performance report 

ensuring new data is added 

as required

PPPG Review the design of the 

report to pull out ‘so what’ 

qualitative information 

where possible

On going Update March 16: At the last meeting data was 

provided by different Council teams to help enhance 

what is being considered, this included data on other 

providers

P
age 222



1
Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE:MEETING/

DECISION 
DATE: 

13th September 2016

TITLE: Update on “Adoption West”

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report:
N/A

1. THE ISSUE

1.1. This paper seeks to update the Children and Young People Panel on the 
progress in developing a Regional Adoption Agency in accordance with 
government requirements. 

1.2. The development of Regional Adoption Agency proposals is part of the 
national regionalising adoption agenda as set out in the government 
document ‘Regionalising Adoption’ (July 2015), and further developed in 
‘Adoption; A Vision for Change’ (March 2016). Proposals are also informed 
by the Education and Adoption Act 2016.  

1.3. This proposal involves formal collaboration with a number of local authorities 
to establish a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) in line with Government 
requirements.  The local authorities involved are:
Bath and North East Somerset Council
City of Bristol Council
Gloucestershire County Council
North Somerset Council
South Gloucestershire Council
Wiltshire Council

Page 223

Agenda Item 13



2
Printed on recycled paper

2. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

2.1. A report that detailed the progress of the project and the implications for 
the Council was presented to Cabinet on 13th July 2016. Cabinet noted the 
progress and agreed for a further update in the Autumn.

2.2. A full business case detailing projected costs and setting out funding 
arrangements will form part of the next stage of the process and as stated 
above will be reported back to Cabinet in Autumn 2016 (as it will for the 
other five local authorities).

2.3. The proposal is to establish a local authority trading company which as 
such will be controlled by each of the participating local authorities which 
will form the membership (shareholders) of the company.  Each local 
authority has a fiduciary duty to look after the funds entrusted to it and to 
ensure that the taxpayer's money is spent appropriately. For that reason, a 
local authority must carefully consider any trading venture that it embarks 
on. The 2009 Trading Order England requires the local authority to prepare 
a business case. A business plan was included in the reports that were 
reviewed by Cabinet and which will receive further scrutiny in the Autumn. 

2.4. The plans for Adoption West RAA will not increase costs and will seek to 
deliver efficiencies.

2.5. For the purposes of the applicable VAT legislation, the RAA will be providing 
"welfare services". This would bring the RAA within a VAT exemption. The 
consequences of the VAT exemption are twofold:
 The RAA will not be required to charge VAT to the participating 

authorities in respect of the welfare services it provides. 
 Since it will be making exempt supplies, the RAA may not be able to 

recover the VAT it incurs in procuring support services from third parties, 
such as finance, human resources advice and ICT. As such the potential 
costs of these services to the RAA should be factored into the full 
business case as part of the final decision making process.

2.6. It is also anticipated that appropriate current employees of the local 
authorities will transfer to the new agency under the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) Regulations 2006 to the 
RAA as responsibility for the delivery of all aspects of the Adoption 
Services are transferred. A due diligence review of the Terms and 
Conditions which currently apply to employees is underway.

3. STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

3.1 This proposal addresses the duties placed upon the Council under the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 as amended by the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016.

3.2 The Education and Adoption Act 2016 amends the 2002 Act to include:

Page 224



3
Printed on recycled paper

3.2.1 The Secretary of State may give directions requiring one or more 
local authorities in England to make arrangements for all or any of 
their functions within subsection (3) to be carried out on their behalf 
by—

(a) one of those authorities, or
(b) one or more other adoption agencies.

3.2.2 A direction under subsection (1) may, in particular—
(a) specify who is to carry out the functions, or
(b) require the local authority or authorities to determine who is to 

carry out the functions.

3.2.3 The functions mentioned in subsection (1) are functions in relation to—
(a) the recruitment of persons as prospective adopters;
(b) the assessment of prospective adopters’ suitability to adopt a 

child;
(c) the approval of prospective adopters as suitable to adopt a 

child;
(d) decisions as to whether a particular child should be placed for 

adoption with a particular prospective adopter;
(e) the provision of adoption support services.

3.3 The legislation also reserves the right of the Secretary of State to require 
local authorities to terminate or change any relevant arrangements made 
in relation to adoption and to amend any regulations pertaining to adoption 
functions and services.

4. THE REPORT

4.1 The Adoption West project has developed from a steering group that 
formed in July 2013 to consider the possibility of more collaborative 
working to improve adoption and permanence service delivery across 
potentially eight local authorities (Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol, 
Gloucestershire, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire). 
Somerset and Swindon have subsequently joined other regional agencies. 
Initial work was undertaken by commissioning leads from Gloucestershire 
and Wiltshire before engaging the Institute of Public Care (IPC) to 
complete more detailed work. IPC presented a commissioning plan to the 
Directors of Children’s Services for the Adoption West area and on the 
18th July 2014 it was agreed that work should be undertaken to move 
towards a collaborative model of providing adoption services. Work began 
in April 2015 on activity to concentrate on and jointly commission a number 
of adoption service functions regionally.

4.2 Following the general election in May 2015 the context within which the 
Adoption West project was operating changed with the publication of 
‘Regionalising Adoption’ (July 2015). In which, the government set out their 
proposals to move to Regional Adoption Agencies by the end of the 
Parliament in 2020 and invited expressions of interest from local 
partnerships. The paper included an emphasis on getting 

Page 225



4
Printed on recycled paper

adoption/permanence right for harder to place children whilst ensuring 
adoption support is available and accessible to these adoptive families and 
set out three key aims: 
 To speed up matching and improve the life chances of neglected children
 To improve adopter recruitment and adoption support
 To reduce costs

It is also clear that DfE expect to see Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA’s) / 
Adoption Support Agencies (ASA’s) actively included in whichever delivery 
model is finally agreed and implemented and are ‘particularly keen to 
consider models that have an element of cross-sector collaboration’.

4.3 Following market testing, an engagement event with voluntary sector 
providers and expressions of interest, it was agreed that 6 VAA / ASAs 
would be contributors to the design and development of Adoption West. 
The Voluntary Adoption Agencies and Adoptions Support Agencies 
involved in Adoption West include:
 Action for Children
 Adoption UK
 After Adoption
 The Adoption West expression of interest was submitted in September 

2015 and DfE agreed funding to begin in November 2015. Funding was 
agreed for resources to support the project including project 
management, professional leadership and independent specialist legal, 
financial and technical advice. Support and challenge to the project is 
also provided through an allocated coach offering guidance and acting 
as a link with the DfE. The project is required to provide progress 
reports to the DfE on milestone delivery and spending, subsequent 
phases of funding are contingent upon meeting DfE reporting and 
project gateway requirements.

 The participating authorities will enter into a members or shareholders 
agreement. Any members’ agreement will set out clearly what the 
purpose of the collaboration is and will clearly assign roles and 
responsibilities to each of the participating authorities. It will also deal 
with governance and issues such as dispute resolution. Adoption is 
regulated by statutory provisions and administered through the courts in 
line with these principles. Adoption services are administered through 
agencies approved by the secretary of state and are subject to inspection 
by OFSTED. Proposals will consider the potential impact of the 
inspection requirements, acknowledging that DfE and OFSTED are 
working together to agree the best approach for new delivery models. 
The Adoption Leadership Board and Regional Adoption Boards provide 
leadership to the adoption system, improve its performance and tackle 
the key challenges it currently faces by supporting the collection, analysis 
and dissemination of timely performance data and the sharing of best 
practice.

Page 226



5
Printed on recycled paper

5. SUMMARY

5.1. This proposal meets the requirements placed upon the Council to develop 
a new form of service to deliver our statutory adoption functions.  The 
preferred model secures best outcomes for children, prospective adoptive 
families and enables the Council to ensure that its excellent record and 
reputation in relation to adoption is secured into the future.

5.2. Staff have been supported throughout the process via engagement events 
in November 2015, and March 2016, with a further event scheduled for 
October 2016. In conjunction with these events our HR remain fully briefed 
and there is ongoing communication with service managers and the project 
team through operational team meetings. Trade Unions have been 
informed of outline proposals and arrangements are in place for ongoing 
consultation as proposals are developed further. The adopter voice is 
provided through adopter champion representation within the governance 
structures and plans are in place for more structured involvement of 
service users, including the voice of the child. 

     

Contact person Richard Baldwin, Divisional Director, Children and Young 
People Specialist and Targeted Division, 01225 396289, 
Richard_baldwin@bathnes.gov.uk 

Background papers None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report 
in an alternative format

Page 227

mailto:Richard_baldwin@bathnes.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1
Printed on recycled paper

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE:MEETING/

DECISION 
DATE: 

13th September 2016

TITLE: Update on Un-Accompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC)

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report:
N/A

1. THE ISSUE

1.1. This paper seeks to update the Scrutiny Panel on the Council’s response to the 
government’s request that all Local Authorities participate in the new national 
dispersal system for un-accompanied asylum seeking children. The dispersal of 
these young people will be through a regional model. In the South West, SW 
Councils have agreed to assist in facilitating this process. The government has 
calculated the number of UASC to be placed within each Local Authority over the 
next two years using the 0-19 population figure against a projection of current 
UASC’s. Bath and North-East Somerset will be expected to take a total of 23 
young people.  

1.2. An Unaccompanied Asylum seeking child is a person, who at the time of making 
the asylum application is; (a) Under the age of 18 years, or in the absence of 
documentary evidence appears to be under the age of 18. (b) Is applying for 
asylum in his or her own right (c) Has no relative or guardian to turn to in this 
country.  

2. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

2.1. The costs of placing un-accompanied Asylum seeking children will be covered by 
the government, according to the following rates; (a) for young people under 16 
years of age the government will cover accommodation/support costs up to 
£41,000 per year per young person. (b) for young people 16/17 yrs the 
government will cover accommodation/support costs up to £31,000. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 14



2
Printed on recycled paper

3. STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL

3.1. All UASC’s placed through this scheme will been deemed as children in care on 
account of their vulnerability and because they do not have anyone with parental 
responsibility with them. 

3.2. Current guidance indicates that at the point that the young person reaches the 
age of 18 they will be expected to be returned to their country of origin, unless 
they choose to claim political asylum as an adult.  

3.3. An Equality Impact Assessment has not been specifically undertaken in relation 
to this issue, but consideration has been given to the public sector equality duty. 
The relevant protected characteristics for these purposes are age, race and 
religion or belief. The purpose of our co-operation in this scheme is to ensure 
that unaccompanied asylum seeking children receive help and support that is 
designed to protect them from potential discrimination, harassment or 
victimization. By offering support in this manner, equality of opportunity is 
enhanced for those children.

4. THE REPORT

4.1. For a number of years the vast amount of un-accompanied young people  entering 
the UK  have done so through the port of Dover, which has meant that Children’s 
Services in Kent have been required to accommodate them and take responsibility 
for placing them in foster care. These young people have usually arrived in this 
country by illegally stowing away in the back of a lorry or by coming through the 
Channel tunnel. For some time Kent have been lobbying the government to say 
that their resources and ability to meaningfully manage this growing group of 
vulnerable young people has been at breaking point. Last summer the Director of 
Kent wrote to all Local Authorities requesting that they volunteer to take a number 
of UASC each to relive the pressure on services in Kent. As a result of this plea 
BaNES agreed to take three UASC from Kent. These young people were placed 
quickly and continue to do well.

4.2. However, this voluntary system did not produce a uniform or sufficient response to 
alleviate the growing pressures faced by Kent (and to a slightly lesser extent 
Croydon and Northamptonshire). Therefore in May this year the government 
notified all Local Authorities that it would be introducing a compulsory National 
Dispersal System for UASC’s. This system began at the start of July.

4.3. To date we have taken 5 young people through the scheme in addition to the three 
existing UASC’s that we took from Kent last year. 

4.4. These young people will have the status of ‘Looked After’ children and will require 
foster placements or supported lodgings placements.

4.5. The national dispersal system commenced in July.  It will be done regionally, with 
each LA taking a small number of UASC on a rota system.

4.6. BaNES was asked by South West Councils to lead on the setting up the rota 
system for agreeing the dispersal of young people across the whole of the South 
West. As a region we will taking just over 700 young people over the next two 

Page 230



3
Printed on recycled paper

years. A memorandum of understanding has now been agreed between the 13 
Local Authorities across the South West, with each Local Authority on a rota to 
take young people in groups of between three and five. It was also agreed that 
those Local Authorities that either previously did not have  any UASC’s or very few 
UASC’s would be at the top of the rota, whilst those that already had significant 
numbers of UASC would be further down the list. 

4.7. The guidance we have received from the Home Office, which is based on the 
profile of young people that have been supported by Kent CC and the London 
Borough of Croydon is that the majority of UASC are from Eritrea, Ethiopia or 
Albania. In addition over 90% are males aged between 16-18 years.

4.8. At present each of the five recently placed young people have been 
accommodated with agency foster-carers in South Wales due to a lack of suitable 
and immediately available carers. BaNES was also asked by South West Councils 
to lead the  discussion with the regional independent foster-carer agencies to 
agree a fee for the placement of UASC across the South West. We now have 
agreement that these agencies will not charge above the rates stipulated by the 
government, which means that there should be no direct or immediate cost to the 
Local Authority in the placement of UASC. However we will need to closely 
monitor any indirect costs for the placement of these young people at some 
distance. 

4.9. The recent guidance sent out by the Home Office in relation to the setting up of the 
National Dispersal system does include provision to include the “Dubs” children 
within this remit. This second group are those children currently living in refugee 
camps in both Europe and other countries, and who are particularly vulnerable by 
virtue of the fact that they do not have an adult to provide them with the protection 
that they need and deserve. The government has committed to re-settle up to 
3,000 of these children, some of whom will arrive with family, but many will un-
accompanied an d therefore will be part of this programme. At present very few of 
these “Dubs” children have come to this country, but once this group of children do 
begin to moved out of the refugee camps and into the UK we would expect to 
receive a number of these within the quota of 23 that the government has 
identified for BaNES.  

     
5. SUMMARY

5.1. This report outlines the current position in relation to BaNES participation in the 
National Dispersal scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking children and 
sets out the number of young people the government wishes us to take over the 
next two years. It will important that we ensure that this vulnerable group of 
young people receive a service that is every bit as comparable to that provided 
for other young people in our care.    

      

Contact person Richard Baldwin; 01225 396289

Background papers Children Act 1989

Page 231



4
Printed on recycled paper

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

Page 232



CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

This Forward Plan lists all the items coming to the Panel over the next few months.

Inevitably, some of the published information may change; Government guidance recognises that the plan is a best 

assessment, at the time of publication, of anticipated decision making.  The online Forward Plan is updated regularly and 

can be seen on the Council’s website at:

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

The Forward Plan demonstrates the Council’s commitment to openness and participation in decision making.  It assists the 

Panel in planning their input to policy formulation and development, and in reviewing the work of the Cabinet.

Should you wish to make representations, please contact the report author or Mark Durnford, Democratic Services (01225 

394458).  A formal agenda will be issued 5 clear working days before the meeting.  

Agenda papers can be inspected on the Council’s website and at the Guildhall (Bath), Hollies (Midsomer Norton), Civic 

Centre (Keynsham) and at Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

P
age 233

A
genda Item

 16

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1


2

P
age 234



1

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact Strategic Director Lead

13TH SEPTEMBER 2016
13 Sep 2016 CYP PDS

Youth Work Development

Sam Plummer, 
Sally Churchyard, 

Tracey Pike
Tel: 01225 395032, 
Tel: 01225 395442, 
Tel: 01225 396988

Strategic Director - 
People

13 Sep 2016 CYP PDS
Future Options for the Local Education System Mike Bowden

Tel: 01225 395610

Strategic Director - 
People

13 Sep 2016 CYP PDS
Independent Reviewing Officer's Annual Report Jackie Deas

Tel: 01225 396959

Strategic Director - 
People

13 Sep 2016 CYP PDS
Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report Lesley Hutchinson

Tel: 01225 396339

Strategic Director - 
People

13 Sep 2016

E2859

CYP PDS
Future Provision of Adoption Services Richard Baldwin

Tel: 01225 396289

Strategic Director - 
People

13 Sep 2016 CYP PDS
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Richard Baldwin

Tel: 01225 396289

Strategic Director - 
People

15TH NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 235



2

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact
Strategic Director 

Lead
15 Nov 2016 CYP PDS

Senior In Care Council Richard Baldwin
Tel: 01225 396289

Strategic Director - 
People

15 Nov 2016 CYP PDS
Local Education Results Margaret Simmons-

Bird
Tel: 01225 394240

Strategic Director - 
People

17TH JANUARY 2017
14TH MARCH 2017
ITEMS YET TO BE SCHEDULED

The Forward Plan is administered by DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:  Mark Durnford 01225 394458  Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.ukP
age 236


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES - 12th July 2016
	10 Future Options for the Local Education System
	Appdx1

	11 Independent Reviewing Officer's Annual Report
	12 Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report
	Appdx1
	Appdx2
	Appdx3

	13 Future Provision of Adoption Services
	14 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
	16 Panel Workplan

